
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 27 November 2018

Council
Wednesday 5 December 2018, 7.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor John Crouch (Chair) Councillor Neil Schofield (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Peter Bales
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor John Colhoun Councillor John Cook
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Len Davies
Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Mark Fryer
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Konrad Hansen
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Vaughan Hodgson
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Angela Kendall Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Tony Lywood
Councillor Patricia Macdonald Councillor Louise Maguire
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Eric Nicholson
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Martin Pugmire
Councillor Denis Robertson Councillor Joe Sandwith
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Christine Smith
Councillor Stephen Stoddart Councillor Celia Tibble
Councillor Philip Tibble Councillor David Wilson
Councillor Janice Wood Councillor Martin Wood

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Page 1



Agenda
1. Minute silence  

To observe a minute’s silence for former Councillor Duncan Fairbairn and 
Honorary Alderman of the Borough Jack Fryer.

2. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 12)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held on 19 
September 2018.

3. Apologies for Absence  

4. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

5. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded.

6. Questions and Petitions  
To answer questions under Procedural Rule No. 4.16 from members of the 
public and from Councillors under Procedural Rule No. 4.17.2 and to receive 
Petitions under Access to Information Rules.

7. Notices of Motion  
Councillor T Lywood submitted the following motion – 

‘This council views with concern the recent statement by Toshiba that their board 
has resolved to withdraw from the nuclear power plant construction at Moorside.
Council considers that due to the level of commercial risk involved in projects of 
this nature that the build at Moorside is unlikely to proceed without government 
support.
Council therefore calls on this government to financially support the future of 
Moorside with its attendant jobs and importance to the infrastructure of Cumbria 
and the country as a whole.’

8. Councillor Speeches  
To hear speeches (not exceeding 5 minutes each), for up to a specified period of 
15 minutes, from individual members on a local issue in the Member’s Ward, of 
which 24 hours’ notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

9. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  (Pages 
13 - 16)

10. Portfolio Holder Reports  (Pages 17 - 32)

11. Executive Minutes  (Pages 33 - 42)
To note the contents of the minutes of the meetings of the Executive held on 3 
September and 17 October 2018.

Page 2



 

12. Reference from Executive 21 November 2018 - Quarter 2 Finance Report 
and Revised Budget 2018/19  (Pages 43 - 84)

13. Reference from Audit Committee 26 November 2018 - Treasury 
Management Operations - Mid-year review 2018/19  (Pages 85 - 112)

14. Reference from Licensing Committee 3 October 2018 - Statement of 
Gambling Licensing Policy  (Pages 113 - 204)

15. Community Governance Review - Workington  (Pages 205 - 232)

16. Community Governance Reviews - Parishes  (Pages 233 - 252)

17. Changes to Officer Scheme of Delegations  (Pages 253 - 264)

18. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 265 - 268)

Deputy Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 30 January 2019, 7.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



At a meeting of the Council held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington on 
Wednesday 19 September 2018 at 7.00 pm

Members

Councillor John Crouch (Chair) Councillor Neil Schofield (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Peter Bales
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Colhoun
Councillor John Cook Councillor Len Davies
Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald
Councillor Mark Fryer Councillor Konrad Hansen
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Vaughan Hodgson
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Angela Kendall Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Tony Lywood
Councillor Patricia Macdonald Councillor Anthony Markley
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Billy Miskelly
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Martin Pugmire
Councillor Denis Robertson Councillor Joe Sandwith
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Christine Smith
Councillor Stephen Stoddart Councillor Celia Tibble
Councillor Philip Tibble Councillor Lee Williamson
Councillor Janice Wood Councillor Martin Wood

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Barbara Cannon, Councillor 
Joseph Cowell, Councillor Duncan Fairbairn, Councillor Bill Finlay, Councillor Malcolm 
Grainger, Councillor Louise Maguire, Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey, Councillor Ron 
Munby MBE, Councillor Eric Nicholson and Councillor David Wilson

Staff Present

B Carlin, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, P Knight, J Lord, 
C Nicholson, G Roach, A Seekings, S Sewell, E Thompson, G Wilson and P Young

173. Minutes 

Councillor S Stoddart requested an amendment to the minutes to include a 
question he had asked Councillor M Heaslip under his Portfolio Holder report 
regarding access to Salterbeck Cemetery. This was seconded by D Robertson.

A vote was taken, 44 in favour, 0 against and 2 abstentions. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 25 July 2018 were signed as a 
correct record subject to the agreed amendment.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



174. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

175. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

There were no items on the agenda for which the press and public should be 
excluded.

176. Questions and Petitions 

Councillor S Stoddart submitted the following question to Councillor A Smith – 

‘Why are Allerdale Borough Council endorsing building a new police station 2 
miles out of Workington?’ 

Councillor A Smith responded that any decisions relating to the relocation of the 
police station in Workington were a matter for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. Any decisions made by this Council in relation to the disposal of 
land at Lillyhall, or indeed elsewhere, were made on a commercial basis and in 
accordance with the Council’s Disposals and Acquisitions Policy with the aim of 
supporting economic regeneration and generating income for the Council.

177. Notices of Motion 

1. Councillor A Davis-Johnston moved the following:

‘Allerdale Borough Council resolves to follow the example of the UK 
Government, the Crown Prosecution Service, over 130 local authorities and 
over 30 other countries, by adopting in full, and without qualification or 
reservation, the International Holocaust Remembrance Association definition of 
antisemitism, as follows, and the eleven examples.

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 
hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are 
directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward 
Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.

Contemporary examples of antisemitism in public life, the media, schools, the 
workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into account the overall 
context, include, but are not limited to:

• Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the name 
of a radical ideology or an extremist view of religion.

• Making mendacious, dehumanising, demonising, or stereotypical 
allegations about Jews as such or the power of Jews as collective - 
such as, especially but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish 
conspiracy or of Jews controlling the media, economy, government or 
other societal institutions.

Page 6



• Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined 
wrongdoing committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for 
acts committed by non-Jews.

• Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or 
intentionality of the genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of 
National Socialist Germany and its supporters and accomplices during 
World War II (the Holocaust).

• Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or 
exaggerating the Holocaust.

• Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged 
priorities of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations.

• Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by 
claiming that the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavour.

• Applying double standards by requiring of it a behaviour not expected or 
demanded of any other democratic nation.

• Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism (e.g., 
claims of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterise Israel or 
Israelis.

• Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis.
• Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel.”

Councillor A Smith said it was a very important subject and he was happy to 
second the motion.

Councillor K Hansen said he fully endorsed the International Holocaust 
Remembrance Association’s definition of anti-Semitism, a position not based on 
his politics as much as on his own moral compass. 
He said we live in a world where we have the opportunity to learn about and 
appreciate different cultures and religions however, we also live in a world 
where it is easier than ever for those who want to divide society to do so.
 
He continued to Council, lets ratify this today not only with our stance against 
antisemitism but also in everything we do as councillors. Let’s always have in 
mind the premise ‘treat others as you’d like to be treated’ when dealing with 
each other as politicians, when dealing with those who depend upon us to look 
after their communities.

Councillor A Davis-Johnston exercised his right of reply.

A vote was taken on the motion – the vote in favour was unanimous. The 
motion was carried.

2. Councillor T Lywood moved the following:

‘Allerdale Borough Council fully supports the public ownership of railway 
companies, including our own Northern which operates on the Cumbrian Coast 
rail line.’

Councillor J Osborn seconded the motion.

Page 7



Councillor T Annison said it had been a huge complex problem for over 100 
years. He said he would support a motion which put a dual track in Cumbria but 
could not support this motion for privatisation.

Councillor M Jenkinson said the problem was having a series of small 
monopolies but having one larger monopoly in his opinion was not the answer.

Councillor A Pitcher said nothing would change until a lot of money was put in 
to it which the country could not afford to do. He said tighter more realistic 
controls were required and commented that the Government should not be 
running the train industry.

Councillor A Smith said that the rail lines in Cumbria were much worse than 
those nationally, that West Cumbria was in danger of losing its line in bad 
weather, and that the County needed sorting out quickly.

Councillor J Osborn said there had been no proper investment in Northern for a 
long time and the trains were all old stock.

Councillor T Markley moved an amendment to the motion to read;
‘Allerdale Borough Council fully supports better and improved ownership of 
railway companies, including our own Northern which operates on the Cumbrian 
Coast rail line.’

This was seconded by Councillor M Jenkinson.

Councillor T Lywood said that privatisation had been a failure, and the only way 
to get any improvement was through a proper integrated Government structure.

Councillor A Davis-Johnston said that trains required investment and you can’t 
have one size fits all.

Councillor T Annison said the suggested amendment was in support of an 
improved rail line in Allerdale, in particular a dual line.

A vote was carried on Councillor T Markley’s amendment to the motion, 15 in 
favour, 31 against and 0 abstentions. The motion was lost.

A vote was carried on the original motion, 32 in favour, 13 against and 1 
abstention. The motion was carried.

178. Councillor Speeches 

None received.

179. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service 

The Mayor made reference to the engagements he, and the Deputy Mayor, had 
undertaken since the last meeting.

180. Portfolio Holder Reports 

Page 8



Councillor A Smith, Leader of the Council presented his report.

Councillor M Fryer, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth presented his report and the report for Corporate Resources 
(Finance and Property) in Councillor Cannon’s absence.

With regards to footway lighting, Councillor J Lister asked whether further detail 
could be provided on how the potential transfer to Town and Parish Councils 
was getting on and whether any Town or Parish Councils had volunteered yet. 
Councillor M Fryer agreed for a briefing to be sent to all members in due 
course.  

Councillor J Ellis, Portfolio Holder for Governance and People Resources 
presented her report.
She informed members that the Polling District and Polling Places Review was 
due to start next week, all members would be receiving documents to complete 
and were encouraged to respond.

Councillor K Hansen, Portfolio Holder for Transformation presented his report. 

Councillor M Heaslip, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Quality presented his 
report.
Councillor S Stoddart enquired again about access to Salterbeck Cemetery. 
Councillor Heaslip responded to say his answer was the same as in the 
previous meeting, that it was inappropriate for people to drive cars in 
cemeteries.

Councillor W Jefferson, Portfolio Holder for Tourism and Culture presented his 
report.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health and 
Wellbeing presented her report. 

181. Executive Minutes 

Members noted the minutes of the Executive meeting held on 11 July 2018.

Agreed

That the minutes of the Executive meeting held on 11 July 2018 be noted.

182. Reference from Executive 3 September 2018 - Local Plan (part 2) - 
Presubmission Draft 

This report was considered at Executive on 3 September 2018.  Members 
considered the report and the recommendations.

Council thanked the Policy team for all their work on the Plan.

Councillor A Smith moved the recommendations. This was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. 

Page 9



A vote was taken, 44 in favour, 0 against and 2 abstentions. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved – That –

1. The Presubmission draft of the Local Plan (part 2), including 
amendments to the affordable housing (3.1) and tourism (7.1), policies, 
as set out in appendix 1 of this report, be approved for publication

2. The Policies Maps, as set out in appendix 2 of this report, be approved 
for publication

3. Following the completion of a six week period for representations the 
Local Plan (part 2) be submitted to the Minister for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government for an Examination in Public.

Councillor T Markley left the meeting  

183. Reference from Audit Committee 27 July 2018 - Treasury Management 
Operation Annual Report 2017/18 

This report was considered at Audit Committee on 27 July 2018.  Members 
considered the report and the recommendation.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. 

A vote was taken, 43 in favour, 0 against and 2 abstentions. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved

That the contents of the report be noted.

184. Waiver of Six Month Councillor Attendance Rule (section 85 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

The Democratic and Support Services Manager submitted a report which 
sought members approval for an extension of non-attendance of Councillor D 
Fairbairn due to ill health. 

Councillor J Ellis moved the motion which was seconded by Councillor A Smith. 
The motion was unanimously agreed.

Resolved

That the period of non-attendance for Councillor D Fairbairn be extended 
beyond the six months, in accordance with Section 85(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, on the grounds of ill health and extends the period until 
the end of his term of office, to expire on 6 may 2019.

Page 10



185. Changes to Committee Memberships 

The following nominations to committee places were received:

 Councillor J Cook to replace Councillor B Finlay on the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

 Councillor M Fitzgerald to replace Councillor J Cook on the Audit 
Committee

 Councillor M Fitzgerald to replace Councillor J Cook on the Chief Officers 
Employment Panel

 Councillor M Pugmire to replace Councillor J Cook on the Personnel 
Tribunal 

Councillor J Ellis moved the changes to committee places as per the 
recommendations in the report and the nominations received. 
Councillor A Davis-Johnston seconded the motion.

A vote was taken – 45 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions. The motion 
was carried.

Resolved

That:

1. The distribution of seats across committees as set out in paragraph 1.2 
of the report be approved, to accord with the rules on proportionality as 
far as is practicable

2. Councillor J Cook to replace Councillor B Finlay on the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

3. Councillor M Fitzgerald to replace Councillor J Cook on the Audit 
Committee

4. Councillor M Fitzgerald to replace Councillor J Cook on the Chief Officers 
Employment Panel

5. Councillor M Pugmire to replace Councillor J Cook on the Personnel 
Tribunal.

186. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Councillor J Farebrother, Co-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
presented an update report and moved the recommendation. This was 
seconded by Councillor A Pitcher.

Resolved

That the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.36 pm

Page 11



Page 12



The Mayor, Councillor John Crouch

Engagements since the last Council meeting on 19 
September to 5 December 2018

20 September 2018 Cumbria in Bloom Awards, Ulverston.

21 September 2018 Keswick School’s Prize giving

23 September 2018 Mayor of Aspatria – Civic Service

24 September 2018 Gay Pride Flag 40th Anniversary flag raising

27 September 2018 Amy’s Care visit to ABC, Council Chamber

28 September 2018 When Percy met Norman festival, Maryport

28 September 2018 Taste of Cumbria Launch Event

1 October 2018 Derwent Vale Primary – Cumbria in Bloom presentation

2 October 2018 Visit to Netherhall School, Maryport

8 October 2018 Launch of Cockermouth U3A 20th Anniversary Week

9 October 2018 Ewanrigg & Netherton – Cumbria in Bloom presentation

9 October 2018 Opening Performance of Spamalot, Workington-WAOS NODA

10 October 2018 Visit Celebrity Chef – Peter Sidwell

11 October 2018 Hospice at Home West Cumbria AGM

12 October 2018 Thomlinson Junior – Cumbria in Bloom presentation

13 October 2018 U3A Open Day

13 October 2018 National Citizen Service (NSC) Graduation Ceremony - Inspira

14 October 2018 Mayor of Silloth-on-Solway Civic Service

16 October 2018
Presentation to Aspatria Winners of Cumbria in Bloom small 
town

16 October 2018 Official opening of Silloth Playground

18 October 2018 Multicultural Carlisle Conference

29 October 2018
Judging of Mayor’s Christmas Card Competition Entries – 
1,212

30 October 2018
Presentation of Britain in Bloom Plaque to NADT Community 
Group, WigtonPage 13

Agenda Item 9



30 October 2018 Workington Heritage Group AGM

1 November 2018 Allerdale 100 – World War 1 Commemoration

2 November 2018 Cumbria Federation of Young Farmers’ Clubs AGM

3 November 2018 Charity Concert in support of Amy’s Care, Workington

5 November 2018
Presentation of Cumbria in Bloom Plaque to Ashfield Infant and 
Nursery School

6 November 2018 Cooking for Mayor’s charity - COSC

8 November 2018 Presentation of Britain in Bloom Plaque to CCFWI, Silloth

8 November 2018 Remembrance Concert, John Peel Theatre, Wigton

9 November 2018 Poppy event in Aspatria

9 November 2018
To Stay and to Serve (Life on Wigton’s Home front) 
presentation 

10 November 2018 Remembrance Service for County at Sands, Carlisle

11 November 2018 Remembrance service at Wigton – Wreath laying

11 November 2018 Remembrance lunch at Thursby Parish

11 November 2018
Royal British Legion Service, Maryport – to mark centenary of 
WW1 – Wreath laying

11 November 2018 Remembrance service at Seaton - evening – Wreath laying

12 November 2018 Cumbria in Bloom, 33rd AGM, Penrith

13 November 2018 The Judges Service, Carlisle Cathedral – High Sheriff invite

16 November 2018 Silloth Life Boat Social Evening

17 November 2018
Judging Santa’s Alpine Lodge – 6 x  Schools in the Maryport 
Schools Partnership

17 November 2018 Invitation to Diwali event with Multicultural Group, Carlisle

19 November 2018` Visit to Netherhall School

22 November 2018 Beacon Hill Community School Awards Evening

23 November 2018 Visit to Thursby Primary to explain job on school election day

23 November 2018
Christmas Card School Prize Visit –  St Patrick’s RC Primary 
School, Workington – includes winner of competition.

24 November 2018 Concert by the West Lake Orchestra, Cockermouth

25 November 2018 Switch on Wigton’s Christmas Lights 

26 November 2018
Christmas Card School Prize Visit - St Mary’s RC Primary, 
Workington

Page 14



27 November 2018
Christmas Card School Prize Visit – Seaton CoE Junior 
School, Seaton, Workington

27 November 2018
Christmas Card School Prize Visit – St Gregory’s RC Primary 
School, Workington

27 November 2018 University of Cumbria Graduation ceremony

28 November 2018
Christmas Card School Prize Visit – Victoria Junior School, 
Workington

28 November 2018 University of Cumbria Stakeholder Dinner

29 November 2018 Carlisle Ambassador’s Meeting

30 November 2018
Christmas Card School Prize Visit – Derwent Vale Primary & 
Nursery School, Workington

30 November 2018 Solway Groups ‘Solway session’ about Solway Christmas

30 November 2018 Cumbria Sports Awards 2018 Presentation Dinner

1 December 2018 Wigton Boxing Club boxing event

2 December 2018 Keswick Victorian Fayre

Page 15



The Deputy Mayor, Councillor Neil Schofield

Engagements since the last Council meeting on 19 September 2018

6 October 2018 Sid8 CPR and Difib event

11 October 2018 Allerdale Schools Council Meeting at ABC

25 October 2018 Workington Musical & Dance Festival – part 1

29 October 2018
Judging of Mayor’s Christmas Card Competition Entries – 
1,212

1 November 2018 Allerdale 100 – World War 1 Commemoration

3 November 2018 Charity Concert in support of Amy’s Care, Workington

9 November 2018 Remembrance Concert at Helena Thompson Museum

10 November 2018 Workington Musical & Dance Festival – part 2

11 November 2018 Harrington Remembrance Service – wreath laying

11 November 2018 Maryport Remembers, Festival of Voices WW1 – wreath laying

Page 16



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Portfolio Holder Updates

The Reason for the Decision To update Council on the activities and
decisions of Portfolio Holders since the last
meeting

Summary of options considered N/a

Recommendations That Members note the content of the report

Financial /  Resource Implications None arising directly from this report

Legal / Governance Implications None arising directly from this report

Community Safety Implications None arising directly from this report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None arising directly from this report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Not considered applicable to this report

Wards Affected As indicated in the main body of the report

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Portfolio Holder activity relates to the
development and delivery of the Council’s key 
priority themes

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith – Leader of the Council 

Lead Officer Senior Management Team – as indicated

Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Page 17

Agenda Item 10



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide full Council with an update and 
overview of the activities of individual portfolio holders.

2.0 Content

The activities of the Portfolio Holders are as follows:

2.1 Leader of the Council: Cllr Alan Smith

The Nuclear Industry
A number of meetings have been held with senior leaders from the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority and Sellafield, in addition to senior officials from 
BEIS to discuss a range of nuclear issues. The announcement from Toshiba 
that they would not be progressing the Moorside project was unfortunate, but 
not unexpected. This announcement followed on from the publication of the 
Oxford Economics Report which highlighted further job losses at Sellafield 
and underlined how dependent the West Cumbrian economy is on the nuclear 
industry.  There is clearly no quick fix to resolving these problems, but we will 
continue to work with a wide range of partners to explore options and identify 
possible solutions to benefit the West Cumbrian economy. 

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership
The LEP adopted a new assurance framework at their Board meeting in 
September. This document outlines a new governance structure for the LEP, 
which includes a number of new sub groups and an overall increase in the 
number of Board members. In a positive development it was also agreed that 
district leaders who are not on the Board will be able to attend future meetings 
as observers.

The Local Plan
The Local Plan (part 2), which was approved at the last Full Council meeting, 
was published for comment on 5 October with the closing date for comments 
being the 16 November. This now means that the Local Plan, along with the 
comments received, will be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
examination. It is anticipated the Local Plan will be submitted in January next 
year and the examination will take around six months.

ICT Improvement Support project
The Council was approached many months ago to consider leading on an 
ERDF bid that would take advantage of European Funding to improve the ICT 
take up of eligible businesses, on behalf of all partners in Cumbria. We were 
happy to take the lead on behalf of the partners as this project complements 
our Business Growth Strategy. 
Our project will provide expert ICT advice to individual SMEs. Each eligible 
SME supported will undergo an intensive diagnostic review considering in 
detail how ICT is being used in the business and identifying areas for 

Page 18



improvements, which in turn will enable the SME to increase its performance 
and grow. 
I am pleased to report that the Council have been informed that the 
application for £835,000 has been successful and now has approval in 
principle for ERDF funding, subject to contract and conditions that will enable 
a Funding Agreement to be drawn up between the Council and Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government.

SIIF (Social Infrastructure Investment Fund)
The Loans Fund is now up and running, with Enterprise Answers undertaking 
the scheme on the Council’s behalf. 5 businesses have already approached 
for funding and the applications are in various stages of development.  
In total 6 businesses have been assisted through the small grants scheme, 2 
more ideas are being appraised and several are in the pipeline.  This funding 
has now almost all been allocated.  
All funding to undertake activity highlighted within our Business Growth 
Strategy has also been fully allocated.

Shared Stadium 
The Council is continuing to work with Workington Reds and Workington 
Town to develop proposals for a new community stadium for West Cumbria. 
As well as providing for first class facilities for the professional clubs an 
important aim of the development would be to support community sports 
development at all levels and this is a key component of the bid to host the 
Rugby League World Cup in 2021. The proposed development would build on 
the success of the leisure centre and be a catalyst for the further regeneration 
of the lower Derwent Valley in Workington including land at the former 
Lonsdale Park recently acquired by the Council
The design team are working to develop the design proposals and prepare 
the supporting documentation required for a planning application and a 
consultation event to help inform the planning application was planned for 4 
December. Negotiations are ongoing with potential tenants which would 
provide income streams to help fund the development and I hope to be able to 
make further announcements in relation to these tenants and other funding 
streams in the near future. Work is also progressing to develop the detailed 
business case for the development which will be considered by the Executive 
in the New Year. 

Tackling Poverty Grants
The Council has introduced two new grants which contribute towards our 
Tackling Poverty Strategy Action Plan. 
The Community Projects Fund supports small community groups with grants 
of up to £1,000, which can be used towards a single small project or as an 
initial contribution towards a larger project.   

Page 19



The Work, Skills and Training Fund is open to individuals who need support to 
access training courses or opportunities to increase opportunities for 
employment. Grants of up to £500 are available for those who are eligible.
Applications for both funds are now open, and full details and application 
forms can be found on the Council’s website.

2.2 Deputy Leader: Economic Growth Portfolio: Cllr Mark Fryer

Reedlands Road
On the 24 January 2018 Members of the Executive approved the acceptance 
of a £1.5 million European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant to 
develop 23,500 sq. feet, (2,183 sq. metres) of industrial workspace at 
Reedlands Business Park, Clay Flats in Workington. Members also approved 
the £1 million match-funding requirement to be met from prudential borrowing.  
Keir have been appointed to carry out the build with work scheduled to start in 
March 2019. Allerdale Borough Council will gain an asset in the form of the 10 
new units and the construction of the business park will have significant 
economic development benefits for the local area.

Tributes and Tunes Festival
Funding for events in Workington to support the growth of the night time 
economy continued in November with the Tributes and Tunes Festival and 
which was held on 17 November. A range of music and entertainment was 
provided in town centre bars and venues.

Wigton Facelift Scheme
The scheme to support property owners to improve the visual appearance of 
their businesses and homes in the town centre is fully subscribed. Eighty four 
properties have received grant approval. The total expenditure is £70,000 with 
property owners’ match funding £43,700. There is a proposal within the 
revised budget to make a further £20,000 available for grants within the 
current financial year. 

Cockermouth Independent Retailers
We are working in partnership with independent retailers and the Chamber of 
Trade in Cockermouth to encourage shopping in town centre shops in the run 
up to Christmas. A leaflet drop to all homes in the town plus additional 
publicity will encourage resident to shop local and enter a prize draw at 
participating retailers. The winner of the draw will win the first prize of £1,500, 
comprised of goods donated by traders. Contact data from competition 
entrants will be used for Chamber of Trade follow up communications

Planning and Building Control
Following difficulties in recruiting to the Building Control Manager post the 
management of the Building Control and Development Management Services 
has now been combined with the Planning and Implementation Manager 
taking over responsibility for the Building Control Service. This provides an 

Page 20



opportunity to further co-ordinate the work of the two services and improve the 
service offered to customers in supporting development in Allerdale. The two 
services recently supported the successful self-build and custom housing 
event held at Lakes College.

2.3 Housing, Health and Wellbeing Portfolio: Cllr Carni McCarron-
Holmes

Affordable housing 
A further community housing fund grant contract has been agreed with the 
Above Derwent Community Housing Trust to enable the delivery of affordable 
homes. Work will commence on site in March /April 2019 and grant payments 
will be staggered over the course of the build. 
Grant funding has also been released to Borrowdale to fund pre development 
costs on a potential site in Borrowdale.
The team will be seeking additional funding to aid with the delivery of 
affordable housing in Allerdale through the newly announced Community 
Housing Fund. This will enable the continuation of the Community Led 
Affordable Housing Officer role and enable the good work to continue in other 
areas of the Borough. 
Work on the development of a Cumbria and Lancashire Community Land 
Trust HUB has progressed to the stage where it is going out to tender in 
December.  

Big Switch
The October Big Allerdale Switch saw 160 households register to switch, with 
60% of registrants able to save money on their energy bill if they switched.  
The average saving per registrant was £115.87. 

Housing Grants
This year’s budget for Disabled Facilities Grants has now been fully 
committed. 162 DFGs have been completed and paid this year.  From 1 
September 2018 DFGs are being approved, but works are not being ordered 
until new budget is confirmed (April 2019).  For urgent cases a criteria has 
been agreed with the Housing Manager and Housing OT to process urgent 
cases. These cases will be approved by a panel which comprises of Housing 
OT, Grants Officer and Housing Manager. To be urgent there must be an 
imminent risk to health and safety; including falls, injury, infection and risk to 
carer. This will be minimum criteria work only to be funded by grant 
repayments and additional ABC fee income received.
As part of the Autumn Spending review a further £55m in year was 
announced and it is expected that Allerdale will receive in excess of £100,000. 
This will enable the team to order works for those grants that have been 
approved and placed on a waiting list.
31 Discretionary Disability Grants, 25 Safe and Warm Grants and 3 Top Up 
Grants have been completed this year as well as grants to Registered 

Page 21



Providers to install 18 level-access showers installed in over 55s 
accommodation in Westfield to future proof homes, and installation of a level-
access shower to a vacant room within a learning disability shared home.
Unfortunately all discretionary grants have stopped being processed due to 
the budget being fully spent and committed. It is unlikely that the discretionary 
grants will be available next year due to an increase in demand in the 
mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants.

Housing Options
A PRS (Private Rented Sector) bid has been sent to MHCLG for £105k to 
assist with securing tenancies within the private rented market. Four of the 
Cumbria Authorities - Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland and Barrow - have carried 
out a joint bid. We may know before Christmas if we have been successful.
The new Crisis Support Officer has established herself very well due to her 
current knowledge and background. She is proving invaluable with people 
fleeing domestic violence, two of whom are currently within our temporary 
accommodation.  We have also successfully appointed a new Housing 
Options Officer, replacing Mandy who sadly passed away. 
The team are currently looking at other external funding streams - the next 
one is the “Move On” pot from central government, it has been decided again 
to carry out a joint bid as it gives the application greater weight.
The rough sleepers count night was 14 November and we have had three 
confirmed cases.  A follow up meeting was held at Cockermouth Hub on 16 
November and there is a telecom audit on the 15 December to clarify our 
working methodology around the rough sleepers estimate process.

Food and Occupational Health
The new Animal Welfare (Licencing of Activities involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 came into force on 1 October 2018. The implications of the 
Regulations were considered by the Licensing Committee on 31 October and 
the new fee structure was introduced through delegated powers. This 
introduces a single licence for animal welfare activities reflecting up to date 
welfare requirements. Each activity i.e. animal breeding, will have general and 
specific standards, but the level of protection will remain the same. A rating 
will be attached to each licence issued reflecting the level of compliance. 
Additional activities i.e. home based activities; performing animals etc. will 
become part of the licensing programme. The impact of the Regulations will 
be monitored and the implications for the local authority i.e. officer 
competency, cost recovery will be considered.
The team have been working with the Food Standards Agency (FSA) to move 
forward on the delivery of ‘Regulating Our Future’ (ROF). The FSA are piloting 
an online food business registration service with a small number of local 
authorities. This will impact on how food business operators register with their 
local authority and will reduce local authority officer input as manual input is 
reduced. This is the first phase of moving forwards and we will continue to 
work with the FSA to deliver the ROF plans.

Page 22



Public awareness on allergy related incidents has been increased with recent 
publicity. We continue work with Trading Standards and raise awareness with 
food business operators of their legal obligations relating to allergens.

Environment Protection
A review is underway to look at the working practices of the department and 
identify how processes work and where there are opportunities for new ways 
of working. The team have lots of ideas for new initiatives to improve 
Environmental Protection, these include a toilet twinning campaign and 
exploring bids for external funding in the private landlord sector and for air 
quality initiatives.

Maryport Regeneration 
In October the Council’s plans to regenerate Maryport were launched at an 
event held in the Wave Centre.  Presenting the plans were Cllr Mark Fryer, 
Deputy Leader and Executive member for Economic Growth and Anne-Marie 
Cowperthwaite, Associate Director at Arup. Also speaking was Professor 
Frank Peck, Research Professor in Regional Development at the University of 
Cumbria who gave an overview of how coastal economies are performing, 
and Ian Hinde, the Council’s Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships) on the 
Council’s plans to submit a response to the House of Lords Select Committee 
on Seaside Towns and Communities. The event was well attended and the 
plans were well received by local residents and business owners.
The Maryport Delivery Plan aims to improve the town’s most popular areas to 
increase tourism, employment opportunities and give a boost to the local 
economy.  The plan includes a number of key projects, such as creating a 
calendar of events to encourage visitors to the town, housing renewal and, 
improvements to the promenade and harbour. Other projects include making 
enhancements to the town centre, including the areas around Curzon Street 
and Senhouse Street - bringing vacant units back into use and creating a 
more pedestrian friendly entrance to the town and linking the centre to the 
train station. 
More recently, Graeme Wilson has taken on the role of Programme Director 
and has made a positive start in building relationships with local businesses, 
Councillors and community representatives.

2.4 Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) Portfolio: Cllr 
Barbara Cannon 

Workington Hall 
Scheduled monument consent has been obtained for a further phase of repair 
and consolidation works which should allow us to get the building off the at 
risk register. Consultants have been appointed to work up the tender 
documentation. Tenders will be returned by the end of February 2019. 
Heritage England will advise on the outcome of the grant application once 
tender figures have been returned. If the application is successful works 
should start on site in early April.

Page 23



Multi Storey Car Park, Workington
Further works planned for the MSCP include the replacement of light fitting to 
the top floor with more efficient fittings. This work will be carried out over the 
next two months.

Public toilets 
We are still waiting to hear from Aspatria Town Council as to whether they are 
interested in taking over the public toilets in the town. The offer to the Town 
Council involves a full refurbishment of the properties.
We are currently in discussions with the National Trust and Lake District 
National Park Authority in respect of a possible transfer of the toilet block in 
Grange.

Footway lighting
Work continues to take place between Cumbria County Council and ourselves 
to establish ownership and actual numbers of footway lights within towns and 
parishes throughout the Borough. Once ownership and numbers have been 
established we will be speaking to the town and parish councils about the 
potential transfer of the lighting stock. All Members should have received a 
letter from the Portfolio Holder explaining the proposals and timescales for the 
transfer.

Finance Reports
Over the course of the last quarter the finance team have been leading on the 
preparation of two key reports:

 Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2018/19. 
 Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2018/19

These reports play an important part in the strong financial management of 
the Council and each report will be presented at today’s Council meeting.

Star Chamber 
The Council’s Executive have continued with their approach of holding Star 
Chambers where the relevant Portfolio Holder and Head of Service discuss 
performance against budget in their areas with members of the Corporate 
Leadership Team.
A key message from the Star Chambers is that whilst the Council has 
managed its budgets and financial reserves to date, there are growing levels 
of uncertainty about our funding levels from 2020 onwards.
To manage this uncertainty, the finance team will continue to use all available 
resources to ensure the assumptions within the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) remain in-line with latest available information.

Budget Strategy 2019-20 and beyond
The Budget Strategy report is the first report of the Council’s budget setting 
process for 2019-20 onwards, which sets out the financial pressures that the 

Page 24



Council is likely to face in the coming years and suggests an appropriate 
strategy to ensure that this authority remains financially stable.
This report details the key assumptions adopted as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan and which form the foundation of the detailed budget position 
for 2019-20. 
The budget for 2019/20 will be considered by Executive in February 2019 and 
presented for Council approval in March 2019.
This Executive’s financial strategy over the last few years has worked 
successfully in increasing financial sustainability and there is a well-planned 
approach to budget setting and the budget process. Our budget setting 
processes have been successful in delivering a balanced budget and 
engaging with the public.

2.5 Governance and People Resources Portfolio: Cllr Joan Ellis 

Democratic Services 
The Member Development Working Group continue to meet to develop the 
Induction Programme for May 2019, recently supported by recommendations 
made by the Scrutiny Task & Finish Group for Councillor Training. A review of 
the Council’s North West Charter for Elected Member Development award will 
begin in January 2019 when the Council will re-sign its commitment to 
member learning and development.
Members are to be contacted by Democratic Services to review their Personal 
Development Plans and given an opportunity to discuss any support or 
development requirements they may have.
The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances are due to meet in 
December to begin their review the Allowances Scheme for 2019/20. 
Members will receive an invitation to make representations to the Panel in due 
course.

Electoral Services 
The team has now almost completed the annual canvass work and is 
undertaking the final checks. The new register of electors will be published on 
30 November and will be based on the existing council wards; a new version 
will then be published on 1 March 2019 to reflect the new Allerdale wards. 
The five Community Governance Reviews have now concluded and Council 
will be making decisions on them later in the meeting. Work has begun on the 
polling district and polling station review and Councillors have been asked to 
submit comments on current polling arrangements in their ward. The final 
polling scheme will be presented to Council in January 2019. 
Work has started on planning for the delivery of the Allerdale Borough Council 
and the parish council elections in May 2019. Briefings for potential 
candidates, election agents and parties will be arranged for the New Year to 
clarify the new Allerdale ward arrangements and to give details on all aspects 
of the election including the nomination process, postal vote opening 
procedures and count arrangements. 

Page 25



Legal Services 
The Legal Services Team continues to support the Authority in the delivery of 
the Council’s priorities and objectives, working closely with officers from 
across all services, elected members and the public.  Ongoing legal support is 
being provided in respect of the mobilisation of the waste contract post award.  
The loans fund for local businesses has now been implemented with the aim 
of job creation and significant interest has already been received.  A variety of 
property matters are ongoing such as continued work regarding the 
acquisition of land at Lillyhall. In addition, planning enforcement work at the 
magistrates’ court has been successful in recent weeks.

Licensing 
Following the successful implementation of the pilot scheme for the practical 
driving test for taxi drivers, the Licensing Team has now appointed a supplier 
for the knowledge test and the test has been formulated, with the first drivers 
having now taken the test.  At Licensing Committee, the Street Trading Policy 
and Animal Licensing Policy have both now been approved.  Both the 
practical driving test and the knowledge test are intended to improve the 
quality of the service provided in the Borough.  

Assurance, Risk & Audit 
The Assurance Risk and Audit Team are working on the planned work for 
2018/19, the revised plan based on current resources available will be 
presented to the Audit Committee on 26 November 2018. 
A full refresh of the way assurance reports are presented has been 
undertaken by the team and the new reports will be more streamlined and 
visual. Risk Management facilitation work continues to be a priority, risk 
support has been provided to the stadium steering group and a risk workshop 
has been provided to management, this will be extended to the Audit 
Committee in the New Year.

People Resources
A meeting has recently taken place with TUC to discuss the Great Jobs 
Agenda.  The agenda will give the trade union movement a common set of 
bargaining asks in workplaces, it sets out what the TUC want the government 
to do to ensure that every worker has a great job, fair pay, regular hours and 
the opportunity to progress.  The great jobs agenda will also extend to any of 
Allerdale’s third parties to ensure that third parties are also an employer of 
choice.  An action plan has been developed between the HR Team, Executive 
Member and Unison in regards to what needs to be strengthened in order to 
achieve.  We are pleased to announce that the majority of items on the 
agenda are already being met by Allerdale.
The Executive and Senior Management Team at Allerdale met with North 
West Employers to ensure we were achieving all the benefits available to us 
through this partnership and to gain an understanding of what else they are 
going to put in place to assist their local government partners. 

Page 26



The Council is participating in Bright Stars and Dream Placement in 
conjunction with the Centre of Leadership in Cockermouth.  

West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership
The newly created Local Focus Hub based in Cockermouth for the Allerdale 
area continues to develop with partners. The nationwide Ask Angela 
campaign has been launched in West Cumbria in time for the Christmas 
season.  Cyber Awareness training is taking place throughout Allerdale with 
communities.  Under the Pub Watch umbrella, defibrillator training has been 
undertaken with pub door staff, taxi marshals and licensees.

2.6 Transformation Portfolio: Cllr Konrad Hansen 

Head of Programmes and Projects
I am delighted to welcome Brendan Carlin as Head of Programmes and 
Projects. Brendan will have responsibility over Programmes and Projects and 
Procurement. 

Programmes and Projects
In order to support the Council’s objective of becoming more innovative and 
commercial, we have created a programme and project environment that 
enables us to clearly focus on the priority projects for the Authority while 
simultaneously continuing to deliver our business-as-usual activities to a high 
standard. The newly-formed Programmes and Projects Service includes 
dedicated officers that will co-ordinate the resource, both internally and 
externally, that is required for success as well as leading on the Council’s 
change programme and ensuring that key projects are being delivered in a 
way that is consistent with our strategic direction. 
The initial programmes of work will focus upon: 

 Transformation and Commercialisation – increasing productivity by using 
technology to deliver improved customer service and efficiency; and 
improving income across trading services. This programme is critical to 
ensure the Council has the capacity to fund key projects.

 Regeneration and Investment – delivery of key regeneration projects such 
as the shared stadium and commercial projects such as Lillyhall 
development;

 Strategic Influencing – improving the Council’s influencing role on key 
issues such as road and rail infrastructure, strategic housing role and 
access to special funds;

 Maryport Regeneration Plan – delivery of key projects at the promenade, 
harbour and working with partners to enable improvements to the railway 
station and Curzon Street.

The Programme Office has developed a charter defining its principles, its 
objectives and measures to determine whether those objectives have been 
met. Additionally, the team is ensuring the successful delivery of the projects 
and programme outcomes through the use of consistent processes and robust 

Page 27



business cases for each of the programmes and all the individual projects 
within. Programmes and projects are being defined and developed throughout 
November and December through a series of workshops with the project 
leads, supporting officers and stakeholders.

Procurement
The team attended procurement training with third tier managers from across 
the business in November to ensure that all departments now have someone 
in their team who can confidently procure goods and services in a transparent 
and compliant way and ensure best value in public procurement. The training 
provided guidance on the context of public procurement, the public sector 
regulations and guidance on how to ensure that expected benefits and 
outputs from contracts are delivered through good contract management. The 
training also identified areas where procurement can ‘add value’ by 
encompassing social value in tenders such as jobs or community, economic 
or environmental benefits.  

ICT 
The team continue to support the day to day running of the Council as well as 
being involved in a number of projects including ongoing development of 
myAllerdale and the implementation of the new platform which replaces 
existing systems used by planning, land charges, building control and 
environmental health. 
Over recent months a lot of work has gone on in the background by the team 
to set up systems which support new ways of working. This includes 
developing our use of the Office 365 suite of applications to enable flexible 
collaborative working across the organisation. 
The next step in introducing the new ways of working is to roll out a 
programme of training for all staff, a digital training needs analysis to assess 
the digital maturity of the organisation has been completed and the results are 
being used to develop and tailor the training and the way in which it is 
delivered to ensure everyone can make best use of the systems and services 
available to help them deliver services efficiently for our customers.     

Customer Operations (Revenues & Benefits, Council Tax, Customer 
Service Centre)
This month Customer Services have appointed two apprentices to join the 
team, the apprentices will gain valuable experience of dealing with customers 
in a busy customer service environment using a variety of contact channels 
including face to face, telephone and on-line.
Customer Satisfaction when contacting our customer service team remains 
high with 89% of customers’ surveyed rating the experience as satisfactory or 
highly satisfactory.
This financial year we have seen a reduction in telephone and face to face 
enquiries when compared to the same period last year. More customers are 
moving online to report issues and use of the myAllerdale on-line reporting 

Page 28



service has nearly doubled as customers report problems using smart 
phones, tablets or home computers.
In addition to myAllerdale we also offer our customers the option of signing up 
online for paperless billing which saves on paper and reduces printing costs.
There were four summons issued for non-payment of Council Tax which 
resulted in two arrest warrants being issued, one payment in full being 
received and one payment arrangement being made.
Council Tax collection rates remain high, so far this year we have collected 
£37.1m, though it is worth a reminder that Allerdale BC (as the collection 
authority) retains only 9.7% of funds collected with the remainder being 
collected on behalf of Cumbria County Council, the Police & Crime 
Commissioner and the Parish Councils.
Processing of new benefit claims in October remains well ahead of target and 
to improve the service for customers we are starting to cross skill some 
benefits staff by training them on council tax legislation. 

2.7 Environmental Quality Portfolio: Cllr Michael Heaslip 

Environment Heritage Initiatives
Artwork for the Confluence, Cockermouth, has been granted planning 
permission following Environment Agency (EA) acceptance of the Flood Risk 
Assessment. The installation can now proceed pending a check on whether 
an EA licence is required. Habitat improvements for birds and animals at 
Siddick Pond are underway and are already being colonised by migrating 
birds.
Council Sport and Play Facilities
GLL are refurbishing the gym and lavatories at Keswick Spa to improve the 
quantity and quality of usage at a cost of £180k which is being funded by GLL.
The new Gym at the Wave was recently opened and users are signing up to 
membership. The gym investment was funded by the Council and GLL and 
will result in a reduction of the annual subsidy paid by the Council.
A possible design for a new football hub on the former Leisure Centre sports 
pitches at Moorclose has been prepared with Cumberland FA and we are in 
discussions with the FA about funding it.
Major refurbishment of the sports pitches at Milltoft and Ennerdale Road, 
Maryport, is ready to go as soon as weather and the season permits - which 
probably means April.

Sport Development
The recommendations of the Cockermouth Sports Facilities study were 
accepted by Executive in October and the first project to be under way is the 
refurbishment of paths and the tennis courts at Harris Park, which will also 
enable development at Grasmoor Sports Centre (Cockermouth RUFC). Harris 
Park has been offered to Cockermouth Town Council as a Community Asset 
Transfer once the improvements are complete.

Page 29



A “Swimlink” programme is to take place at Workington Sports Centre; 
Swimlink is a national programme which gets youngsters taking swimming 
lessons involved in their local swimming club.
An “Exercise on Referral” (referral by GPs) programme funded by Sport 
England is starting at Workington Sports Centre and will then be provided at 
Wigton too.

Bereavement Services
We are drawing up heads of terms for Holme Low Parish Council’s plans to 
take over Silloth Cemetery building as an asset transfer.
Memorial inspections have been completed at Maryport and are about to start 
at Salterbeck.
Repairs and improvements to footpaths are complete at Salterbeck Cemetery 
and work is about to start on resurfacing and white-lining the parking area.

Open Spaces
We continue to work with other bodies and agencies to better manage river 
catchments and inshore waters with the West Cumbria Rivers Trust.  

Parking
Over 20 additional bays reserved for disabled people are being provided in 
car parks in Workington.
An “early bird” parking scheme is to operate in the Multi Storey Car Park for 
all-day parkers who arrive before 9am and leave after 4pm. Free parking is 
also being provided in the MSCP to coincide with late-night shop opening in 
the run up to Christmas.

Street Scene 
Work has started on the Council’s PSPO (Public Space Protection Orders), 
these replace all the dog control areas and are fundamental to the work of the 
Street Scene Team as without them the Officers are unable to enforce.  
Joanne Fisher will be leading on these for the team and if any Councillors or 
Parish Councils would like an area to be considered then please contact her 
directly.  This is the last call for suggestions as PSPOs are only reviewed 
every three years.
The dog fouling campaign (‘we are watching you’) in association with Keep 
Britain Tidy is being developed to be rolled out in the New Year.  Parish 
Councils which would like to join in the scheme (there is a cost) are invited to 
get in touch – soon.
A new street scene and public realm maintenance and cleaning contract has 
been awarded from April 2019 and will integrate street cleaning and grounds 
maintenance.

Waste and Recycling
A new Waste & Recycling collections contract has been awarded from April 
2019 and will result in savings to the Council compared with the cost basis of 

Page 30



the existing contract. Weekly collections of residual waste will continue. 
Recyclate will be collected in bins or boxes instead of the current purple bags 
which are expensive and contaminate the recyclate.

2.8 Tourism and Culture Portfolio: Cllr William Jefferson

Visit Allerdale website
The website is frequently updated (e.g. ‘Autumn in Allerdale’) to provide 
compelling content to encourage more visitors especially during quieter 
periods of the year. A free listing for ‘bricks and mortar’ businesses not yet in 
a position to take up the paid marketing opportunities via the website has 
been implemented on the site.

Hadrian’s Wall Cycle Path
The route for the section between Allonby and Silloth has been agreed by the 
Silloth Coastal Community Team with completion due in 2019/20. Sustrans 
has been awarded Leader funding to upgrade signage and interpretation 
along the route. We will be working with them to ensure this ties in with our 
destination growth plans as well as working in partnership to alert businesses 
to the opportunities to attract more cycle customers along the route.

Business engagement
We held our latest well attended Tourism Breakfast Briefing in Keswick on 22 
November 2018. Attendees were brought up to date with our destination 
development plans and how we could work together in partnership to grow the 
value of the market. A range of external speakers shared their ideas and 
insights that were focused on being of use to businesses to attract and retain 
customers.

Virtual reality
The project to create an exciting range of virtual reality films is due to receive 
a public launch at the next Tourism Breakfast Briefing in the New Year. The 
films highlight the very best of Allerdale will be used on the Visit Allerdale 
website and Tourism Information Centres. It is also hoped they will be 
available to use in Carlisle Lake District Airport.

The Green, Silloth – play area
Funding from Allerdale BC, Silloth Town Council, Cumbria County Council 
and the Rotary Club has provided the investment to enhance the facilities for 
young children and families on The Green, with the provision of a nautically 
themed adventure playground that is accessible and DDA (Disability 
Discrimination Act) compliant.

Solway Firth Partnership Solway Coast AONB Joint Conference 2018
The conference was held in Carlisle on 2 November 2018. Highlights included 
Doug Allan, wildlife and documentary cameraman and author who delivered 
the keynote speech with interesting and informative discussion sessions on: 

Page 31



 Planning for the future of the Solway
 Our coastal heritage at risk – love it or lose it?
 The Solway Coast through performance and drama
 Arts and culture

Allerdale 100
This was our commemoration of the centenary of the end of World War I. A 
community engagement company worked with schools and community 
groups across the Borough to create an installation in the Carnegie Theatre 
and Arts Centre that reflected the experiences of people at the front and the 
home front. The installation was available for members of the public to view 
from 1 – 21 November 2018.

National Park
The Lake District National Park has given park officers delegated approval to 
agree Honister Slate Mine’s Aerial Flight or zip wire planning application – 
subject to conditions. The Aerial Flight will follow the path of old industrial 
workings which were in use up until 1926 transporting slate along the side of 
Fleetwith Pike via an aerial wire. The modern version will have the dual 
purpose of outdoor adventure and industry; offering an adrenaline fuelled 
descent for people climbing the Via Ferrata and providing a financially viable 
way to bring walling slate, piled up by previous generations of miners in the 
tunnels, down the mountain. This type of slate is scarce within the Lake 
District National Park with architects, builders and developers keen to keep 
the traditional look of the area, and we have tonnes of it sitting in tunnels 
ready to be brought down the mountain.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 That Members note the content of the report.

Page 32



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Monday 3 September 2018 at 6.00 pm

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Staff Present

B Carlin, I Frost, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, C Nicholson, A Seekings and 
S Sewell

143. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

144. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

145. Questions 

None received.

146. Members' Announcements 

None received.

147. Q1 Finance Report April to June 2018 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which sought to inform 
Members on the Council’s financial performance against budget for the period 
April to June 2018 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2019.

Members noted the headline messages at the end of quarter 1 2018/19, being:

Revenue Budget
 Expenditure from the revenue budget, excluding projects funded 

from earmarked reserves, was forecast to exceed budget by 
£91k 

 This projected outturn position would result in an additional  
contribution from the Council’s General Fund of £91k

Earmarked Reserves Budget
 Following publication of the 2017-18 outturn position, the 

budgeted use of Reserves had been increased to reflect the 
profiling of expenditure presented as part of that report 

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



 There was no variance projected against this updated budget
Capital Budget

 Expenditure from the capital budget was forecast to underspend 
by £10.2million

 The forecast underspend would be matched by a corresponding 
reprofiling of expenditure to subsequent financial years, 
leaving no remaining variance 

Treasury Management
 Treasury management activities during the quarter were carried 

out in accordance with the Council’s treasury management 
and investment strategies and within the limits established by 
the approved treasury and prudential indicators for 2018-19

 No new external borrowing was undertaken during the three 
months ending 30 June.

Paragraph 6.8 of the report, Councillor M Fryer requested that Executive 
members be provided with an update on the Helena Thompson Museum.

Councillor B Cannon moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor W Jefferson. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered:

None

The reason for the decision:

To inform Members on the Council’s financial performance against budget for 
the period April to June 2018 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2019.

The decision:

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

148. Q1 Performance Report 2018/19 

The subject of the decision

The Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) submitted a 
report which sought to advise members on the Council’s performance at the 
end of Quarter 1 2018/19 as measured by projects/activities and Key 
Performance Indicators set out in the Corporate Business Plan 2018/19.

The Council was on track with 72 of its 87 key projects/activities, 12 areas were 
being watched and 3 key projects/activities had been completed in Q1.

There were 51 Key Performance Indicators. 29 of those were on target, 12 were 
within agreed tolerance of target and 5 were significantly worse than target.

Members noted the report.

Page 34



Councillor A Smith moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

None

The reason for the decision

To advise Members of the Council’s performance at the end of Quarter 1 
2018/19.

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

149. Local Plan (part 2) - Presubmission Draft 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance submitted a report which sought 
member’s approval to publish the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan (part 2) 
for a final six week period prior to submission to the Secretary of State for public 
examination.

Members expressed their thanks to all of the team involved in the work in 
producing the draft policy.  

Councillor A Smith moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

A detailed options assessment had been carried out across all sites and policies 
before arriving at the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan (part 2). An options 
consultation was undertaken in 2017.

The reason for the decision

To seek approval to publish the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan (part 2) 
for a final six week period prior to submission to the Secretary of State for public 
examination.

The decision

Recommended – That Council be requested to agree that:

Page 35



1. The Presubmission draft of the Local Plan (part 2), including 
amendments to the affordable housing (3.1) and tourism (7.1) policies, 
as set out in appendix 1 of this report, be approved for publication

2. The Policies Maps, as set out in appendix 2 of this report, be approved 
for publication

3. Following the completion of a six week period for representations the 
Local Plan (part 2) be submitted to the Minister for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government for an Examination in Public.

150. Reedlands Business Park 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought to provide 
clarification on the terms and conditions on the final grant agreement for the 
£1.5 million European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant to develop 
23,500 sq. feet, (2,183 sq. metres) of industrial workspace at Reedlands 
Business Park, Clay Flats in Workington, previously accepted by the Executive 
on 24 January 2018.

Members were informed that the ERDF funding for the project had been 
secured under the Local Infrastructure State Aid Scheme, approved by the 
European Commission under Article 56 of the General Block Exemptions 
Regulation (GBER). 

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor B Cannon. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

1. Accept the offer of grant funding and proceed with the scheme. This 
would necessitate the submission of a change request to the Ministry for 
Housing Communities and Local Government.

2. Decline the offer of grant funding and do not proceed with the scheme.

The reason for the decision

On the 24 January 2018 Members of the Executive approved the acceptance of 
a £1.5 million European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant to develop 
23,500 sq. feet, (2,183 sq. metres) of industrial workspace at Reedlands 
Business Park, Clay Flats in Workington. Members also approved the £1 million 
match-funding requirement to be met from prudential borrowing.  

Following receipt of the final grant agreement clarification has been sought on a 
number of points relating to the terms and conditions of the award. This report 
updates Executive on the financial implications of these clarifications and in 
particular on the operation of the clawback provision which could result in the 
repayment of part of the funding in the event that the authority makes excess 
profit from the project.

Page 36



The decision

Resolved

That:

1. The £1.5m offer of European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant 
funding and associated match-funding requirement to enable the project 
to proceed be accepted

2. A change request be submitted to the Ministry of Housing Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG) to amend the profiled project spend 
and associated funding draw-down to bring this in line with the latest 
project programme.

The Chairman moved - 

“That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.”

151. Social Infrastructure Investment Fund Business Support Investment 
Proposal 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance submitted a report which sought 
members to amend the previously agreed distribution of funds in the Social 
Infrastructure Investment Fund (SIIF) to enable consideration of a loan 
investment proposal for MPM North West Ltd.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to endorse the proposed course of action.

The reason for the decision

To amend the previously agreed distribution of funds in the Social Infrastructure 
Investment Fund (SIIF) to enable consideration of a loan investment proposal 
for MPM North West Ltd.

The decision

Resolved

That the recommendations in the report be approved.

Page 37



152. Future Options for Workington Town Centre - Update Report 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought members to 
note work being undertaken to explore future commercial opportunities for 
Workington Town Centre in accordance with the Capital Investment Strategy 
and the Councils priority of ‘Enhancing our Towns’ and to endorse the proposed 
course of action.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to endorse the proposed course of action.

The reason for the decision

To update members on the work that had been undertaken.

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted and the proposed course of action be endorsed.

The meeting closed at 7.00 pm

Page 38



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Wednesday 17 October 2018 at 10.00 am

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Staff Present

B Carlin, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, C Nicholson, G Roach, A Seekings, 
S Sewell, G Wilson and P Wood

212. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

213. Declaration of Interests 

6. Award of Contract for Waste, Recycling, Street Cleansing and Grounds 
Maintenance Services.
Councillor Mark Fryer; Disclosable Pecuniary Interest; Due to him being 
a Director of Cumbria Recycling Ltd.

214. Questions 

None received.

215. Members' Announcements 

Councillor M Heaslip, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Quality congratulated 
Allerdale Borough Council’s Bereavement Services department on their recently 
awarded Gold Standard award for the quality of their service for the fifth year 
running.
The Council’s service was assessed by the Institute of Cemetery and 
Crematorium Management (ICCM) as part of the Charter for the Bereaved 
Process for Burial.  

The team were congratulated and presented with their certificate.

Councillor M Fryer left the meeting  

216. Award of Contract for Waste, Recycling, Street Cleansing and Grounds 
Maintenance Services 

The subject of the decision

Page 39



The Head of Community Services submitted a report which sought members’ 
approval to award contracts for the Waste, Recycling, Street Cleansing and 
Grounds Maintenance Services in line with the Council’s financial regulations.

For the waste and recycling collection services the recommended core 
collection service design was highlighted as follows:

- Residual waste to be collected every week;
- Commingled recyclables (glass, cans, plastic) to be collected every 2 

weeks using a 120 litre wheeled bin (wherever reasonably practicable) to 
replace the single use purple sacks;

- Paper and card to be collected every 4 weeks using a larger 240 litre 
wheeled bin (wherever reasonably practicable); and

- Garden waste to be collected every 2 weeks.

Members expressed thanks to everyone who had been involved in the work. 

Councillor M Heaslip moved the recommendations; this was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

 Not to award the contracts and seek to re-procure;
 Not to award the contracts and provide an in-house service; or
 To award the contracts to the highest scoring Tenderers

The reason for the decision

The following contracts were due to expire on 31 March 2019;

 Waste and recycling collection and street cleansing services (FCC 
Environment);

 Grounds Maintenance Services (Tivoli); and
 Bulking, hauling, sorting and reprocessing of dry recyclables and green 

waste (Cumbria Waste Management).

The decision

Resolved 

That – 

1. Tenderer B be awarded the Contract for the provision of waste and 
recycling collection services on behalf of the Council with an estimated 
contract value of £24,766k over the initial 8-year contract term;

2. Tenderer C be awarded the Contract for the provision of street cleansing 
and grounds maintenances services on behalf of the Council with an 
estimated contract value of £13,039k over the initial 8-year contract term; 
and

Page 40



3. Tenderer A be awarded the Contract for the provision of bulking, hauling, 
sorting and reprocessing services for dry recyclables and green waste on 
behalf of the Council with an estimated contract value of £2,636k over 
the initial 8-year contract term

4. Each contract shall be awarded for an initial period of eight (8) years (1 
April 2019 to 31 March 2027) with the option to extend by a further eight 
(8) years (1 April 2027 to 31 March 2035)

5. Any non-service related amendments to these proposals be delegated 
to the Head of Community Services in consultation with the Head of 
Finance and the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Quality.

Councillor M Fryer returned to the meeting  

217. Cockermouth Sports Facilities Improvement 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Community Services submitted a report which sought members’ 
approval of the recommendations highlighted in the Cockermouth Sports 
Facilities Scoping Study.
The study was commissioned to look at the quality of the sports facilities in 
Cockermouth and also to consult with stakeholders in the town to look at the 
demand and aspirations for the future use of sporting facilities.

Councillor M Heaslip moved the recommendations; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to accept the recommendations made in the Cockermouth Sports Facilities 
Scoping Study.

The reason for the decision

To continue to work towards improving the sporting facilities in Cockermouth, to 
ensure a vibrant sporting community, increasing opportunity to participate in 
sports and physical activity, as well as supporting sustainable futures for local 
clubs and groups which had been previously agreed.

The decision

Resolved 

That – 

1. It be agreed to work towards the recommendations highlighted in the 
report to improve sporting facilities within Cockermouth

Page 41



2. The actions in the report be prioritised to improve sporting facilities within 
Cockermouth in line with existing council budget and external funding 
opportunities.

218. Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Policy 

The subject of the decision

The Policy Manager (Housing) submitted a report which sought members’ 
approval of a new policy to manage a register, as set out in the Self-Build and 
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, and an agreed approach in which to manage 
applications in line with all relevant regulations.
 
Councillor A Smith moved the recommendations; this was seconded by 
Councillor C McCarron-Holmes. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Introduce a new policy with local connection and financial viability tests for 
inclusion in part 1 of the Council’s Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding 
register.

Do nothing and continue to maintain a register that does not give precedence to 
local households.

The reason for the decision

To ensure that the Council has in place a Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding 
(SBCB) Policy and details of how it would administer the Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding register.

The decision

Resolved 

That – 

1. The Council supports the introduction of a new Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding (SBCB) Policy with local connection and financial viability 
tests, and ensures that local households be given preference and 
assistance to self-build

2. The policy be reviewed after 12 months to enable the Council to 
understand the impact and benefits of the local connection test and the 
demand from outside of the area

3. The adoption of the new policy and the introduction of a grant funding 
programme as detailed in the report be approved.

The meeting closed at 10.40 am

Page 42



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Quarter 2 Finance report and Revised Budget 2018-19

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Executive 
held on the 21 November 2018. It is for Council to consider its response.

Recommended – That Council be requested to agree that –

 The forecasted position against the original revenue and capital 
budgets at the end of quarter 2 be noted 

 The revised budget (inclusive of spend from earmarked reserves) of 
£16,851k be approved 

 The revised net revenue budget requirement of £15,084k be approved 
 An additional release from the Council’s earmarked reserves of £500k 

be approved 
 A reduction in the contribution from the Council’s General Fund of £20k 

be approved 
 The revised three year capital budget (including proposed financing) of 

£21,048k comprising £8,970k in 2018-19, £10,038k in 2019-20 and 
£2,040k in 2020-21 be approved 

 The revised position on earmarked and un-earmarked general fund 
balances be noted. 

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 43

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive - 21 November 2018
Council - 5 December 2018

Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2018-19

The Reason for the Decision To inform members of financial performance 
against budget for the period April to September 
2018 and seek approval for the revised revenue 
and capital budgets for 2018-19.

Summary of options considered The Council’s revenue and capital budgets for 
2018-19 were approved by Council in March 
2018. Monitoring of the actual and forecast 
outturn positions against the budget has identified 
additional budget pressures along with a number 
of budget savings. The balance and use of 
earmarked reserves has also been reviewed.
Approval is now sought for a revised 2018-19 
budget.

Recommendations It is recommended that Council:
 note the forecasted position against the 

original revenue and capital budgets at the 
end of quarter 2

 approve the revised budget (inclusive of 
spend from earmarked reserves) of 
£16,851k

 approve the revised net revenue budget 
requirement of £15,084k

 approve an additional release from the 
Council’s earmarked reserves of £500k

 approve a reduction in the contribution 
from the Council’s General Fund of £20k

 approve the revised three year capital 
budget (including proposed financing) of 
£21,048k comprising £8,970k in 2018-19, 
£10,038k in 2019-20 and £2,040k in 2020-
21

 note the revised position on earmarked 
and un-earmarked general fund balances. 

Page 45

http://abcmodgov.allerdale.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=185369&PlanId=294&RPID=11512644


Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set (and maintain) a 
balanced budget.

Community Safety Implications None
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The budget contains provision for the Council to 
discharge its obligations under health and safety 
legislation, and to maintain adequate levels of 
reserves in order to manage risks. 
There are risks that the Council will not be able to 
operate within agreed budgetary provisions but 
this can be minimised by the financial monitoring 
process and by the prudent policy on the level of 
reserves and balances.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

As part of the budget growth bids and savings 
bids process. 

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The revenue budget is set to support the Council 
in achieving its priorities as set out in the Council 
Plan and to facilitate control of expenditure on its 
activities.
Sound financial management is essential to 
successful delivery of the Council’s financial 
plans, achievement of value for money and the 
stewardship and safeguarding of public money.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon 

Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson, Head of Financial Services, 
01900 702503
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y

Page 46



1.0 Executive Summary 
1.1 This report summarises the Council’s financial performance against budget for 

the period April to September 2018 and seeks approval for the revised revenue 
and capital Budgets for 2018-19.

Quarter 2 – Monitoring position

1.2 The headline messages at the end of quarter 2 of 2018-19 are:
Revenue Budget

(i) Against the original budget expenditure on services of £14,604k the 
Council is currently projecting a small underspend of £20k.

(ii) During the year the Council has identified the need for an additional 
budget of £500k to support the development and delivery of strategic 
priorities. This additional budget, to be funded from release of 
earmarked reserves, will increases the projected outturn to £15,084k. 

(iii) After taking account of the £500k to be released from earmarked 
balances, the projected outturn position will result in a £20k reduction 
to the contribution required from the General Fund to finance the 
budget.

Earmarked Reserves Budget
(iv) Following publication of the 2017-18 outturn position, the budgeted 

use of Reserves was increased from £1,066k to £1,890k to reflect 
the profiling of expenditure presented as part of that report. 

(v) A variance of £123k (underspend) is projected against this updated 
budget.

Capital Budget
(vi) The capital budget is forecast to be underspent by £12.04million.
(vii) The forecast underspend will be reduced by re-profiling £3.04 million 

of the budget to subsequent financial years, leaving an underspend 
of £9 million. This has been taken into account of as part of the 
revised capital budget. 

Treasury Management
(viii) Treasury management activities during the quarter were carried out 

in accordance with the Council’s treasury management and 
investment strategies and within the limits established by the 
approved treasury and prudential indicators for 2018-19.

(ix) No new external borrowing was undertaken during the three months 
ending 30 September.

Page 47



Revised Revenue and Capital Budgets 

Revised revenue Budget 

1.3 On 7 March 2018, Council approved a revenue budget for 2018-19 comprising: 

 total planned revenue expenditure of £15,670k, including parish 
precepts of £2,024k

 a net budget requirement of £14,604k, including planned use of 
earmarked balances of £1,066k.

1.4 To address budget pressures and savings identified through in-year budget 
monitoring and update the planned use of earmarked reserves, the revised 
revenue budget proposal set out in this report includes:

 a £1,181k increase in planned revenue expenditure increasing the 
total (including parish precepts of £2,024k) from £15,670k to 
£16,851k

 an increase in planned use of earmarked reserves (compared to the 
original budget) of £701k (£123k decrease compared to the re-
profiled post 2017-18 outturn total of £1,890k)

 an increase in the net budget requirement of £480k from £14,604k to 
£15,084k including planned use of earmarked balances of £1,750k. 

1.5 Changes to the 2018-19 Net Service Expenditure Budget of £480k comprise:

 recurring adjustments, impacting on the Council’s base budget of £37k 

 non-recurring adjustments of £443k. 
1.6 These changes increase: 

 the Council’s recurring (base) budget from £11,495k to £11,532k; and
 Net Service Expenditure budget for 2018-19 from £12,580k to 

£13,060k. 

Revised Capital Budget 

1.7 In March 2018, Council approved a three year capital budget of £18,973k 
(comprising £14,593k in 2018-19, £2,340k in 2019-20 and £2,040k in 2020-21), 
financed as follows:

Capital financing £’000 Comment

grants and contributions 11,076 including £9,043k in 2018-19
borrowing 7,877 including £5,530k in 2018-19
revenue 4
earmarked reserves 16
TOTAL – capital financing 18,973

Page 48



1.8 The capital budget was subsequently increased to £21,759k to reflect the 
addition of budget carried forward from 2017-18 of £2,786k, funded from capital 
receipts of £277k, General Fund Balances of £453k and borrowing of £1,635k.

1.9 The proposed revised capital budget for the three years 2018-19 to 2020-21 is 
£21,048k. The revised budget includes: 

 re-profiling adjustments of £3,043k (outlined above) involving the transfer 
of £3,043k of expenditure and associated financing from 2018-19 to 2019-
20 to reflect current expenditure forecasts

 re-allocations and repurposing of existing budgets of £4,000k, and 
 net capital savings bids of £711k.

1.10 The revised capital budget is funded as follows: 

Capital financing £’000 Comment

capital receipts 277 b/f from 2017-18
grants and contributions 6,826
borrowing 13,472 including £1,634k b/f from 2017-18
revenue 4
earmarked reserves 16
general fund balances 453 b/f from 2017-18
TOTAL – capital financing 21,048

Impact on General Fund Balances

1.11 The proposed changes to the 2018-19 revenue and capital budgets will reduce 
the planned use of General Fund Balances by £20k. This will bring the total 
planned use of general fund balances during 2018-19 down from £897k to £877k. 
The total planned use in 2018-19 of £877k comprises £424k to finance to the 
revenue budget and £453k to finance the capital programme.

Page 49



2.0 Introduction  
2.1 This report summarises the Council’s financial performance against budget for 

the period April to September 2018 and seeks approval for the revised revenue 
and capital budgets for 2018-19. 

Financial performance against budget for the period April to September 
2018

2.2 The Council’s financial regulations require the Section 151 Officer (Head of 
Financial Services) to report regularly (at least quarterly), to Executive, the latest 
financial position against budget.

2.3 This report outlines for both the Council’s Revenue budget (section 3) and 
Capital budget (section 5), the forecast outturn for 2018-19 based on net 
expenditure to the end of September 2018 and the projected net expenditure to 
31 March 2019.

2.4 Reasons for significant variances (+/- £30k) between the full year forecast and 
the approved estimates (budget) for 2018-19 are included in this report alongside 
details of how variances have been addressed in preparing the revised budget. 

2.5 This report also provides:

 details of forecast expenditure on projects funded from Earmarked 
Reserves (section 3)

 a summary forecast income from business rates, council tax and non- 
specific (un-ringfenced) grants (section 3) 

 a summary of the impact of the forecast outturn position on earmarked 
reserves and general fund balances (section 7)

 details of treasury management activity and confirmation of 
compliance with the Treasury and Prudential Indicators included in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (sections 8)

Revised Budget

2.6 The Council has a statutory responsibility (under the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992) to set a balanced budget for each financial year. This means the 
Council’s expenditure on services must be contained within the available funding 
envelope. The Council’s 2018-19 (original) revenue and capital budgets were 
approved by Council on 7 March 2018.

2.7 The financial management approach agreed by Members in 2012-13 also 
requires the Council to prepare a revised budget that takes into consideration, 
the outputs and findings of in-year financial monitoring procedures and quarterly 
financial reporting to the Council’s Executive. This approach allows for more 
accurate monitoring of expenditure and enables the Council’s Executive to 
approve revisions and supplementary estimates.

Page 50



2.8 As in previous years, the Council’s Executive have continued with their approach 
of holding Star Chambers where the relevant Portfolio Holder and Head of 
Service discuss performance against budget in their areas with members of the 
Corporate Leadership Team. During these discussions the monitoring of the 
budget is discussed in detail with the emphasis on key volatile areas and 
significant variances.  

2.9 A key message from the Star Chambers is that whilst the Council has managed 
its budgets and financial reserves to date, there are growing levels of uncertainty 
about our funding levels from 2020 onwards. This means that managers will have 
to have a greater focus on their costs and income and a better awareness of 
productivity to ensure the best use of resources.

2.10 There is a growing awareness that the council needs to change its approach to 
risk acceptance and that there is a need to act more commercially and explore 
more commercial opportunities and projects.

2.11 The bids submitted and recommended as part of this revised budget are those 
that are non- discretionary and those that are additional pressures to existing 
council priorities. 

2.12 A number of other potential variances were acknowledged but have not led to 
additional budget requests. The budget holders for these areas are looking at 
alternative plans to ensure the variances can be reduced or eliminated. These 
will continue to be monitored and reported on as part of the regular monitoring 
reports.

2.13 This report sets out the Council’s proposed:
 revised revenue budget for 2018-19 (section 4), and
 revised capital budget for the three year period 2018-19 to 2020-21 

(section 6).

3 Summary of Projected Revenue Outturn Position
3.1 Table 1 shows, as at the end of September 2018, the Council's overall projected 

2018-19 revenue outturn position. It shows: 
Revenue Budget Expenditure

 net budgeted expenditure of £14.6 million

 a projected outturn (including contributions to reserves) of £15.08 million

 a projected variance for the year to March 2019 of £480k. This projection 
takes into account the need for an additional budget of £500k to support 
the development and delivery of strategic priorities. This additional budget, 
to be funded from release of earmarked reserves, will increases the 
projected outturn from £14.584m to £15.084m. Against the original budget 

Page 51



of £14.604m the Council is currently projecting a small underspend of 
£20k

 after taking into account the £500k to be released from earmarked 
balances, the projected outturn position will result in a £20k reduction to 
the contribution required from the General Fund to finance the budget

Earmarked Reserves Budget

 budgeted expenditure of £1.89 million

 a projected outturn of £1.77 million

 a projected underspend against the earmarked reserves budget (updated 
to reflect the 2017-18 outturn position) of £123k, reflecting changes in the 
anticipated timing of expenditure from reserves.

Table 1 - Summary of Projected Outturn against Annual Budget
Original 
Budget

£’000

Projected
Outturn

£’000

Projected 
Variance

£’000

Report 
Ref.

Net Expenditure on Services 12,580 13,060 480

Parish Precepts 2,024 2,024 0

Net Expenditure on Services 14,604 15,084 480 3.2

Expenditure on Earmarked Priorities1 1,890 1,767 (123) 3.4

Total Net Expenditure 16,494 16,851 357

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances1 (1,890) (1,767) 123 3.4

Net Budget Requirement/ Outturn 14,604 15,084 480

Funding:

Taxation & Government Grants 14,160 14,160 0 3.8

Release of earmarked balances 0 500 500

Contribution from/to General Fund 444 424 (20)

Total Funding 14,604 15,084 480
1 £1,066k plus £824k re-profiling adjustment to reflect 2017-18 outturn

Page 52



3.2 A breakdown of the overall projected outturn variance (£480k) by portfolio is 
shown in Table 2. 

Table 2 – Summary of variance by Portfolio
Annual 
Budget

Projected 
Outturn

Planned 
contribution 
to reserve 

Projected 
Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leader of the Council 1,127 1,214 0 87
Economic Growth (1,415) (1,576) 0 (161)
Corporate Resources 5,539 5,908 0 369
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 913 871 0 (42)
Environmental Quality 2,909 3,116 25 232
Governance & People Resources 1,312 1,254 35 (23)
Tourism & Culture 379 381 0 2
Transformation 1,816 1,832 0 16
Parish Precepts 2,024 2,024 0 0

Total 14,604 15,024 60 480

3.3 Significant variances between budget and projected outturn have been 
addressed through the revised budget. Explanations for significant variances 
are included within the revised budget proposals set out in section 4.

Projects funded from Earmarked Reserves 

3.4 At 1 April 2018, the balance in earmarked reserve was £3,804k, comprising:
 £2,372k held for service expenditure
 £1,432k held for accounting purposes or as contingency against 

specified risks. 

3.5 Against the balance of £3,804k the profiled spend identified for 2018-19 - 
presented as part of the 2017-18 outturn report - is £1,890k. The remaining 
balance was profiled to be spent in 2019-20 and subsequent financial years or to 
be held for to meet contingencies. 

3.6 The current projected outturn for 2018-19 is £1,767k, giving a projected 
underspend of £123k at the end of quarter 2. This reflects a change in the 
anticipated timing of expenditure from the balances available within reserves and 
is taken into account in the revised budget by way of a re-profiling adjustment. 
The underspend does not have any impact on the general fund. 

Page 53



Table 3 - Summary of projected expenditure from earmarked reserves

Reserve  
Balance

Profiled  
Budget 
2018-19

Projected 
outturn

Budget 
adjustment

to spendReserve Funded projects 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leader of the Council 558 340 329 (11)
Economic Growth 114 114 114 0
Corporate Resources 189 89 84 (5)
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 844 821 798 (23)
Environmental Quality 115 92 90 (2)
Governance & People Resources 282 182 144 (38)
Tourism & Culture 92 92 48 (44)
Transformation 178 160 160 0
Total held for service expenditure 2,372 1,890 1,767 (123)
Accounting/Contingency reserves 1,432 0 0 0
Total Reserves 3,804 1,890 1,767 (123)

3.7 In addition to the £1,767k projected outturn expenditure, £500k previously held to 
meet contingencies will be released to create a one-off budget, requested as part 
of the revised budget growth bids, to support the Council’s strategic priorities. A 
summary of projected movements on earmarked reserves is set out in section 7.

Taxation and Non-specific grant income

3.8 Details of the Council’s forecast taxation and non-specific grant income and 
expenditure for the year, compared with budget, are shown in the following table. 
This includes income received from:

 Non-ring fenced government grants such as Revenue Support Grant 
and New Homes Bonus  

 Council tax and Non Domestic Rates (NNDR).

Table 4 -Taxation and Non-specific grant income
Budget 

£’000

Forecast
Outturn

£’000

Variance

£’000

Para

Revenue support grant 652 652 0 -

Rural Services Delivery Grant 325 325 0 -

New Homes Bonus 1,004 1,004 0 -

Council tax – excluding parish element 5,100 5,100 0 -

Council tax - parish precepts 2,024 2,024 0

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 91 91 0 -

NNDR funding 4,964 4,964 0 -
14,160 14,160 0

Page 54



3.9 No variance is currently projected in respect of income from Taxation and Non-
specific grant income. 

Key Variances

3.10 Significant variances between budget and projected outturn have been 
addressed through the revised budget. A summary of projected outturn variances 
and associated changes included in the revised budget are set out in the table 
below.

Table 5 – Impact of identified variances on the revised budget
 Budget Adjustments  

 
 Outturn 

Variance Recurring Non 
recurring Salary Total Un-

adjusted

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leader of the Council 87 39 10 43 92 (5)
Economic Growth (161) (60) (8) (73) (141) (20)

Corporate Resources 369 0 357 (2) 355 14

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing (42) 0 (69) 31 (38) (4)

Environmental Quality 232 83 138 6 227 5

Governance & People Res. (23) (9) 0 (23) (32) 9

Tourism & Culture 2 0 0 0 0 2

Transformation 16 18 (41) 40 17 (1)
Parish Precepts 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 480 71 387 22 480 0

3.11 Variances not considered significant have not been addressed through changes 
to the budget. When taken together these variances are currently projected to 
have a nil impact on the Authority’s overall financial position. These remaining 
variances will however continue to be monitored and reported on as part of the 
regular monitoring reports and action taken to reduce or eliminate them over the 
remainder of the financial year.

Page 55



4.0 Revised revenue budget 2018-19

4.1 The proposed revised revenue budget for 2018-19 and the associated increase 
in the Council’s net budget requirement of £480k is summarised in table 6.

Table 6: 2018-19 Revised Revenue Budget
2018-19

Net Expenditure Budget Original 
Budget

Revised
Budget Change Para

£000 £000 £000
Base Budget 11,932 11,932 0

Change in salary costs - recurring 135 101 (34) 4.10
Recurring growth 526 710 184 4.8
Recurring savings (676) (789) (113) 4.8
Self-sufficiency savings (422) (422) 0
Recurring (base) budget 11,495 11,532 37
Change in salary costs - non-recurring 0 56 56 4.10
Non-recurring growth 1,102 1,874 772 4.9
Non-recurring savings (17) (402) (385) 4.9
Net Service Expenditure budget 12,580 13,060 480
Expenditure on earmarked priorities 1,066 1,767 701
Proposed budget (excl. parish precepts) 13,646 14,827 1,181
Parish Precepts 2,024 2,024 0
Proposed Budget (incl. parish precepts) 15,670 16,851 1,181
Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (1,066) (1,767) (701)
Net Budget Requirement 14,604 15,084 480

4.2 The Council’s revised net budget requirement is funded as follows:

Table 7: 2018-19 Revised Revenue Funding
2018-19

Original 
Budget

Revised
Budget Change Para

£000 £000 £000
Government Grants & Taxation 14,160 14,160 0 4.15
Release of earmarked balances 0 500 500
Use of/(contribution to) General Fund 444 424 (20)
Total funding 14,604 15,084 480

Page 56



4.3 Changes to the 2018-19 Net Service Expenditure Budget of £480k comprise:

£’000

Recurring adjustments
reduction in the salary budget (34)
recurring growth bids 184
recurring savings bids (113)

TOTAL - Recurring adjustments 37

Non-recurring adjustments
increase to the salary budget 56
non-recurring growth bids 772
non-recurring savings bids (385)

TOTAL – Non-recurring adjustments 443

TOTAL – Change to net service budget 480

4.4 These changes increase: 
 the Council’s recurring (base) budget from £11,495k to £11,532k; an 

increase of £37k, and
 the Net Service Expenditure budget for 2018-19 from £12,580k to 

£13,060k; an increase of £480k.
4.5 After taking account of the additional budget of £500k that will be met from a 

release of earmarked balances, the revised revenue budget for 2018-19 will 
reduce the contribution required from the General Fund to finance the budget by 
£20k.

Page 57



Changes to the Net Service Expenditure Budget

4.6 A summary of the proposed changes to the net service expenditure budget is set 
out in table 8. 

Table 8: Summary of Net Service Expenditure by Portfolio
Portfolio Original 

budget1
Recurring 
growth & 
savings

Non- 
recurring 
growth & 
savings 

Salary 
changes

Revised  
budget 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leader of the Council 1,127 39 10 43 1,219
Economic Growth (1,415) (60) (8) (73) (1,556)
Corporate Resources 5,539 0 357 (2) 5,894
Housing, Health & Well-being 913 0 (69) 31 875
Environmental Quality 2,909 83 138 6 3,136
Governance & People Resources 1,312 (9) 0 (23) 1,280
Tourism & Culture 379 0 0 0 379
Transformation 1,816 18 (41) 40 1,833

Net Service Expend. 12,580 71 387 22 13,060
1 Adjusted for in-year virements and revised portfolios 

4.7 Further details of the growth and saving bids underlying these increases are set 
below.

Recurring Growth and Savings bids

4.8 Details of recurring growth of £184k and savings bids of £(113)k (net total £71k) 
included as adjustments to the Council’s base budget are summarised in tables 9 
and 10. If approved, these changes will impact on the base budget for 2018-19 
and future financial years.

Table 9: Recurring growth
Portfolio/Service Description Growth

£000
Leader of the Council
Communications & 
Marketing

Unbudgeted costs of corporate policy advice and guidance on 
the impact of central government policy changes and future 
policy direction 

14

Communications & 
Marketing

Shortfall in advertising income. Work is being undertaken to 
develop this income stream, however current year earnings 
are expected to fall short of the current £35k budget. In 
particular income from website advertising remains low. Work 
is ongoing to generate advertising income from the multi-story 
car park and other car parks. 

25

Page 58



Portfolio/Service Description Growth
£000

Environmental Quality 
Recycling Services Reduction in income from the sale of recyclable materials. 

This relates mainly to income from the sale of paper and card 
as a consequence of shortfalls in actual sales price and the 
amount of material being collected compared to budget.

75

Recycling Services Increase in expenditure on the costs of processing recyclates 
as a result of an increase in the amount of co-mingled waste 
being collected.

23

Recycling Services Shortfall in projected recycling credits income compared to 
budget. This is a result of a reduction in overall projected 
tonnage of material being collected (mainly green waste)

6

Animal Welfare Projected shortfall in income from returned stray dogs as a 
result of the low number of dogs being collected

6

Trade Waste Shortfall in expected income from the sale of recyclable 
materials. This related mainly to income from sale of paper 
and card which has seen a shortfall in sales price achieved 
compared to budget and a reduction in amount of material 
being collected.

17

Transformation
Revenues Reduction in recovery of court costs based on trend from 

previous financial year and current year’s performance to 
date. This is underpinned by improvements to collections and 
arrears as a result of increased choice of payment methods, 
improved take up of Council Tax direct debits and more 
targeted recovery action. 

18

Total recurring growth 184

Table 10: Recurring savings
Portfolio/Service Description Saving

£000
Economic Growth
Camping & Caravan Site Following a successful trial in 2017-18, the site is now 

expected to remain open year round. Based on the 
additional income received in 2017-18, the income budget 
for 2018-19 has been increased by £61k to reflect the 
decision to extend the sites operating season from 11 to 12 
months. 

(61)

Environmental Quality 
Trade Waste Forecast additional income from the Trade Waste service 

net of disposal expenditure.
(28)

Off-street - Owned Car Parks (£50k) saving to reflect additional car parking income less 
£35k expenditure growth to meet the additional cost of 
processing card transactions.    

(15)

Governance & People Resources
Pensions Reduction in unfunded pension payments. These payments 

are expected to diminish over time as the number of 
pensioners receiving such payment reduces. 

(9)

Total recurring savings (113)

Page 59



Non-recurring growth and savings bids

4.9 Non-recurring growth of £772k and savings bids of £(385)k (net value £387k) 
submitted as part of this report are summarised in tables 11 and 12. If approved 
these will impact on the 2018-19 budget but will not impact on the base budget 
for future financial years.

Table 11: Non – non-recurring growth
Portfolio/Service Description Growth

£000
Leader of the Council
Leaders Portfolio To support small scale projects with grant funding, including 

voluntary, community and faith based groups that support 
delivery of the Council’s purpose and priorities.

10

Economic Growth
Planning & Development Unbudgeted costs incurred in relation to Broughton Park 

Public Inquiry.
28

Maryport Shop Front 
Improvements

Growth bid to facilitate extension of the shopfront 
improvements scheme in Wigton. 

20

Lake District National Park Contribution to local plan part 2, including car parking 
strategy.

30

Corporate Resources
Footway Maintenance To meet the cost of maintenance and repair in relation to 

footway lighting assets for which the Council is responsible. 
In order to achieve the budgeted saving previously agreed 
responsibility for lighting columns will need to be 
transferred; this has not yet taken place.

10

Public Conveniences Delays in the transfer/sale of these assets has meant 
associated operating costs have not reduced as originally 
anticipated.  As a consequence the anticipated saving will 
not be achieved.

17

Footway Maintenance Increase in the cost of electricity costs for Footway lighting 
assets for which the Council is responsible.

5

Housing, Health & Wellbeing
Pest Control Projected shortfall in income.  14

Environmental Quality
Recycling Services The bid of £20k comprises shortfalls of:

 £5k between the estimated recycling processing costs 
for 2017-18 accrued at 31 March 2018 and the actual 
costs incurred

 £15k shortfall between the estimated recycling credit 
income for 2017-18 accrued at 31 March 2018 and the 
actual amount received.

20

Multi-storey Car Park This bid addresses a number of forecast outturn variances:
• £89k shortfall in parking income (based on usage to 
date), offset by,
• (£11k) favourable expenditure variance across a 
number of budget lines.

78

Page 60



Portfolio/Service Description Growth
£000

Street Cleansing To meet the purchase and licence cost of surveillance 
cameras for Oldside to address fly tipping issues in this 
area.

8

The Wave Centre A saving of £50k was agreed in the 2018-19 budget for a 
reduction in management fee at the Wave. The operator, 
GLL have committed to making a £25k saving in this 
financial year due to the inclusion of a fitness facility within 
the building. 

25

Parks & Ground Maintenance Shortfall in income to be received following a reduction in 
third party work being undertaken. 

7

Total Non-recurring growth - impact on general fund balance 272

Non-recurring Growth – no additional impact on general fund balance
Service Description Saving

£000
Strategic Priorities Earmarked Reserve totalling £500k previously held to meet 

contingencies will be released to create a one-off budget to 
meet revenue costs associated with the development and 
delivery of major capital projects and other tasks connected 
with the delivery of strategic priorities

500

Total Non-recurring growth 772

Table 12: Non – Non-recurring savings
Portfolio/Service Description Saving

£000
Economic Growth
Camping & Caravan Site Income recognised in 2017-18 outturn position was based 

on interim financial information provided by the site operator 
in November 2017. Confirmation of the Council share of net 
income from the site (for the year to February 2018) was not 
received until June 2018. This showed additional income of 
£61k due to the Council in respect of 2017-18. Underlying 
this increase was the decision to extend site opening from 
11 to 12 months. The budget for 2018-19 has been 
increased by £61k to accommodate the income not 
recognised in the 2017-18 outturn position.

(61)

Camping & Caravan Site Additional income expected in 2018-19 following 
exceptional summer weather 

(25)

Corporate Resources
Banking &Interest Reduction in PWLB borrowing costs to reflect changes 

made to the expected timing of capital expenditure funded 
from borrowing across financial years and the associated 
changes to external borrowing requirements.

(133)

MRP & Finance Charges Reduction in Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge for 
2018-19 in respect of 'unfinanced' capital expenditure 
incurred in 2017/18. This reduction reflects the re-profiling of 
expenditure from 2017-18 to 2018-19 and the resulting 
deferral of MRP.

(42)

Page 61



Portfolio/Service Description Saving
£000

Housing, Health & Wellbeing
Assistance - Housing 
Services

It is expected that expenditure on DFG’s, provided through 
the capital budget, will be higher than had been anticipated. 
This will result in additional revenue income being received 
in relation to the administration of these grants.

(83)

Transformation
Universal Credit Additional new burdens income has been received in 

relation to the provision of support to claimants transitioning 
from legacy benefits to Universal Credit.

(41)

Total Non-recurring savings (385)

Change in salary costs (Pay Groups)

4.10 Details of the recurring and non-recurring salary cost adjustments made to net 
service expenditure are included in table 13. They include: 

 recurring savings of £34k; these changes will impact on the base 
budget for 2018-19 and future financial years

 non-recurring changes of £56k; these changes will not impact on the 
base budget for future financial years.

Table 13: Changes to salary costs
Recurring Non-

Recurring
£000 £000

Structure changes: Programmes and Projects - 25
Posts filled on different Spinal Column Points (SCP) (33) -
Other minor changes to staff costs (1) -

Additional costs of temporary structure: Digital Allerdale - 14

Interim arrangement: reallocation of saving from vacant Project Manager 
post to cover the temporary structure: Digital Allerdale - (14)

Additional costs of temporary structures in Parking Services - 10

Additional costs of temporary structures in Democratic Services - 21

(34) 56

Page 62



Use of Contingencies

4.11 The original approved budget included a contingency amount of £260,350 to 
cover unexpected expenditure.

4.12 To date the following allocations have been made from the Contingencies 
budget:

Table 14: Allocation of contingency sums

£

Opening Balance 260,350
Cost of 2018-19 Pay Award (155,300)
Additional cost of Cockermouth Market Place highway works (15,000)
Allocation for Maternity Ward contribution (35,000)
Allocation for works to Salterbeck Cemetery (55,050)
Remaining Unallocated Balance 0

Strategic Priorities 

4.13 The original approved budget included a £1million budget to meet revenue costs 
associated with the development and delivery of major capital projects, 
procurement activities and other tasks connected with the delivery of strategic 
priorities. 

4.14 To date the following allocations have been made from the strategic priorities 
budget:

Table 15 Allocations made from the strategic priorities budget
£

Opening Balance 1,000,000
Allocated to cost of Major Procurement (290,062)
Feasibility work for potential Joint Stadium (457,500)
Feasibility work for future of Workington Town Centre (48,600)
Development of the Wave Centre (87,000)
Small schemes  (42,800)
Remaining Unallocated Balance 74,038

Page 63



Government Grants and Taxation Financing

4.15 Proposed changes to the financing element of the 2018-19 budget - including 
income from non-ring fenced government grants and business rates (NNDR) are 
summarised in table 16.

Table 16- Taxation and non-specific grant income
Original 
Budget

Revised
Budget

Change 
£’000

Para

Revenue support grant 652 652 0 -

Rural Services Delivery Grant 325 325 0 -

New Homes Bonus 1,004 1,004 0 -
Council tax – excluding parish element 5,100 5,100 0 -

Council tax - parish precepts 2,024 2,024 0

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 91 91 0 -

NNDR funding 4,964 4,964 0 4.16
14,160 14,160 0

4.16 A summary of the changes in funding from National Non Domestic Rates 
(NNDR) is set out in table 17.

Table 17 - NNDR funding 2018-19
Budget 

£000
Revised 

£000
Change 

£000
Fixed Elements:
Allerdale share of NNDR Income 11,075 11,075 0
Allerdale share of NNDR Income 557 557

Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,135) (7,135) 0
Share of estimated collection fund deficit at 31.3.17 (564) (564) 0
‘Fixed’ element of NNDR income 3,933 3,933 0
Variable Elements:
Section 31 grant 1,547 1,600 (53)
Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (516) (569) 53
Variable element of NNDR income 1,031 1,031 0

4,964 4,964 0

4.17 The amount of NNDR income available to the general fund and taken into 
account when setting the budget each year is based on the figures contained in 
the government return - NNDR1. 

Page 64



4.18 Although the NNDR1 form fixes a significant portion of NNDR income available to 
the Council’s general fund for the financial year, it does not fix the amount of: 

 levy the Council pays to the Cumbria business rates pool, 
 retained levy that the Council receives back from the pool or 
 grant it receives from central government to compensate for certain 

business rate reliefs (section 31 grant).

4.19 Amounts relating to levy payments and section 31 grant are based on the 
Collection Fund outturn position rather than on the estimates included in the 
NNDR 1 return. As a consequence, the amount of income the Council receives 
and pays in relation to these items is subject to change over the course of the 
financial year. 

4.20 There is no change in the overall amount of variable elements of NNDR income, 
but the changes to these individual elements reflects:

 an increase of £53k in the amount of section 31 grant the Council 
expects to receive to compensate it for the loss of business rates 
income, that results from the award of certain reliefs and other changes 
to the business rates system made by central government in 2018-19 
and previous years

 a £53k reduction in the estimated amount of levy (net of reduction under 
pool arrangements) the Council expects to pay, based on current 
forecasts of the Collection Fund outturn positions of pool members. 

Page 65



5.0 Capital budget – projected outturn position

5.1 The current capital budget is £17.71 million, comprising:
 £14.59 million approved budget for 2018-19
 £2.79 million budget carry forward from 2017-18
 £328k uplift to the amount of Disabled Facility Grant expenditure funded 

from central government grant.

5.2 The projected 2018-19 Capital Outturn position, as at the end of quarter 2 
(September 2018), is summarised in table 18. This shows:

 a projected outturn position of £5.66 million
 an underspend compared to the budget of £12.04 million 
 budget carry forward requests of £3.04 million which have been 

accommodated within the revised capital budget by way of re-profiling 
adjustments

 remaining underspend of £9 million.

Table 18 – Capital Programme – Projected Outturn by Portfolio

Current 
Budget

Projected
Outturn

Outturn 
Variance

Re-
profiled

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital Expenditure
Economic Growth 13,149 2,296 (10,853) 1,853 (9,000)
Corporate Resources 369 269 (100) 100 0
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 2,349 2,349 0 0 0
Environmental Quality 550 550 0 0 0
Tourism & Culture 1,250 160 (1,090) 1,090 0
Transformation 40 40 0 0 0
Total - Capital Expenditure 17,707 5,664 (12,043) 3,043 (9,000)
Capital Financing      
Capital Grants 9,792 2,872 (6,920) 1,920 (5,000)
Capital Receipts 277 177 (100) 100 0
Earmarked Reserves 16 16 0 0 0
Revenue Budget 4 4 0 0 0
General Fund Balances 453 453 0 0 0
Borrowing 7,165 2,142 (5,023) 1,023 (4,000)
Total - Capital Funding 17,707 5,664 (12,043) 3,043 (9,000)

Page 66



Key Variances

5.3 Commentary on the key projected outturn variances and the impact of these 
variances on the revised capital budget are set out in the following paragraphs.

Economic Growth

5.4 The overall forecast variance against the capital budget for the Economic Growth 
portfolio is £10,853k. A projected budget carry forward (re-profiling adjustment) of 
£1,853k, leaves a net variance of £9,000k.

Table 19 Economic Growth portfolio key variances
Outturn 
Variance

Budget 
C/F

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000
Lillyhall Development (9,000) 0 (9,000)
Strategic Acquisitions (468) 468 0
Reedlands Road Development (1,385) 1,385 0
Total (10,853) 1,853 (9,000)

Lillyhall – Development (underspend of £9,000k – reallocated as part of the 
revised budget)

5.5 The original budget of £9m was established to support initial development of the 
Lillyhall site. The budget was based on receiving £5m from the LEP with the 
remaining £4m financed by borrowing. Following confirmation that the Authority 
will not now receive the £5m LEP funding, this element of the budget has been 
removed from the capital programme. The remaining £4m, funded from 
borrowing, will be re-allocated to create a Strategic Priorities and Regeneration 
capital budget to support achievement of Council Priorities.

Strategic Acquisitions – (underspend of £468k to be carried forward to 
2019-20)

5.6 From the available budget of £745k, £277k has been allocated to the acquisition 
of Lonsdale Park in Workington and to meet Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) 
associated with acquisition of land at Lillyhall.

5.7 The remaining budget (£468k) will be re-profiled to 2019-20 where it will remain 
available to take advantage of property acquisition and development 
opportunities that support achievement of Council Priorities.

Corporate Resources

5.8 The capital budget for the Corporate Resources portfolio is currently forecast to 
be underspent by £100k. This is matched by a forecast budget carry forward (re-
profiling adjustment) of £100k, leaving no overall variance. 

Page 67



Table 20 Corporate Resources portfolio key variances
Outturn 
Variance

Budget 
C/F

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000

Helena Thompson Museum Development (100) 100 0
Total (100) 100 0

Helena Thompson Museum Development (underspend of £100k to be 
carried forward to 2019-20)

5.9 In the 2017-18 Outturn report it was noted that, following receipt of estimated 
costs for the proposed scheme, it had not been possible to undertake the works 
initially planned within the agreed budget. Following a review, the budget will now 
be used to address some of the DDA compliance issues, such as surfacing within 
the court yard entrance and other capital enhancement works to the Museum. 
This work will span the current and next financial year and requires £100k of the 
£180k budget (met from capital receipts) to be carried forward to 2019-20.

Tourism & Culture 

5.10 The capital budget for the Tourism & Culture portfolio is currently forecast to be 
underspent by £1,090k. This is matched by a budget carry-forward (re-profiling 
adjustment) of £1,090k, leaving no overall variance.

Table 21 Tourism & Culture portfolio key variances
Outturn 
Variance

Budget 
C/F

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000

Solway Coast Pathway (1,090) 1,090 0
Total (1,090) 1,090 0

Solway Coast Pathway (Underspend of £1,090k to be carried forward to 
2019-20)

5.11 A budget of £1,250k was previously approved to support the creation of a multi-
user coastal pathway, linking Silloth-on-Solway, the West Cumbria Cycle network 
and the Hadrian’s cycle route. The scheme will be funded by a grant of £1m from 
the Coastal Communities Fund (CCF) and £250k from the RDPE Tourism 
Infrastructure Fund (subject to successful outcome of funding bid).

5.12 There are currently a number of tasks that need to be completed before the 
scheme can start. These tasks may in turn delay the scheme and require the 
budget to be carried forward to 2019-20. 

Page 68



6.0 Revised Capital Budget 

6.1 A summary of the proposed adjustments to the three year capital budget is set 
out in table 22. These changes comprise: 

 re-profiling adjustments of £3,043k - outlined above - involving the transfer 
of £3,043k of expenditure and associated financing from 2018-19 to 2019-
20 to reflect current expenditure forecasts

 Re-allocations (repurposing) of existing budgets and re-profiling across 
financial years of £4,000k, and 

 net capital savings bids of £711k.

Table 22 Revised Capital Budget – summary of changes
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total 
Capital Scheme £000 £000 £000 £000
Original Budget 17,379 2,340 2,040 21,759
Re-profiling adjustments (table 18) (3,043) 3,043 0 0
Re-allocations (table 23) (4,000) 4,000 0 0
Capital Growth & Savings (table 23) (1,366) 655 0 (711)
Revised Budget 8,970 10,038 2,040 21,048

Table 23: Summary of Capital Re-allocations and Bids 
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total bid
Capital Scheme £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Re-allocations
Lillyhall Development (4,000) 0 0 (4,000)
Healthy Homes 0 (1,000) (1,000) (2,000)
Strategic Priorities and Regeneration 0 5,000 1,000 6,000
Total re-allocations (4,000) 4,000 0 0

Capital Bids
DFG - additional grant funding 328 0 0 328
Lillyhall Development – reduction in grant 
funded expenditure (5,000) 0 0 (5,000)

Vehicle and wheeled bin acquisition costs 3,271 620 0 3,891
Enhancement to Lakeside Carpark Keswick 35 35 0 70
Total Bids (1,366) 655 0 (711)

Total re-allocations and bids (5,366) 4,655 0 (711)

Page 69



Re-allocations

6.2 By repurposing existing capital budgets it has been possible to create a budget of 
£6m (£5m in 2019-20 and £1m in 2020-21) to enable the Authority to take 
advantage of opportunities that support delivery of the Council’s Key Priorities 
and Regeneration agenda. This budget has been created by re-allocating;

 £4m from the (2018-19) Lillyhall Development capital budget
 £2m Healthy Homes capital budget (£1m in 2019-20 and 2020-21).

Lillyhall Development

6.3 As noted above, the previously approved budget was predicated on the basis of 
receiving funding of £5m from the LEP funding. Following confirmation that the 
Authority will not now receive the £5m LEP funding, this element of the budget 
has been removed from the capital programme. The £4m budget to be funded 
from borrowing will be re-allocated to create a Strategic Priorities and 
Regeneration capital budget to support achievement of Council Priorities.

Healthy Homes

6.4 The Healthy Homes budget was aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. The current budget 
comprises £150k in 2018-19 and £1m in each of the following two years. 

6.5 The £1m budget in both 2019-20 and 2020-21 is no longer required to deliver on 
the Authority’s plans and will instead be re-allocated to the Strategic Priorities 
and Regeneration capital budget. 

Capital Growth and Savings 

6.6 In addition to the reprofiling and reallocation adjustments outlined above, a 
number of new capital expenditure bids have been submitted for approval as part 
of the 2018-19 revised budget proposals. These are summarised in table 23 
above. 

Capital Growth Bids

DFG - additional grant funding (growth of £328k)

6.7 The DFG programme involves the provisions of grant support to cover the cost of 
housing adaptations to enable people to stay living in their own home for longer. 
Expenditure on DFGs is funded from an annual grant from central government. 
This grant is paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding 
allocations and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing DFGs. 

6.8 Pending confirmation of the Authority’s grant funding allocation for 2018-19, 
budgeted expenditure for 2018-19 was originally set at £1,358k, based on the 

Page 70



grant income allocation and forecasted expenditure in 2017-18. This was 
subsequently increased to £1,403 to reflect budgets carried forward from 2017-
18. Following confirmation of the 2018-19 funding allocation a further increase of 
£328k brings the total budget to £1,761k and aligns the budget with the grant 
funding allocation for 2018-19 (£1,125k) and the amount of unallocated grant 
brought forward from 2017-18 (£636k). This increase results in an upward 
revision to the budgeted expenditure for mandatory and discretional grants of 
£124k and £204k respectively.

Lillyhall Development (reduction in grant funding of £5m)

6.9 As noted above the original budget allocation of £9m was to support initial 
development of the Lillyhall site. The sum of £9m was based on receiving £5m 
from the LEP with the remaining £4m being financed by borrowing. Following 
confirmation that the Authority will not now receive the £5m LEP funding, this 
element of the budget has been removed from the capital programme.  

6.10 Despite this change, development of the site, to provide the premier employment 
site for West Cumbria capable of supporting future invest to save projects, is still 
being progressed. Any capital budget allocation required to deliver these plans 
will be presented, in-line with the capital investment strategy, once proposals are 
at an appropriate stage. The Authority may still be able to access some LEP 
funding and this will form part of the funding for future capital budget proposals.

Waste collection and recycling vehicles and wheeled bin acquisitions (growth of 
£3.891m)

6.11 Following completion of a major procurement exercise, a new contract for waste 
and recycling collection services is scheduled to come into force on 1 April 2019. 
To take advantage of the lower borrowing costs available to the Council and 
reduce the annual service cost of the waste and recycling collection service, the 
Council has agreed to use PWLB borrowing to fund the acquisition of vehicles to 
be used by the contractor in the provision these services (£3,171,251) and 
wheeled bins required to implement four-weekly paper and card collections 
(£720,000).

Enhancement to Lakeside Carpark Keswick (growth of £70k)

6.12 A scheme to reconfigure Lakeside Car Park and create 34 additional parking 
bays is currently being developed. A final decision to progress the scheme is 
subject to a business case being approved by the Commercial Board and Asset 
Management Group. The scheme is expected to cost in the region of £70k. 
However, this will not be confirmed until a more detailed assessment of the 
required works is completed. 

6.13 If approved, works are expected to be phased over 2018-19 and 2019-20 and is 
expected to generate additional revenue income from 2019-20 onwards. 

Page 71



Proposed revised capital programme

6.14 The original three year capital budget, inclusive of the approved budget carry 
forward from 2017-18 is £21,759,163. This comprises planned expenditure of 
£17,379 163 in 2018-19, £2,340,000 in 2019-20 and £2,040,000 in 2020-21.

6.15 The proposed revised three year capital budget is £21,047,975, comprising the 
original capital budget of £21,759,163, net capital (savings) bids of £711,188 and 
profiling adjustments is summarised in Table 24.

Table 24: Proposed revised capital programme 
Revised expenditure profile1

Original 
budget 

Budget 
change 

(new bids)
Revised 
Budget 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Gross expenditure  
Economic Growth 13,149 (9,000) 4,149 2,296 1,853 0
Corporate Resources 369 6,000 6,369 269 5,100 1,000
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 6,171 (1,672) 4,499 2,349 1,150 1,000
Environmental Quality 700 3,891 4,661 3,856 805 0
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 1,250 160 1,090 0
Transformation 120 0 120 40 40 40
Total Expenditure: 21,759 (781) 21,048 8,970 10,038 2,040
Financed by:  

External grant funding:

Disabled Facilities Grant (BCF) 3,434 328 3,762 1,762 1,000 1,000
SCP Housing grant 209 0 209 176 33 0
ERDF grant 1,500 0 1,500 669 831 0
LEP Growth Deal 5,000 (5,000) 0 0 0 0
Coastal Communities Fund 1,000 0 1,000 160 840 0
Other grants - Solway Coast 250 0 250 0 250 0
Other grants - Harrington 105 0 105 105 0 0
ABC resources & borrowing
Capital Receipts 277 0 277 177 100 0
Earmarked Reserves 16 0 16 16 0 0
Revenue Budget 4 0 4 4 0 0
General Fund 453 0 453 453 0 0
Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) 9,511 3,891 13,472 5,448 6,984 1,040
Total financing 21,759 (781) 21,048 8,970 10,038 2,040

1 inclusive of re-profiling adjustments

Page 72



Financing of Capital Expenditure 

6.16 The net capital savings bids of £711,188 outlined above include:

 growth bids of £3,961,251 funded from borrowing

 growth bids of £327,561 and savings bid of £5,000,000 funded from grants 
(£2,672,439 net) 

6.17 The growth bids of £3,961,251, funded from borrowing, will increase the total 
amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing over the three years 
covered by the revised capital programme to £13,472,000. This expenditure will 
be met from additional loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and 
from use of the Council’s cash and investment balances (internal borrowing).

6.18 Expenditure which is unfinanced (and funded either from PWLB loans or internal 
borrowing) will require the Council to make an annual charge to its general fund 
to meet the capital cost of this expenditure. This charge, known as the minimum 
revenue provision (MRP), is calculated in accordance with the Council’s 
approved MRP policy and is normally charged from the financial year following 
the one in which the expenditure is incurred. Any expenditure which is 
unfinanced (i.e. met from borrowing) will therefore generate an increase in the 
amount of MRP included in the revenue budget.

6.19 The draw-down of additional PWLB loans will also increase the amount of 
interest payable. The estimated impact of the revised capital programme on the 
Council’s MRP and interest costs in shown in table 25. Based on updated 
interest rate forecasts provided by the Council’s Treasury advisors, and 
estimated additional PWLB borrowing of up to £13m over the three years to 
March 2021, it shows that between 2017-18 and 2021-22 interest and MRP costs 
are forecast to increase from £1.4m to £2.7m.

Table 25: Impact of revised capital programme on Interest and MRP costs 
2017/18 
actual 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Original budget  
MRP 623 714 942 1,021 1,085
Interest 764 989 1,093 1,100 1,087
Total revenue charge 1,387 1,703 2,035 2,121 2,172
Revised Budget – impact of bids 
MRP 623 671 1,169 1,507 1,570
Interest 764 845 1,084 1,172 1,149
Total revised revenue charge 1,387 1,516 2,253 2,679 2,719
Increase/(decrease) in MRP & Interest 
charge (187) 218 558 547

Page 73



Capital Resources

6.20 The impact of the revised capital programme and proposed funding on the levels 
of capital resources (capital receipts and capital grants) available to the Council 
is summarised in table 26. The impact of the Council’s General Fund and 
Earmarked (General Fund) balances is set out in section 7 of this report.

Table 26: Capital receipts and grants available to fund the capital programme
Grant & contributionsCapital 

Receipts Housing Non-housing
£000 £000 £000

Balance as at 31 March 2018 458 845 191
Received during 2018-19 167 1,125 1,070
Forecast to be received in 2018-19a 0 0 704
Available for allocation 625 1,970 1,965
Allocation:
Financing proposed capital budget 2018-19 (277) (1,937) (934)
Financing budget after 2019-20 0 (33) (840)
Ring-fenced resources not yet brought into 
budget (45) - (191)

Balance unallocated 303 0 0
a: Subject to satisfactory outcome of funding applications currently in progress 

6.21 The items identified as 'Ring-fenced resources’ comprise:
 £45,000 relating to proceeds from the sale of Workington Hall Lodge, ring-

fenced for improvements to Hall Park.
 £191,213 relating to a number of specific capital grants.

6.22 Capital receipts included in table 26 do not include anticipated receipts from 
disposals expected to be completed in 2018-19.

6.23 The Council is currently progressing disposal of a number of properties. These 
will generate capital receipts that may, once received, be applied to finance 
capital expenditure or repay borrowing. However, until such time as these 
disposals are completed, the associated receipts are not allocated to finance the 
capital programme.  This avoids the potential impact on the Council’s general 
fund if the anticipated capital receipts are not received and the past financing 
decisions need to be unwound.

6.24 Any additional capital receipts received after the date of this report, will be 
considered as part of the 2019-20 budget setting process. 

Page 74



7.0 Impact on General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balances

General Fund balances 

7.1 The impact of the proposed revisions to the 2018-19 revenue and capital budgets 
on the Council’s general fund and earmarked general fund balances (Earmarked 
Reserves) is summarised the following tables.

Table 27 - Estimated General Fund (GF) balances 
Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget Change

£'000 £'000 £'000
Opening Balances 4,446 4,446 0
Adjustment to reflect the 2017/18 outturn position 475 475 0
Audited Balance at 1 April 2018 4,921 4,921 0
Add: Release of Earmarked Reserves to GF 0 0 0
Less: Approved use for 2018-19 capital programme1 (453) (453) 0
Less: Use of GF to support 2018-19 Revenue Budget  (444) (424) 20
Forecast balance at 31 March 2019 4,024 4,044 20
Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) 0

Available for Use 1,324 1,344 20
1 budget carried forward from 2017-18

Review of Earmarked Reserves 

7.2 The Council has a number of earmarked reserves, all of which have been 
created for a specific purpose. They include amounts: 

 set aside to meet planned future expenditure 
 retained for service departmental use – including budgets carried 

forward from prior years to meet known commitments 
 relating to unspent revenue grants where there are restrictions on use 
 set aside as a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events 

or transactions. 

7.3 The original budgeted use of earmarked reserves was set before the 2017-18 
outturn position and before the approval of carry forward requests. The revised 
budget therefore includes adjustments to reflect the available balance of reserves 
and the expected timing of expenditure from those reserves. 

7.4 The Earmarked Reserve Balance at 1 April 2018 of £3,804k can be split as 
follows:

 £2,372k held for service expenditure
 £1,432k held for accounting purposes or as contingency against 

specified risks.

Page 75



7.5 The balance at 31 March 2018 is currently forecast to be spent as follows: 

Table 28 - Estimated Earmarked General Fund balances 
Original 
Budget

Current 
Budget1

Revised 
Budget

£'000 £'000
Opening Balances 1 April 2017 5,201 5,201 5,201
Projected movement in 2017/18 (1,411) (1,411) (1,411)
Adjustment to reflect 2017/18 revenue outturn - 14 14
Balance at 1 April 2018 3,790 3,804 3,804
Less: Release to General Fund 0 0 0
Add planned Contributions to Earmarked Reserves 35 60 60
Less: Planned use in 2018-19 - revenue (1,050) (1,874) (1,750)
Less: Release to support Corporate Priority budget 0 0 (500)
Less: Planned use in 2018-19 - capital (16) (16) (16)
Forecast balance at 31 March 2019 2,759 1,974 1,598

1 adjusted to reflect 2017-18 outturn and budget carry forwards

7.6 Earmarked reserves are subject to ongoing monitoring and review to ensure they 
are held in-line with Council priorities and that the balance remains at the 
appropriate level. Further details of the planned use of earmarked reserves are 
set out in Appendix B.

7.7 The release of £500k from earmarked reserves, from previously unused NNDR 
funding, will be used to support the Council’s strategic priorities. This revision 
reduces the total balance of reserves held to meet contingencies from £1,432k to 
£932k.

8.0 Treasury Management

Treasury Management activity 

8.1 A summary of treasury management activity during the three months to 30 
September and year to date, including details of investment and borrowing 
transactions and information about the Council’s investment and loans portfolios 
is contained in Appendix C.

Treasury and Prudential Indicators

8.2 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans 
and other forms of credit. The processes the Council must follow in setting these 
limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set out in the Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities to which the Council is required to ‘have 
regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act. In addition to the 
Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes and 

Page 76



accompanying sector guidance, include a number of other key treasury 
management indicators designed to support and record local decision making in 
connection with capital and treasury activities.

8.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under 
the Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond which 
external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits required 
by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes were set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 
2018-19. This was approved by the Full Council on 7 March 2018.

8.4 During the quarter ended 30 September 2018, the Council has operated within 
the limits established by the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2018-19.  

8.5 Further information relating to the Council’s treasury management activities 
during the six month period ending 30 September 2018 and compliance with the 
approved treasury and prudential indicators for 2018-19, can be found in the 
Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2018-19. This is presented 
as a separate item on the Council Agenda.

9.0 Updated Medium Term Plan

9.1 The Council’s medium term financial plan (MTFP) 2018-19 to 2021-22 has been 
updated to incorporate this revised budget. A copy of the updated plan is set out 
in the 2019-20 Budget Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan Update report 
presented as a separate item on this Agenda.

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services 

Supporting Appendices:
Appendix A - Detailed current and revised capital budgets – 2018-19 to 2020-21
Appendix B - Revised position on Earmarked Reserves
Appendix C - Summary of Treasury Management Activity 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Appendix A

Current and Revised Capital Budget 2018 - 19 to 2020 - 21

Current

Budget 

Budget

Changes  Proposed 

Proposed

Budget 

Proposed

Budget 

Proposed

Budget 

(new bids) Budget 2018 - 19 2019 - 20 2020 - 21
Description £ £ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Strategic Acquisitions 745,700 0 745,700 277,327 468,373 0

Lillyhall - Land Purchase 753,000 0 753,000 753,000 0 0

Lillyhall Development 9,000,000 (9,000,000) 0 0 0 0

Reedlands Road Development 2,550,000 0 2,550,000 1,164,968 1,385,032 0

Kirkgate Centre Contribution 100,000 0 100,000 100,000 0 0

TOTAL - Economic Growth 13,148,700 (9,000,000) 4,148,700 2,295,295 1,853,405 0

Public Toilets Review Works 114,127 0 114,127 114,127 0 0

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre 25,000 0 25,000 25,000 0 0

Helena Thompson Museum Development 180,000 0 180,000 80,000 100,000 0

Workington Hall Repair Scheme 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0 0

Strategic Priorities and Regeneration 0 6,000,000 6,000,000 0 5,000,000 1,000,000

TOTAL -  Corporate Resources 369,127 6,000,000 6,369,127 269,127 5,100,000 1,000,000

The Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 2,394,362 123,445 2,517,807 1,017,807 750,000 750,000

Discretionary Grants 1,039,686 204,116 1,243,802 743,802 250,000 250,000

Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 198,882 0 198,882 198,882 0 0

Healthy Homes 2,000,000 (2,000,000) 0 0 0 0

Securing Affordable Homes 90,290 0 90,290 40,290 50,000 0

Flood Resilience 285,000 0 285,000 185,000 100,000 0

Housing Improvement Projects 145,373 0 145,373 145,373 0 0

Central Heating Fund 17,510 0 17,510 17,510 0 0

TOTAL - Housing, Health & Wellbeing 6,171,103 (1,672,439) 4,498,664 2,348,664 1,150,000 1,000,000

Harrington Reservoir 174,500 0 174,500 174,500 0 0

Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 300,000 0 300,000 150,000 150,000 0

Fleming Square restoration 26,413 0 26,413 26,413 0 0

Car Park - signage and equipment 59,320 0 59,320 59,320 0 0

Highfield Community Centre 140,000 0 140,000 140,000 0 0

Waste Contract - vehicle acquisition costs 0 3,171,251 3,171,251 3,171,251 0 0

Waste Contract - bin acquisition costs 0 720,000 720,000 100,000 620,000 0

Keswick Car Park - Enhancement 0 70,000 70,000 35,000 35,000 0

TOTAL -Localities & Environmental 700,233 3,961,251 4,661,484 3,856,484 805,000 0

Solway Coast Pathway 1,250,000 0 1,250,000 160,100 1,089,900 0

TOTAL - Corporate Management Team 1,250,000 0 1,250,000 160,100 1,089,900 0

IT Equipment 120,000 0 120,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

TOTAL - OD & Transformation 120,000 0 120,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

TOTAL - Capital Expenditure 21,759,163 (711,188) 21,047,975 8,969,670 10,038,305 2,040,000

CAPITAL FINANCING

DFG Housing Grant 3,434,048 327,561 3,761,609 1,761,609 1,000,000 1,000,000

SCP Housing Grant 208,889 0 208,889 175,889 33,000 0

ERDF grant - Reedlands Road Development 1,500,000 0 1,500,000 668,981 831,019 0

LEP Growth Deal funding - Lillyhall Development
5,000,000 (5,000,000) 0 0 0 0

Coastal Communities Fund grant - Solway Coast 

Pathway 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 160,100 839,900 0

Other grants - Solway Coast Pathway 250,000 0 250,000 0 250,000 0

Other grants and contributions - Harrington 

Reservoir 105,000 0 105,000 105,000 0 0

11,497,938 (4,672,439) 6,825,499 2,871,580 2,953,919 1,000,000

Capital Receipts 277,000 0 277,000 177,000 100,000 0

Revenue Earmarked Reserves 16,000 0 16,000 16,000 0 0

Revenue (from parks development budget - 

Harrington Nature Reserve) 3,500 0 3,500 3,500 0 0

General Fund Balances 452,947 0 452,947 452,947 0 0

Prudential Borrowing 9,511,778 3,961,251 13,473,029 5,448,643 6,984,386 1,040,000

10,261,226 3,961,251 14,222,477 6,098,090 7,084,386 1,040,000

TOTAL - Capital Financing 21,759,163 (711,188) 21,047,975 8,969,670 10,038,305 2,040,000

OD & Transformation

Economic Growth

 Corporate Resources

Housing, Health & Wellbeing

Environmental Quality

Tourism & Culture

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



Appendix B

Reserves

Reserves 

Balance at 

01/04/18

Transfer 

between 

reserves 

Release of reserves

Balance After 

Transfers & 

Re-allocation

Proposed 2018-19  

Revenue Reserve Budget 

Proposed 2018-19  

Capital Reserve Budget 

Proposed 2019-20 

Revenue Reserve 

Budget

Proposed 2020-21 

Revenue Reserve 

Budget

Held as Accounting/

Contingency 

reserves

Corporate Priorities - Credit Union 153,600 153,600 60,000 41,000 52,600

Corporate Priorities - Inequality 210,700 210,700 86,500 62,500 61,700

Corporate Priorities 13,096 13,096 13,096

Corporate Transformation 83,266 (22,602) 60,664 60,664

Planning Policy 26,125 26,125 26,125

Local Development Framework 50,742 50,742 50,742

Health & Well-being Group 442 3,000 3,442 3,442

Self Build Custom Build (SBCB) 27,980 27,980 16,311 11,669

Biannual Communications & Marketing Surveys 6,000 6,000 6,000

Financial Planning & Economic Growth 6,000 6,000 6,000

577,950 (19,602) 0 558,349 328,880 0 115,169 114,300 0

Communication & Marketing 45,293 45,293 45,293

Shop front scheme 20,487 20,487 20,487

Tenanted Property Repairs 9,200 9,200 9,200

Repair Works Cockermouth Market Place 30,000 30,000 30,000

Festivals & Community Events 8,915 8,915 8,915

113,895 0 0 113,895 113,895 0 0 0 0

Risk Management 79,998 79,998 25,000 54,998

Direct Debits & System Developments 29,061 29,061 29,061

Footway Lighting Scheme 63,391 63,391 13,200 13,200 36,991

Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 16,046 16,046 16,046

188,495 0 0 188,495 67,261 16,046 13,200 91,989 0

Homelessness 10,001 10,001 10,001

Community Housing Fund 734,506 734,506 734,506

Major Incident Response 99,091 99,091 53,937 45,154

843,598 0 0 843,598 798,444 0 45,154 0 0

Off-Street Parking 10,272 10,272 10,272

Bereavement - System upgrade 6,636 6,636 6,636

Major Contract Procurement Reserve 1 22,602 22,603 22,603

Leisure Activities 4,850 4,850 4,850

Environmental Initiatives 11,195 11,195 11,195

Sports Development 7,700 7,700 7,700

MSCP - Ongoing maintenance 51,800 51,800 26,800 25,000

92,454 22,602 0 115,056 90,056 0 0 25,000 0

Legal Counsel 67,491 67,491 67,491

Provision for Elections 70,000 70,000 70,000

IER work -Elections 9,000 9,000 9,000

Allerdale Options 16,034 (3,000) 13,034 13,034

 Leader of the Council

Economic Growth

Corporate Resources

Housing, Health & Wellbeing

Environmental Quality

Governance & People Resources

P
age 81



Appendix B

Reserves

Reserves 

Balance at 

01/04/18

Transfer 

between 

reserves 

Release of reserves

Balance After 

Transfers & 

Re-allocation

Proposed 2018-19  

Revenue Reserve Budget 

Proposed 2018-19  

Capital Reserve Budget 

Proposed 2019-20 

Revenue Reserve 

Budget

Proposed 2020-21 

Revenue Reserve 

Budget

Held as Accounting/

Contingency 

reserves

Land Registry digitization 12,742 12,742 12,742

Licensing Service Re-design 2,203 2,203 2,203

Community Safety 50,951 50,951 50,951

Transfer of Land Charges Data 36,545 36,545 36,545

Legal advice re GDPR 20,000 20,000 20,000

284,967 (3,000) 0 281,967 144,476 0 137,491 0 0

Tourism Incentive 22,500 22,500 22,500

Museums 25,000 25,000 25,000

Solway AONB 44,438 44,438 44,438

91,938 0 0 91,938 47,500 0 44,438 0 0

Purchase of Equipment (Enveloper) 2,459 2,459 2,459

IT Services - corporate printers 23,229 23,229 5,000 5,000 13,229

Fraud Reduction 5,000 5,000 5,000

Housing Benefits New Ways of Working 30,000 30,000 30,000

ARCUS System 117,423 117,423 117,423

178,111 0 0 178,111 159,882 0 5,000 13,229 0

Section 31 NNDR 360,000 (198,286) 161,714 161,714

Business Rate Income 200,000 (200,000) 0

NNDR Rate Pool Volatility Fund 101,714 (101,714) 0

Business Rate Income 621,000 621,000 621,000

AIP Loan Notes 112,672 112,672 112,672

Emergency Planning - Flooding 28,260 28,260 28,260

Hugh Barbour Bequest 8,661 8,661 8,661

1,432,307 0 (500,000) 932,307 0 0 0 0 932,307

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES 3,803,716 0 (500,000) 3,303,716 1,750,394 16,046 360,451 244,518 932,307

Tourism & Culture

Transformation

Corporate Resources - * held for accounting purposes or as contingency against specified risks

P
age 82



Appendix C

Summmary of Treasury Management Activity

 Investment Activity Quarter 2  Investment Activity 2018/19 year to date

30-Jun-18

Made Repaid Made Repaid

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Call Accounts AA 552 8,543 (6,570) 2,525 Call Accounts  AA- 822 12,398 (10,695) 2,525

Call Accounts A/A- 818 6,964 (6,933) 849 Call Accounts  A / A- 796 11,641 (11,588) 849

Notice Accounts A 0 0 0 0 Notice Accounts A 0 0 0 0

Money Market Funds AAA 8,950 10,675 (9,825) 9,800 Money Market Funds AAA 5,515 30,050 (25,765) 9,800

Equity Shares - 11 0 0 11 Equity Shares Not rated 11 0 0 11

Total 10,331 26,182 (23,328) 13,185 7,144 54,089 (48,048) 13,185

Comment:

At 30 September 2018  investment balances totalled £13.2m. This compares with a balance of £10.3m at 30 June 2018. The average investment balance during the quarter

was £16.m (Quarter 1: £11.7m); In accordance with the Council's approved Investment Strategy all investments made during the quarter and  year to date were restricted

to approved investment instruments with counterparties holding minimum credit ratings of A-. The term of all investments made did not exceed the maxium permitted durations determined 

by reference to the creditworthiness of the counterparty 

Borrowing Activity Quarter 2 Borrowing Activity 2018/19 year to date

01-Jul-18
New 

Borrowing

Borrowing 

Repaid
30-Sep-18 01-Apr-18

New 

Borrowing

Borrowing 

Repaid
30-Sep-18

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Long-term Long-term

PWLB – fixed rates 15,350 0 (126) 15,224 PWLB – fixed rates 15,380 0 (156) 15,224

Short-term Short-term

Local Bonds 31 0 0 31 Local Bonds 31 0 0 31

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54 Trust Funds 54 0 0 54

15,435 0 (126) 15,309 15,465 0 (156) 15,309

Comment:

No new borrowing or rescheduling of existing loans has taken place during the financial year to date. At 30 September the total premature redemtion premium payable was £ 12.7m

(30 June 2018: £13.8m)

01-Apr-18
Investments

Specified Investments 

Non Specified Investments

Credit 

Rating

Non specified investments

Credit 

Rating

01-Jul-18
Investments 

30-Sep-18

Specified investments

P
age 83



Appendix C

Composition of PWLB loans protfolio Maturity profile of borrowing

 30 Sept 

2018

 30 June 

2018

 31 March 

2018

 30 Sept 

2017

 31 March 

2017

 30 Sept 

2018

 30 June 

2018

 31 March 

2018
30-Sep-17 31-Mar-17

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maturity loans 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 Less than 1 year 401 401 398 315 312

Annuity loans 1,664 1,670 1,700 1,734 1,767 Between 1 & 2yrs 323 323 320 236 233

EIP Loans 5,560 5,680 5,680 3,760 3,840 Between 2 & 5yrs 1,018 1,016 1,005 753 742

Total 15,224 15,350 15,380 13,494 13,607 Between 5 & 10yrs 1,906 1,900 1876 1447 1,419

Redemption Value 28,124 29,307 25,598 26,762 28,122 Between 10 & 20yrs 2,901 2,915 2,986 2,268 2,346

Between 20 & 30yrs 760 880 880 560 640

Average interest  % 5.44% 5.42% 5.42% 5.86% 5.80% Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 7,000

Average maturity (Yrs) 29 30 30 31 31 Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 0 0 1,000

Weighted average life (Yrs) 25 25 25 27 28

15,309 15,435 15,465 13,579 13,692

P
age 84



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2018/19

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 26 November 2018. It is for Council to consider its 
response.

Recommended – That Council be requested to agree that the contents of the 
report be noted.

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 85

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 26 November 2018

Council – 5 December 2018

Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2018/19

The Reason for the Decision To inform members of the Council’s treasury 
management activities during the six month 
period ending 30th September 2018. This report 
also provides assurances that treasury 
management activities have been undertaken in 
accordance with the Council’s approved Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy.

Recommendations That the contents of this report are noted.
Financial / Resource Implications None.  
Legal / Governance Implications The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities require the 
Council to report regularly on specific aspects of 
its treasury management activities. 

Community Safety Implications None. 
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime 
criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.  

Equality Duty considered /Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected None directly
The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

None directly

Is this a key decision? No
Portfolio Holder Cllr. B Cannon
Lead Officer Barry Lennox 

Financial Services Manager   
Ext: 2586 
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 87



Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1.0     Introduction

1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Treasury 
Management Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code) requires the Council to report regularly on its 
treasury management activities. 

1.2 The Treasury Management Code recommends that local authorities should, as a 
minimum, ensure that the Full Council receives: 

• before the start of the year, an annual report on the strategy and plan to be 
pursued in the coming year (Council - 07/03/2018)

• a mid-year review (this report)
• after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the treasury 

management function, on the effects of the decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in the past year and on any circumstances of non-
compliance with the authority’s treasury management policy statement.

1.3 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices require treasury management reports - including the mid-
year report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to consideration by Full 
Council. 

2.0 Scope

2.1 This mid-year report has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management 2017 Edition and covers:

i. an update on the economic environment for the first six months of the 
financial year 2018/19 (section 3)

ii. updated interest rate forecasts (section 4)
iii. Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 

Strategy update (section 5)
iv. a review of the Council’s investment  and borrowing activities during the 

period 1st April to 30th September 2018 (sections 6 and 7)
v. a review of compliance with the Council’s treasury and prudential indicators 

for 2018/19 (section 8).

Page 88



3.0 Economic Update 

U.K.

3.1 After posting GDP growth of 1.8% year-on-year in the third quarter of 2017, 
growth fell to 1.4% year-on-year in the fourth quarter of 2017; the weakest pace 
of expansion since the second quarter of 2012. Since then the first half of 2018 
has seen UK economic growth post more modest performance. Quarterly 
National Accounts show GDP grew by 0.1% in quarter 1 (Jan.to March) 
reflecting, at least in part, the temporary impact of adverse weather, before 
recovering to 0.4% in quarter 2 (April to June). The latest three month rolling 
estimates show growth of 0.6% (1.2 y/y) in the three months to July and 0.7% in 
three months to August 2018. Underlying this modest performance is continued 
subdued real consumer spending growth and the drag on business investment 
from the ongoing economic and political uncertainty associated with the outcome 
of the Brexit negotiations.

3.2 Despite this modest growth, this was deemed sufficiently robust for the Monetary 
Policy Committee, (MPC) to unanimously vote (9-0) to increase Bank Rate on 
2nd August from 0.5% to 0.75%. Although growth looks as if it will only be 
modest at around 1.5% in 2018, the Bank of England’s August Quarterly Inflation 
Report forecast growth to pick up to 1.8% in 2019, albeit there were several 
caveats to this. These mainly related to whether or not the UK achieves an 
orderly withdrawal from the European Union in March 2019.

3.3 Some MPC members have expressed concerns about a build-up of inflationary 
pressures, particularly with the pound falling in value again against both the US 
dollar and the Euro. The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has 
remained above the MPC’s 2% target throughout the period, pushed above 
target by external cost pressures resulting from the effects of sterling’s past 
depreciation and higher energy prices. After remaining steady at 2.4% between 
April and June, CPI rose unexpectedly to 2.7% in August before falling back to 
2.4% in September. The increase in August was in part, due to higher energy 
and utilities prices, but price rises for some volatile items also pushed up the core 
rate. RPI inflation fell marginally from 3.4% in April to 3.3% in September.

3.4 CPI Inflation is expected to fall back to the 2% inflation target over the next two to 
three years given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate. The MPC has 
indicated the Bank Rate would need to be in the region of 1.5% by March 2021 
for inflation to stay on track. Financial markets are currently pricing in the next 
increase in Bank Rate for the second half of 2019.

3.5 The labour market has remained resilient with the number and proportion of 
people in work remaining close to record levels. This is despite some predictions 
that unemployment would rise following the Brexit vote. The employment rate 
(the proportion of people aged from 16 to 64 years who were in work) for the 
period June to August 2018 was 75.5%, lower than for March to May 2018 
(75.7%) but higher than for a year earlier (75.1%). Whilst employment growth has 
softened in recent months amid dwindling levels of spare capacity in the labour 
market, various measured of hiring intentions and surveys of employment growth 
suggest that firms’ demand for workers will remain robust in the short-term.

Page 89



3.6 Unemployment meanwhile has continued at a 43 year low of 4% on the 
Independent Labour Organisation measure. A combination of job vacancies 
hitting an all-time high in July, coupled with negligible growth in total employment 
numbers, indicates that employers are now having major difficulties filling job 
vacancies with suitable staff and putting upward pressure on wage growth.  

3.7 Reflecting the tightening in the labour market, headline annual wage growth, 
(three-month average excluding bonuses) picked up to 2.9% in the three months 
to July. On the single-month measure the figure was 3.1%, the quickest pace 
since July 2015 and much faster than the 2.5% average for the first half of 2018. 
Surveys of pay settlements and recruitment difficulties point to earnings growth 
picking up further towards the end of the year.

3.8 In the three months to August 2018 wage inflation picked up to 3.1%, (3 month 
average regular pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms, (i.e. 
wage rates less CPI inflation), earnings are currently growing by about 0.7%, the 
highest level since 2009. Given the UK economy is very much services sector 
driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into 
providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming 
months. This tends to confirm that the MPC were right to start on a cautious 
increase in Bank Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% as 
increasing inflationary pressures within the UK economy.  However, the MPC will 
need to tread cautiously before increasing Bank Rate again, especially given the 
uncertainties around Brexit.  

3.9 In the political arena, there is a risk that the current Conservative minority 
government may be unable to muster a majority in the Commons over Brexit.  
The view held by the Council’s treasury advisors is that the government will 
endure, despite various setbacks, along the route to Brexit in March 2019.  If 
however, the UK faces a general election in the next 12 months, this could result 
in a potential loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium to longer dated 
gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around 
inflation picking up.
U.S.

3.10 In the US, a massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in 
consumption which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth. Growth 
rose from 2.2% (annualised rate), in quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2 and 3.5% 
(3.0%y/y) in quarter 3. It has however also contributed to an upturn in inflationary 
pressures. With inflation moving towards 3%, the Federal Reserve (the Fed.) 
increased rates by a further 0.25% in September to between 2.00% and 2.25%, 
the fourth increases in 2018. The Federal Reserve also indicated that it expected 
to increase rates four more times by the end of 2019. The dilemma, however, is 
what to do when the temporary boost to consumption wanes, particularly as the 
recent imposition of tariffs on a number of countries’ exports to the US (China in 
particular), could see a switch to US production of some of those goods, but at 
higher prices.  Such a scenario would invariably make any easing of monetary 
policy harder for the Fed in the second half of 2019.

3.11 However, a combination of an expected four increases in rates of 0.25% by the 
end of 2019, together with a waning of the boost to economic growth from the 

Page 90



fiscal stimulus in 2018, could combine to depress growth below its potential rate, 
i.e. monetary policy may prove to be too aggressive and lead to a reverse of 
policy. 

3.12 The tariff war between the US and China has been generating a lot of heat during 
2018. Although it is not expected that the current level of actual action would 
have much in the way of a significant effect on US or world growth, there is a risk 
of escalation.

Eurozone

3.12 Growth was unchanged at 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 of 2018 but fell back to 0.2% 
in quarter 3, though this is probably a temporary dip. Growth has therefore 
undershot early forecasts for a stronger economic performance in 2018. In 
particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it could be negatively 
impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   
For that reason, although growth is still expected to be in the region of 2% for 
2018, the horizon is less clear than it seemed just a short while ago. 

3.13 The ECB left its guidance that interest rates are unlikely to rise until Q3 2019 
more or less unchanged at its most recent meeting. However, the ECB confirmed 
that monthly asset purchases would be cut from €30bn to €15bn from October to 
December, as indicated, and then come to an end in December. Inflationary 
pressures are starting to build gently so it is expected that the ECB will start to 
increase rates towards the end of 2019.

Asia

3.14 Chinese economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. 
Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and 
the stock of unsold property and address the level of non-performing loans in the 
banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the rate of 
credit creation, particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding 
through into lower economic growth. However concerns remain over whether 
official economic statistics are inflating the published rate of growth.

3.15 Japan is struggling to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get inflation 
up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also 
making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. It is likely that 
loose monetary policy will endure for some years yet to try to stimulate growth 
and modest inflation.

Emerging countries. 

3.16 Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds and are facing 
challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their reserves of 
foreign exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the overall 
world economy (around 1% each), so the fallout from the expected recessions in 
these countries will be minimal.

Page 91



4.0 Interest Rate Forecasts

4.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast. 

Table 1: Forecast interest rates (certainty rates1)
Quarter 
ending

Bank 
rate

PWLB 5yr 
rate

PWLB 10yr 
rate

PWLB 25yr 
rate

PWLB 50yr 
rate

% % % % %
Actual Sept 18 0.75 1.93 2.33 2.74 2.56

Dec-18 0.75 2.00 2.50 2.90 2.70
Mar-19 0.75 2.10 2.50 3.00 2.80
Jun-19 0.75 2.20 2.60 3.10 2.90
Sep-19 1.00 2.20 2.70 3.10 2.90
Dec-19 1.00 2.30 2.70 3.20 3.00
Mar-20 1.00 2.30 2.80 3.20 3.10
Jun-20 1.25 2.40 2.90 3.30 3.10
Sep-20 1.25 2.50 2.90 3.40 3.20
Dec-20 1.50 2.50 3.00 3.50 3.30
Mar-21 1.50 2.60 3.10 3.50 3.30

1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty 
rates apply to authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their plans for long-
term borrowing and associated capital spending.

4.2 Link Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 7 
August following the quarterly Bank of England Inflation Report and the decisions 
and forward guidance issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at 
its meeting on 2nd August.  

4.3  Following the flow of generally positive economic statistics since the end of the 
quarter ended 30th June, the Monetary Policy Committee took the decision on 2 
August to make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5% since the financial 
crash, to 0.75%.  However, the MPC emphasised again, that future Bank Rate 
increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium rate 
(where monetary policy is neither expansionary of contractionary), than before 
the crash; indeed they gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time but 
declined to give a medium term forecast. At its August meeting, the MPC also 
voted unanimously to maintain the stock of sterling non-financial investment-
grade corporate bond purchases and UK government bond purchases, financed 
by the issuance of central bank reserves.

4.4 The current expectation is that the MPC will not increase Bank Rate in February 
2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit. It is also considered more likely 
to wait until August 2019, than May 2019, before the next increase, to be 
followed by further increases of 0.25% in May and November 2020 to reach 
1.5%. However, the cautious pace of even these limited increases is dependent 
on a reasonably orderly Brexit.

4.5 The forecasts set out in the preceding table are predicated on an assumption 
that sufficient progress is made, in respect of negotiations, to produce a 

Page 92



reasonable agreement for Brexit that benefits both the EU and the UK in a 
sensible manner. If no agreement is reached at all, then the forecasts for 
increases in Bank rate and PWLB rates will be subject to greater change, 
most likely downwards.

4.6 Financial markets are currently expecting the next increase in Bank Rate to 
be in February 2019 and then only one more in February 2020, therefore 
ending March 2021 at only 1.25%.  However, the MPC have commented that 
the markets were too cautious with their view of the pace of increases.

4.7 Whilst geo-political events, sovereign debt issues and emerging market 
developments can all contribute to short-term volatility in financial markets, the 
overall longer run trend for gilt yields - and therefore PWLB rates - continues to 
be for rates to rise, albeit gently, over the forecast period. Aside from some minor 
advances in the pace of increase change, the expectations for future borrowing 
rates differ little from that set out in the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. 

4.8 At the present time, the overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is 
probably neutral.  However, economic forecasting remains difficult with so many 
external influences weighing on the UK. The interest rate forecasts set out in 
table1 (and also MPC decisions) will therefore be liable to further amendment 
depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets 
transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, 
could also have a major impact. 

4.9 The PWLB (certainty) rate forecasts included in table 1 are based around a 
balance of risks. Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates currently include: 

 the pace of Bank of England monetary policy action over the next three 
years (to raise the Bank Rate) causing weaker UK economic growth and 
increases in inflation than currently anticipated 

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to 
its high level of government debt, low rate of economic growth and 
vulnerable banking system. In addition, the election in March, of a 
government which has made a lot of anti-austerity noise, is likely to lead 
to friction with the EU when setting the target for the fiscal deficit in the 
national budget. Unsurprisingly, investors have taken a dim view of this 
and so Italian bond yields have been rising.

 Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary forming a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU while Italy, this year, has also elected a 
strongly anti-immigration government. In the German general election of 
September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable 
minority position as a result of the rise of the anti-immigration AfD party.  
To compound this, the result of the Swedish general election in 
September 2018 has left an anti-immigration party potentially holding the 
balance of power in forming a coalition government. The challenges from 
these political developments could put considerable pressure on the 
cohesion of the EU and could spillover into impacting the euro, EU 
financial policy and financial markets. 

Page 93



 the imposition of trade tariffs by President Trump impacting adversely on  
world growth. President Trump’s specific actions against Turkey pose a 
particular risk to its economy which could, in turn, negatively impact 
Spanish and French banks which have significant exposures to loans to 
Turkey 

 weak capitalisation of some European banks
 rising interest rates in the US negatively impacting on emerging countries 

that have borrowed heavily in dollar denominated debt and causing an 
investor flight to safe havens e.g. UK gilts 

 geopolitical risks in Asia (especially North Korea), Europe and the Middle 
East, leading to increased safe haven flows. 

4.10 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include:

 the pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate is too slow allowing 
inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, 
which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate 
faster than currently expected. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields. 

 President Trump’s fiscal plans to stimulate economic expansion 
triggering a significant increase in inflation in the US and causing further 
sell offs of government bonds in major western countries

 the pace and strength of increases in the Federal Funds Rate and 
reversal of Quantitative Easing, causing a fundamental reassessment by 
investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities,  
leading to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in 
bond yields in the US, which could then spillover into impacting bond 
yields around the world

5.0 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy update

5.1 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Annual 
Investment Strategy for 2018/19, was approved by Full Council on 7th March 
2018. The Annual Investment Strategy establishes, as the Council’s primary 
policy objective, the security of principal sums invested in priority to liquidity and 
yield. The Council will then aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity. However, yield will 
only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or more 
investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives.

Page 94



5.2 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on: 

 the counterparties with whom investments may be made based on an 
assessment of the creditworthiness of the counterparty 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 

the Council’s list of approved counterparties
 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 

financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty.  

5.3 During the six months to 30th September there have been no changes to the 
individual ratings of active investment counterparties. 

5.4 Economic developments and performance of financial markets during the period 
(including those affecting interest rate forecasts) do not require any changes to 
be made to the previously approved Treasury Management and Investment 
strategies. The Authority will therefore continue with its policy of investing in 
higher quality counterparties over relatively short maturities and postponing 
borrowing where possible, to minimise the cost of carry and counterparty risk.

6.0 Investment Activity

6.1 The investment market remains difficult in terms of earning the levels of interest 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the 
current 0.75% Bank Rate. 

6.2 The 7-day rate remained broadly stable between April and July 2018 before 
increasing sharply in August, as a result of the increase in Bank Rate. Over the 
course of the first six months the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.59% 
(14/9/18) and a low of 0.35% (19/7/18). The average 7-day rate for the six 
months to September was 0.43%. This compares with an average of 0.11% for 
the corresponding period last year and an average for the financial year 2017/18 
of 0.22%.

6.3 Investment rates for terms of three months and longer, fell during April and May 
after expectations collapsed that the MPC would raise Bank Rate at its May 
meeting. Rates reached lows at the end of May before rising steadily over the 
remainder of the period.

Page 95



Bank and Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID) 

6.4. At 30th September 2018 the Council’s investment balances (excluding cash in 
hand and bank current accounts) stood at £13.2m. This compares with a balance 
of £7.1m at 31st March 2018 and £12.1m at 30th September 2017. 

6.5 A summary of investment activity during the six months ending 30th September 
2018 - excluding ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Council’s Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategies - is included in table 2 below. 

Table 2: Investment activity 1.4.18 to 30.9.18 
Investments 1 April 

2018 Made Repaid
30 Sept 

2018Credit 
Rating

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Specified investments
Call Accounts AA 822 12,398 (10,695) 2,525

Call Accounts A/A- 796 11,641 (11,588) 849

Money Market Funds AAA 5,515 30,050 (25,765) 9,800

Non specified investments
Equity Shares - 11 0 0 11
Total  7,144 54,089 (48,048) 13,185

6.6 The average level of funds invested during the period was £14.03m. This 
compares with an average of £12.07m over the corresponding period in 2017/18. 
These funds were available on a temporary basis with the level of funds available 
mainly dependent on the timing of cash flows associated with precept and 
business rate payments, income from grants and local taxation (council tax and 
business rates) and payments related to the Council’s Capital Programme.

Page 96



6.7 In accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19, all investments 
made during the period were: 

 restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds and call 
accounts) with counterparties holding a minimum long-term rating across 
all three of the main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard 
& Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns) 

 for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations determined by 
reference to the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty and subject 
to a maximum maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition).

6.8 During the first six months of 2018/19, there were no breaches of the 
counterparty limits placed on the amount invested with any single institution or 
group of institutions on the Council’s list of approved counterparties. 

6.9 At 30th September forecast investment interest for the year to 31st March 2019 
was £32,775 against a budget of £19,980. The investment portfolio yield for the 
six months to 30th September was approximately 0.40%. This is broadly in line 
with the Council’s benchmark (7 day LIBID) rate which averaged 0.43% over the 
period April to September 2018. At 30th September the approximate rate of return 
(yield) on investments held (calculated on an annualised basis) was 0.61% (30th 

September 2017: 0.14%). This compares with the Council’s benchmark return (7-
day LIBID) rate at 30th September 2017 of 0.59% (30th September 2017: 
0.11%).

6.10 The forecast increase in interest receivable on investments in 2018/19, compared 
to budget, reflects the rise in investment rates since the budget was prepared. 
This increase in investment income has been reflected in the 2018/19 revised 
revenue budget by way of £12k virement to increase the investment income 
budget to a level consistent with current forecasts and address potential 
overspending against other budgets.

Page 97



7.0 Borrowing activities

7.1 No new borrowing was undertaken during the six months to 30th September 
2018. PWLB principal of £156k was repaid during the period.  A summary of 
borrowing transactions undertaken during the six months to 30th September 
2018 is set out in table 3 below.

7.2 By utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances and favourable cash flows the 
Council has been able to meet its liquidity requirements without the need to 
borrow externally. This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and 
reduce treasury risk by reducing its external investment balances. In the current 
economic climate - with low investment returns and relatively high counterparty 
risks - this is a prudent and cost effective approach, but will require ongoing 
monitoring in the event that upside risks to gilt yields prevail.

7.3 The Council’s 2018/19 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2018/19 of up to £5.4m to fund the 
Council’s capital programme. As a result of changes included in the Council’s 
revised 2018/19 capital programme, including the impact of the re-profiling of 
expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, anticipated 
(maximum) external borrowing requirements in 2018/19 has been revised down 
marginally to £5.2m.

7.4 The decision to draw down loans will be determined in accordance with the 
borrowing strategy set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement with the timing and amount of any additional borrowing reflecting:

 current and future liquidity (cash flow) requirements including in 
particular, amounts required to fund the Council’s capital programme

 expected future movements in interest rates 
 management of treasury risk.

Table 3: Borrowing activity 1.4.18 to 30.9.18 

01 Apr 2018 New 
Borrowing

Borrowing 
Repaid 30 Sept 2018

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Long-term     
PWLB – fixed rates 15,380 0 (156) 15,224

Short-term     

Local Bonds 31 0 0 31

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54

 15,465 0 (156) 15,309

7.5 At 30th September 2018 the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed 
rate: 

 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (1st April 2018: £8.0m)
 fixed rate annuity loans totalling £1.664m (1st April  2018: £1.70m)
 equal instalment of principal loans of £5.560m (1st April 2018: 

£5.680m).
Page 98



Interest charged on borrowings

7.6 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio 
range from 2.44% to 9.5%. The weighted average interest rate on the PWLB loan 
portfolio currently stands at 5.44% (30th September 2017: 5.86%).This compares 
with the following PWLB rates applying to new maturity, annuity and equal 
instalment of principal (EIP) loans at 30th September 2018 (table 4).

Table 4:  PWLB new loan & premature repayment rates at 30th September 2018 
Certainty1 Premature repayment2

Term Annuity
%

Maturity 
%

EIP 
%

Annuity 
%

Maturity 
%

EIP  
%

Over 4½ Years not over 5 1.71 1.93 1.71 0.77 0.96 0.77

Over 9½ Years not over 10 1.96 2.33 1.96 1.02 1.38 1.01

Over 24½ Years not over 25 2.53 2.74 2.49 1.60 1.82 1.56

Over 49½ Years not over 50 2.72 2.56 2.74 1.80 1.64 1.82

1 Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from standard new loan rates. They apply to new loans 
taken out by authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their long-term borrowing and 
capital spending plans. 

2 Premature repayment rates apply to loans which are being repaid early. 

7.7 The maturity structure of external borrowing at 30th September 2018 (principal 
only) is shown in table 5.

Table 5: Maturity profile of external borrowing
At 30 Sept 

2018
At 30 June 

2018
At 31 March 

2018
At 30 Sept 

2017 
At 31 March 

2017
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Less than 1 year 401 401 398 315 312
Between 1 & 2yrs 323 323 320 236 233
Between 2 & 5yrs 1,018 1,016 1,005 753 742
Between 5 & 10yrs 1,906 1,900 1876 1447 1,419
Between 10 & 20yrs 2,901 2,915 2,986 2,268 2,346
Between 20 & 30yrs 760 880 880 560 640
Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 7,000
Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 0 0 1,000

15,309 15,435 15,465 13,579 13,692

7.8 At 30th September 2018 the weighted average time to maturity of the Council’s 
PWLB debt portfolio was approximately 29 years. The weighted average life of 
the PWLB debt portfolio at 30th September 2018 was 25 years.

Page 99



7.9 At 30th September the full year forecast for interest payable on borrowings 
(adjusted to include the amortisation of deferred premia and discounts incurred in 
prior years) was £845k compared to an original budget of £989k. The difference 
of £144k reflects: 

 changes to the expected timing of capital expenditure (funded from 
borrowing) across financial years and the impact of these changes on the 
Authority’s external borrowing requirements and timing of borrowing

 revisions to interest rates to reflect the latest available forecasts

 lower interest cost applicable to borrowing undertaken in 2017/18 in 
comparison to that allowed for in the original budget.

7.10 The forecast reduction of interest costs has been accommodated in the 2018/19 
revised revenue budget by way of recurring and non-recurring savings 
adjustments.

7.11 The graph and table below shows that whilst PWLB rates were on a rising trend 
during the latter half of the second quarter there has been little consistent trend in 
rates during the current financial year to date. 

7.12 At 30th September the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at 
2.56%, up from 2.27% at the beginning of the financial year, while the 25-year 
rate ended the quarter at 2.64% compared to 2.55% at 3rd April 2018. This 
compares with forecasts included in the TMSS for 50 and 25-year maturities of 
2.8% and 3.0%.

PWLB Maturity Certainty Rates 2018-2019

Page 100



Table 6: PWLB certainty rates - 6 months ending 30th September 2018
1-Years

%
4½- 5 Years

%
9½-10 Years

%
24½- 25 Years

%
49½ - 50 Years

%
At 31.3.18 1.47 1.85 2.23 2.57 2.29
At 3.4.17 1.48 1.84 2.22 2.55 2.27
Low 1.28 1.67 2.09 2.50 2.25
High 1.57 1.99 2.43 2.83 2.64
At 30. 9.18 1.55 1.93 2.33 2.74 2.56
Average 1.46 1.84 2.25 2.64 2.41

Debt Rescheduling

7.13 The historic nature of the Council’s PWLB loans portfolio and the exclusive use of 
fixed rate loans mean that rates of interest applying to these loans are 
significantly higher than those currently applied to new PWLB loans. However, 
the differential between new borrowing rates (certainty rate) and the PWLB’s 
premature redemption rates makes rescheduling unviable at the present time. As 
a consequence, no debt rescheduling was undertaken during the 6 month period 
ending 30th September 2018.

7.14 At 30th September 2018 the redemption value of the Council’s PWLB debt - 
calculated using PWLB premature redemption rates - was £28.1m. This 
compares with a redemption value of £29.61m at 31st March 2018 and £26.8m at 
30th September 2017. 

7.15 The difference of £12.9m between the fair value and the principal outstanding of 
£15.2m (see table 3) reflects the premium that would be payable - as at 30th 
September - in order to repay the outstanding principal prematurely of £12.7m 
plus interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of £0.2m. 

8.0 Prudential Indicators 

8.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans 
and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council 
must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised limit for external debt’) is set 
out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities to which the 
Council is required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act.

8.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes and accompanying sector guidance include a number of 
other key treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council 
operates its treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include:

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year 

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) - the underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for current and the following two financial years

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings

Page 101



 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested longer than 
365 days.

8.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under 
the Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond which 
external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits required 
by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 
2018/19.

8.4 During the financial year to date, the Council has operated within the treasury 
and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and in compliance with the Council's Treasury Management Practices.  
The Council’s Prudential and Treasury Indicators are shown in Appendix 2.

8.5 At 30th September the Council’s gross external debt was £15.3m. The maximum 
external debt outstanding during the period was £15.5m (1st April 2018).This 
compares with: 

 a Capital Financing Requirement (the Council’s underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes) at 1st April 2018 of £18.9m and a forecast 
CFR at 31st March 2019 of £23.7m (based on the revised capital 
budget for 2018/19)

 an Operational Boundary (representing the Council’s expected 
maximum external debt based on probable events) of £26m, and 

 an Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing) of 
£28m. 

8.6 At 30th September 2018, the difference between the Operational Boundary 
(£26m) and the actual amount of external debt outstanding (£15.3m) is £10.7m. 
The key components of this difference are: 

 current under borrowing (at 30th September 2018) against the 
Council’s CFR of approximately £3.4m 

 borrowing of up to £7.4m (including £1.9m deferred from 2017/18) 
included in the Operational Boundary to accommodate the additional 
borrowing requirements in relation to the Council’s (original) capital 
expenditure plans for 2018/19.

8.7 As noted above, no additional borrowing has been undertaken during the first six 
months of 2018/19. By utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances and 
favourable cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the need to borrow up 
to the level of the CFR. In turn, this has allowed the Council to minimise 
borrowing costs and reduce overall treasury risk by reducing the level of its 
external investment balances.

8.8 The Council does not anticipate the need for any revisions to be made to the 
existing approved Operational Boundary or Authorised Borrowing Limit during the 
remainder of 2018/19.

Page 102



Appendix 1

Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID)

 Average 1 April 
to 28 Sept 2018

At 28 Sept     
2018

At 30 June     
2018

At 1 April 
2018

 %  %  % %
Bank Rate 0.58 0.75 0.5 0.5

7 days’ notice 0.43 0.59 0.36 0.36

1 month fixed 0.47 0.60 0.38 0.39

3 months fixed 0.61 0.67 0.55 0.59

6 months fixed 0.71 0.78 0.66 0.70

1 year fixed 0.87 0.94 0.84 0.88

Money market investment rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID)
 Bank Rate 7 day 1 month 3 months 6 months 1 year

High 0.75 0.59 0.6 0.68 0.78 0.94

Low 0.5 0.35 0.37 0.48 0.59 0.75

Average 0.58 0.43 0.47 0.61 0.71 0.87

Spread 0.25 0.24 0.23 0.21 0.19 0.19

High date 2/8/18 14/9/18 18/9/18 6/8/18 3/8/18 21/9/18

Low date 1/4/18 19/7/18 30/5/18 30/5/18 30/5/18 30/5/18

Page 103



Appendix 2
Prudential and treasury indicators

1 Indicators required by the Prudential Code 

1.1 The Prudential Code requires authorities to self-regulate the affordability, 
prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans by 
setting estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of prudential 
indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury management practices 
are in accordance with good practice. 

1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, Treasury 
Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are designed to support 
and record local decision making. They are not designed to be comparative 
performance indicators and should not be used for this purpose. 

1.3 Details of the Council’s approved prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19 
are summarised in the following sections together with:

 forecast outturn information for the year to 31st March 2019 based on 
outturn projections included in the Council’s Quarterly Finance Report to 
September 2018 

 updated estimates based on the proposed 2018/19 revised revenue 
and capital budgets 

 actuals at 30th September 2018.

2 Actual capital expenditure

2.1 Table A summarises the Council’s original and revised capital expenditure plans 
for 2018/19 and the actual capital expenditure incurred to 30th September 2018. 

Table A: Capital expenditure 2018/19
2018/19 

Approved
2018/19

Actual to 
30.9.18

2018/19
Forecast 

Outturn (Q2)

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget2 

£000 £000 £000 £000
General Fund Capital Expenditure 14,593 2,107 5,664 8,970
Financed by:
Capital receipts 0 97 177 177
Capital grants & contributions 9,043 1,282 2,872 2,872
Revenue (GF & Earmarked Reserves) 20 279 473 473
Total expenditure financed in year 9,063 1,658 3,522 3,522
Unfinanced capital expenditure: 
Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0
Unsupported borrowing 5,530 449 2,142 5,448
Total financed & unfinanced 14,593 2,107 5,664 8,970

1 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations 
since 2010/11.
2 Updated to reflect carry forward of budgets from 2017/18, re-profiling adjustments and capital 
bids included in the (proposed) revised capital budget 2018/19. 

Page 104



2.2 Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 
and includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with proper 
practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of 
the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 
2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued under section 
16(2) of the 2003 Act. 

2.3 The approved prudential indicator for capital expenditure of £14,593k reflects the 
capital budget approved by Full Council on 7th March 2018. The decrease of 
£5,623k between this and the revised indicator (£8,970k) - based on the 
proposed revised capital budget for 2018/19 - reflects: 

 approved capital budget carry forwards from 2017/18 of £2,786k

 additional capital bids included in the revised three year capital budget 
(2018/19 to 2020/21) of £(711)k, including net savings bids of £(1,366)k 
applicable to 2018/19

 reprofiling of approved budgets between financial years £(7,043)k.

2.4 At the end of September 2018 capital expenditure to date stood at £2,107k 
compared to a current budget - inclusive of budget carry forwards and other 
adjustments agreed as part of the 2017/18 capital outturn report - of £17,379k. A 
total of £3,556k is currently forecast to be spent against this budget during the 
period October 2018 to March 2019 with a further £3,043k forecast to be carried 
forward to 2019/20. The forecast carry forward of £3,043k and net outturn 
variance of £8,673k is reflected in the budget adjustments included in the revised 
2018/19 capital budget. 

2.5 The impact of the 2018/19 revised budget proposals on the capital expenditure 
indicator for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 is summarised below. Further details 
of the changes made to Authority’s capital expenditure plans are set out in the 
Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2018/19, presented to the 
Council’s Executive on 21st November 2018.

Table B: Capital expenditure – proposed revised budget 2017/18 -2019/20
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Indicator approved in TMSS 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
2017/18 budget carried forward 2,786 0 0 2,786
Original Budget 17,379 2,340 2,040 21,759
Re-profiling adjustments (3,043) 3,043 0 0

Reallocations & Re-profiling (net) (4,000) 4,000 0 0
Capital Growth & Savings (net) (1,366) 655 0 (711)
Revised Budget 8,970 10,038 2,040 21,048

3 Actual Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost of 

Page 105



capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants, 
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). The CFR also includes 
items of capital expenditure included in an authority’s balance sheet associated 
with other long term liabilities, such as assets held on finance leases, but 
excluding the underlying liability. The CFR does not necessarily correspond with 
an authority’s actual borrowing position which is determined in accordance with 
an authority’s treasury management strategy and practices. 

3.2 Capital expenditure not financed up-front through the application of capital 
grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will increase 
the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue provision or 
a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund will reduce the CFR.  

Table C: Capital financing requirement
2017/18 
Actual

2018/19 
Approved 
Estimate

2018/19 
Actual to 
30.9.18

2018/19 
Forecast 
Outturn 

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
CFR at 1 April 18,674 20,643 18,917 18,917 18,917

CFR at 31 March 18,917 25,460 18,695 20,338 23,694
Movement in CFR 243 4,817 (222) 1,421 4,777
Movement represented by:
Unfinanced expenditure 866 5,530 449 2,142 5,448

Less MRP (623) (713) (671) (671) (671)

Less Voluntary set aside 0 0 0 0 0

Movement in CFR 243 4,817 (222) 1,471 4,777

3.3 The key variable in the calculation of the CFR at 31st March 2019 is the level of 
unfinanced capital expenditure incurred during 2018/19. The amount of 
unfinanced capital expenditure included in the revised 2018/19 capital budget is 
£5,448k. This includes:

 £3,171k relating to expenditure on refuse collection vehicles  
 £867k in respect of the purchase of land at Lillyhall Industrial Park, 

and Reedlands Road industrial development
 £277k relating to strategic acquisitions. 

4 Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

4.1 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of prudence 
is that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose.  To ensure 
this is the case, gross external debt should not, except in the short-term, exceed 
the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next 
two financial years. 

4.2 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. Gross 
debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit 
arrangements). Table D compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR. Page 106



Table D: Gross debt & the CFR

31.3.18
Actual

Actual at 
30.9.18

2018/19 
Forecast 
Outturn1

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget1

2018/19 
Estimate 

(max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
PWLB 15,380 15,224 15,067 15,067 20,259
Other borrowing 85 85 85 85 85
Total debt 15,465 15,309 15,152 15,152 20,344
CFR at 1 April 18,674 18,917 18,917 18,917 18,917
Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure 866 449 2,142 5,448 5,448
Less: MRP (623) (671) (671) (671) (671)
CFR at 31 March 18,917 18,695 20,388 23,694 23,694
(Under)/Over borrowing (3,452) (3,386) (5,236) (8,542) (3,350)

1 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s existing loan portfolio at 30.9.18

4.3 At 31st March 2018, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital financing 
requirement by £3.45m and at 30th September 2018 by £3.39m. The decrease in 
the level of underborrowing during the six months to 30th September is £66k and 
is represented by:

 a net decrease in the CFR of £222k generated from unfinanced 
capital expediture incurred during the period less amounts set aside 
from revenue to finance capital expenditure 

 repayments of borrowing of £156k.

4.4 Based on the current forecast movement in the CFR outlined in section 3 above 
and the maturity profile of the Council’s existing loan portfolio, the forecast 
outturn (at 31st March 2019) is for the Council to be underborrowed by £8.54m.
Any additional borrowing undertaken during the period 1st October 2018 to 31st 
March 2019 will result in a commensurate reduction in the forecast under 
borrowing postion at 31st March 2019. Additional borrowing of £5.2m in 2018/19 
would reduce the forecasted level of underborrowing at the end of the financial 
year to £3.35m. 

5. Authorised limit for external debt 

5.1 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable Limit). 
It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt (excluding 
investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from other long-
term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the Affordable 
Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 
2003.

5.2 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements, pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. The 
Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or unforeseen 
cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and 

Page 107



other long-term liabilities. No change is required to the Authorised Limit for 
2018/19.

Table E: Authorised Limit for External Debt
2017/18 

Limit 
2017/18

Actual debt 
(max)

2018/19 
Limit 

30.9.18 
Actual 
debt

2018/19
Actual debt 

(max)1 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Borrowing 25,000 15,465 28,000 15,309 20,344
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
Total 25,000 15,465 28,000 15,309 20,344

1 inclusive of additional borrowing of up to £5.19m

6 Operational boundary for external debt

6.1 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the most 
likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum 
level of external debt projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary 
links directly to the Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the 
capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all 
purposes but without the additional headroom included within the Authorised 
Limit. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities.

Table F: Operational boundary for external debt
2017/18 

Limit 
2017/18

Actual debt 
(max)

2018/19 
Limit 

30.9.18 
Actual 
debt

2018/19
Actual debt 

(max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Borrowing 23,000 15,465 26,000 15,309 20,344
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
Total 23,000 15,465 26,000 15,309 20,344

6.2 Provided the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a year is 
unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to make 
changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be reported to the 
next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council. No change is required to 
the Operational Boundary for 2018/19.

Page 108



7 Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

7.1 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment income). 

Table G: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

2016/17 Actual 2017/18 Actual 2018/19 Estimate
2018/19

Forecast/revised 
estimate 

% % % %
Ratio 7.4 9.0 11.9 10.5

7.2 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of:
 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing
 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities
 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 

the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers  
 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy investments 

falling out with the Council’s Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies)

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives
 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions
 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 

met from government grants and local taxpayers.

7.3 Estimates for the net revenue stream are taken from the Council’s estimates of 
the amounts to be met from government grants and local taxpayers, using the 
equivalent figures from the Council’s original and revised budgets. Actual 
figures for the Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-
specific grant income and expenditure’. 

8.0 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 

8.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code and 
accompanying sector guidance. These are:

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing
 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested over 365 days.

8.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and refinancing 
risks.  

Page 109



9 Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing

9.1 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of debt falling due for refinancing and is designed to facilitate 
reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or high 
interest rates.

9.2 It is calculated as the amount borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage 
of total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the 
earliest date on which the lender can require payment. 

Table H: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period
At 31.3.18 

Actual
Lower limit 

2018/19 
Upper limit 

2018/19 
At 30.9.18

Actual
Forecast
31.3.191 

% % % % %
Under 12 months 2.23 0 20 2.62 2.67
12 months to 2 years 2.08 0 20 2.11 2.16
2 years to 5 years 6.52 0 20 6.65 6.81
5 years to 10 years 12.17 0 30 12.45 12.76
10 years to 20 years 19.38 0 40 18.95 18.58
20 years to 30 years 5.71 0 40 4.96 4.22
30 years to 40 years 51.91 0 80 52.26 52.80
40 years to 45 years 0 0 80 0 0

1Forecast based on the maturity profile of the existing loan portfolio at 30.9.18 

9.3 There is currently a maturity peak between June 2056 and June 2057, with 
maturity loans of £6m scheduled to be repaid during this period. This is not 
however considered a significant risk as ample rescheduling opportunities are 
anticipated before the maturity date of these loans. 

9.4 The expected impact of additional borrowing on the maturity profile shown in 
table I is shown below. This demonstrates that no revisions are required to 
existing limits to accommodate the additional borrowing.

Table I: Forecast fixed rate maturity profile including additional planned borrowing
Forecast
31.3.19

Lower limit 
2018/19 

Upper limit 
2018/19  

% % %
Under 12 months 4.38 0 20
12 months to 2 years 4.00 0 20
2 years to 5 years 12.23 0 20
5 years to 10 years 17.55 0 30
10 years to 20 years 16.87 0 40
20 years to 30 years 4.40 0 40
30 years to 40 years 40.03 0 80
40 years to 45 years 0.18 0 80
45 years to 50 years 0.36 0 80

Page 110



10 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 
365 days

10.1 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for the 
maturing of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums 
invested for periods longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s exposure to 
the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its having to seek early 
repayment or redemption of principal sums invested.

Table J: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 days
2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Limit

At 30.9.18 
Actual 

Forecast
31.3.191 

£000 £000 £000 £000
Principal sums invested > 365 days1 11 20 11 11

1 Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 30th 
September is £1k 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Licensing 
Committee held on the 3 October 2018. It is for Council to consider its 
response.

Recommended – That - 

1. To approve the policy incorporating amendments contained in 
Appendix 1, to approve the recommendations in Appendix 2 and 
Appendix 3, and the additional recommendations received from 
Gosschalks Solicitors; and

2. Officers compile Local Area Profiles for approval by the Licensing 
Committee for inclusion in the Policy on completion.

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 113

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114



Allerdale Borough Council

Licensing Committee – 3 October 2018

Council – 5 December 2018

Statement of Gambling Policy Review 2019

The Reason for the Decision To consider responses to the statutory 
consultation for the review of the 
Gambling Licensing policy and to 
recommend a new policy 

Summary of options considered To review the responses and determine 
the approval of any amendments for 
inclusion

Recommendations
1)   To approve the policy incorporating 

amendments contained in Appendix 1 
and the recommendations in Appendix 
2; and

2)   To approve officers compiling Local 
Area Profiles for approval by the 
Licensing Committee for inclusion in 
the policy on completion.   

Financial/ Resource Implications Costs incurred with consultation  

Legal Implications The Council’s Policy must be reviewed 
and published by 3 January 2019 in 
accordance with the Gambling Act 2005

Community Safety Implications The policy promotes the licensing 
objectives of the Gambling Act 2005 
contained in paragraph 2.1 of this report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

As above

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Considered and felt no issues arising from 
the report

Wards Affected All 

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

N/A

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor J Ellis
Page 115



Lead Officer Gillian Collinson – Senior Licensing and 
Compliance Officer. Tel: 0303 123 1702
gillian.collinson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications 

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety Y

Background papers :
Appendix 1 – Amendments made by Senior Licensing Officer Prior to Consultation
Appendix 2 -  Consultation Responses  
Appendix 3 – Proposed changes to Sections 9 and 10 of the Policy
Appendix 4 – Draft Gambling Policy    

   
1.0 Introduction

1.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to prepare 
and publish a statement of the principles that they propose to apply in 
exercising their functions under this Act. This is valid for a three year period. 
The first statement was effective from 31 January 2007 and was prepared by 
the six district councils in Cumbria working together to achieve consistency 
across Cumbria. Despite the current draft statement not being prepared as a 
Cumbrian document, partnership working has continued in the sharing of 
consultation responses for this latest document being effective from 31 January 
2019. This report contains the results of the consultation and assessments of 
responses for this Committee’s consideration. 

2.0 Consultation on Statement of Principles (Gambling Policy) 2019-2022

2.1 In preparing the statement of principles, licensing authorities are required to:

 Adhere to regulations issued by the Secretary of State; 

 Consider guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; and

 Recognise the need to be reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives where applicable.

The three licensing objectives are: 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime;

Page 116

mailto:gillian.collinson@allerdale.gov.uk


 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way;

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

2.2   Before determining its policy and in order to comply with statutory requirements, 
the Council consulted with:

 The Chief Officer of Police for the area;

 People who appear to the authority to represent the interests of those 
carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; and

 People who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons who 
are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the 
Act.

2.3 Prior to the consultation, amendments were made to the draft policy which are 
contained in Appendix 1 to this report. These mainly reflect updates to contact 
details, changes to reference documents and dates and the insertion of a 
section about small society lotteries which was previously omitted. The draft 
policy at Appendix 4 already contains these changes.

  
2.4 The consultation was carried out between 15 August 2018 and 28 September 

2018.  A list of consultees is provided in Appendix 1 of the policy. Following the 
close of consultation careful consideration was given to each of the responses 
received. The responses with recommendations in accordance with the 
Gambling Act and the Gambling Commission’s guidance to Licensing 
Authorities are contained in Appendix 2. The draft policy which does not 
contain the recommended amendments is attached at Appendix 4.

2.5 One of the main changes to the policy is to sections 9 and 10. Both Gamcare 
and the Gambling Commission have commented that there is limited 
information currently in the policy regarding the Council’s expectations of what 
an applicant’s  risk assessment would contain. Following the recommendation 
of the Gambling Commission Appendix 3 has been prepared which contains at 
section 9 factors to be taken into consideration when risk assessments are 
being prepared. Section 10 refers to Local Area Profiles. Although not 
mandatory, it is helpful for local authorities to map out the key characteristics of 
the local landscape. This will be a not insubstantial piece of work and cannot be 
completed in time for the publishing of this policy. However, it is recommended 
that officers compile the profiles and present them to the Licensing Committee 
for approval to add into the policy upon completion. Appendix 3 has therefore 
been prepared to replace the current sections 9 and 10 of the policy.  

2.6     The Licensing Committee is asked to examine the draft policy and responses 
and determine the approval of any amendments for inclusion. This item will be 
presented to Council in accordance with the constitution. The revised licensing 
policy statement will be published in line with statutory requirements i.e. on or 
before 3 January 2019 and will be effective from 31 January 2019. 

Page 117



3.0 Recommendation

3.1 1) To approve the policy incorporating amendments contained in Appendix 1 
and the recommendations in Appendix 2; and

2) To approve officers compiling Local Area Profiles for approval by the 
Licensing Committee for inclusion in the policy on completion.  

G Collinson
Senior Licensing Officer and Compliance Officer

Page 118



Appendix 1- Amendments made by Senior Licensing Officer prior to consultation
Clause Original Clause Amended Clause
Front 
page

Insertion of ‘Draft’
Change of dates to 2019 – 2022

Contents Changes to Contents page to reflect changes in the body 
of the document.

“This Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy was 
approved by Full Council on 18 November 2015.  All 
references to the “Guidance” refers to the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities 5th Edition 
published in September 2015”.

“This Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy will be 
presented to Full Council on 5th December 2018.  All 
references to the “Guidance refers to the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities 5th Edition 
published in September 2015 and updated in 
September 2016.” 

Preface “Allerdale Borough Council, Barrow Borough Council, 
Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough Council, Eden 
District Council and South Lakeland District Council 
continue to work together to share best practice in an 
effort to ensure, so far as practicable, consistency of 
approach across Cumbria”. 

“Allerdale Borough Council, Barrow Borough Council, 
Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough Council, Eden 
District Council and South Lakeland District Council 
have worked in partnership in preparing this statement.  
The Council’s continue to work together to share best 
practice in an effort to ensure, so far as practicable, 
consistency of approach across Cumbria.  This 
statement of policy sets out the principles that Allerdale 
Borough Council propose to apply in exercising its 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005, in particular for 
managing the expectations in relation to operators with 
premises in the locality.  Under the Gambling Act 2005, 
each local authority is required to prepare and publish 
their statement of policy every three years which must 
be consulted on.  A list of consultees is shown at 
Appendix 1”.

P
age 119



1.3  in accordance with any relevant code of practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission (under 
Section 24) (i.e. the Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice) (LCCP).

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission (under Section 25 – 
Guidance to Local Authorities 5th Edition).

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission.

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission.

2.2
Allerdale is located in West Cumbria bordering 
the Solway Firth and Irish Sea as well as Carlisle 
and three district councils.  The south east 
quarter of the Borough is covered by the Lake 
District National Park.  The Borough has a 
population of approximately 96,000 living in 
approximately 46,000 properties, of which 33,430 
are owner occupied, 4,150 are privately rented, 
37,580 private sector stock, 8590 registered 
providers, and 8590 social housing. Allerdale is 
predominantly rural in nature.  In the north of the 
Borough settlements are small and dispersed 
while the south contains the main urban centres.  
Approximately two thirds of the population live 
within the seven large settlements of Workington, 
Maryport, Cockermouth, Wigton, Aspatria, 
Keswick and Silloth.

Allerdale is located in West Cumbria bordering 
the Solway Firth and Irish Sea as well as Carlisle 
and three district councils.  The south east 
quarter of the Borough is covered by the Lake 
District National Park.  The Borough has a 
population of approximately 97,000 living in 
approximately 46,600 properties.  Allerdale is 
predominantly rural in nature.  In the north of the 
Borough settlements are small and dispersed 
while the south contains the main urban centres.  
Approximately two thirds of the population live 
within the seven large settlements of 
Workington, Maryport, Cockermouth, Wigton, 
Aspatria, Keswick and Silloth.

2.6
Our consultation took place between 31st August 2015 
and 30th November 2015 and we followed the HM 
Government Code of Practice on Consultation (published 
July 2008) which is available at: 
http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf.

Our consultation took place between 15 August 2018 
and 28 September 2018 and we followed the HM 
Government Code of Practice on Consultation as 
updated March 2018.

P
age 120

http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf


2.7 The full list of comments made and the consideration by 
the Council of those comments is available by request to 
the person named below.

The full list of comments made and the consideration by 
the Council of those comments is available by request 
to the department named below.

2.8 The policy was approved at a meeting of the Full Council 
on 18 November 2015.  It was published on our website 
on 23 December 2015.  Copies have been sent to the 
public libraries in the Borough and in the Council area 
offices.

The policy was approved at Council on [DATE TO BE 
CONFIRMED] and subsequently published as required 
on [DATE TO BE CONFIRMED].  Copies are available 
in the Council Offices.

2.9 Should you have any queries regarding this policy 
statement please send them via e-mail or letter to the 
following contact:

Name: Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer

Address:  Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 
3YJ

E-mail: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk

Tel: 01900 702702

Should you have any queries regarding this policy 
statement please send them via e-mail or letter to the 
following contact:

Name: Licensing Department

Address:  Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 
3YJ

E-mail: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk

Tel: 03031231702
6.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it 

will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling 
Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes 
the provision that the Data Protection Act 1998 will not 
be contravened.  The licensing authority will also have 
regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission on this matter, as well as any relevant 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the 
powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it 
will act in accordance with the provisions of the 
Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information.  The 
licensing authority will also have regard to any Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, as 
well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary 
of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 
2005.

Insert 
new 
clause 
6.4

N/A. Data Protection: Allerdale Borough Council takes your 
privacy seriously and your data will be used to provide 
you with the services you request. It will be processed in 
accordance with the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018. 
We may share your data with partner organisations 

P
age 121

mailto:licensing@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@allerdale.gov.uk


where necessary to provide you with the services 
requested, or where we are legally required to do so. 
Failure to provide the necessary information may mean 
we are unable to provide you with the service you 
require. We will not use your data for marketing 
purposes unless we have gained your consent to do so. 
You have a number of rights in relation to your data. If 
you want to exercise any of these rights then you can do 
so by contacting the Information Governance and Data 
Protection Officer, Allerdale House, Workington, 
Cumbria, CA14 3YJ (tel: 0303 123 1702 /email: 
foi@allerdale.gov.uk) or by using the Individuals' Rights 
form on our website.  For further information please see 
the Privacy Notice and individuals' Rights section at 
www.allerdale.uk. If you are dissatisfied with the way we 
have processed your data you may contact the 
Information Commissioner's Office at  www.ico.org.uk.

7.4 This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a 
risk-based inspection programme, based on:

This licensing authority is working towards a risk-based 
inspection programme, based on:

9.1 The Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice (LCCP) which were revised and published in 
February 2015 formalised the need for operators to 
consider local risks.

The Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice (LCCP) which were revised and published in 
April 2018 formalised the need for operators to consider 
local risks.

10.1 The Licensing Authority will complete their own 
assessment of the local environment as a means of 
‘mapping out’ the key characteristics of the local area, 
which will be reviewed and updated to reflect changes to 
the local landscape.  Such an assessment is known as 
the local area profile.  There is no statutory duty on the 
Licensing Authority to complete an area profile, but there 
are significant benefits for both the Licensing Authority 
and Operators, in having a better awareness of the local 
area and risks.  Importantly, risk in this context includes 
potential and actual risk, thereby taking into account 
possible future emerging risks, rather than reflecting 

The Licensing Authority can complete their own 
assessment of the local environment as a means of 
‘mapping out’ the key characteristics of the local area, 
which will be reviewed and updated to reflect changes 
to the local landscape.  Such an assessment is known 
as the local area profile.  There is no statutory duty on 
the Licensing Authority to complete an area profile, but 
there are significant benefits for both the Licensing 
Authority and Operators, in having a better awareness 
of the local area and risks.  Importantly, risk in this 
context includes potential and actual risk, thereby taking 

P
age 122

http://www.ico.org.uk/


current risks only.  Once completed it will be available as 
a supplementary document to this policy.

into account possible future emerging risks, rather than 
reflecting current risks only.

Insert 
new 
clause 
10.2

N/A. There is no mandatory requirement to have a local area 
profile and the licensing authority will, where 
appropriate, engage with responsible authorities to 
ensure any new or variation applications are assessed 
taking the local area profile and any risks into account.

Insert 
new 
clause 28

N/A. 28. Small Society Lotteries

28.1 Part four and five of Schedule 11 to the Act set 
out the requirements on both societies and 
licensing authorities with respect to the 
registration of small society lotteries. 

28.2 This licensing authority will adopt the 
recommendation of the Commission that lottery 
tickets must not be sold to a person in any street. 
For these purposes ‘street’ includes any bridge, 
road, lane, footway, subway, square, court, alley 
or passage (including passages through 
enclosed premises such as shopping malls) 
whether a thoroughfare or not. Tickets, however, 
may be sold in a street from a static structure 
such as a kiosk or display stand. Tickets may 
also be sold door to door. 

28.3. This licensing authority will adopt a risk based 
approach towards its enforcement 
responsibilities for small society lotteries. This 
authority considers that the following list, 
although not exclusive, could affect the risk 
status of the operator: 

P
age 123



 submission of late returns (returns must be 
submitted no later than three months after the 
date on which the lottery draw was held); 

 submission of incomplete or incorrect returns; 

 breaches of the limits for small society 
lotteries. 

Appendix 
1

Appendix 1 – List of Consultees
Age UK, 17 Finkle Street, Kendal LA9 4AB 
admin@ageuksouthlakeland.org.uk 

Association of British Bookmakers, Ground Floor, 
Warwick House, 25 Buckingham Palace Road, London, 
SW1W 0PP mail@abb.uk.com 

BACTA, 134 Buckingham Palace Road, London, SW1W 
9SA info@bacta.org.uk 

Bangladeshi Caterers Association, 403 Harrow Road, 
London, W9 3NF info@bca1960.com 

Berwin, Leighton Paisner, Adelaide House, London 
Bridge, London

Bingo Association, Lexham House, 75 High Street North, 
Dunstable info@bingo-association.co.uk

Appendix 1 – List of Consultees

All Licence Holders 

All Responsible Authorities (as Appendix 2)

All Town/Parish Councils

Association of British Bookmakers, Ground Floor, 
Warwick House, 25 Buckingham Palace Road, London, 
SW1W 0PP mail@abb.uk.com 

BACTA, 29-30 Ely Place, London, EC1N 6TD 
info@bacta.org.uk 

Bingo Association, Lexham House, 75 High Street 
North, Dunstable, LU6 1JF  info@bingo-
association.co.uk 

British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers & Attractions 
Ltd, 57-61 Newington Causeway, London, SE1 6BD 
info@balppa.org 

P
age 124

mailto:admin@ageuksouthlakeland.org.uk
mailto:mail@abb.uk.com
mailto:info@bacta.org.uk
mailto:info@bca1960.com
mailto:mail@abb.uk.com
mailto:info@bacta.org.uk
mailto:info@bingo-association.co.uk
mailto:info@bingo-association.co.uk
mailto:info@balppa.org


British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers & Attractions 
Ltd, Queens House, 55-56 Lincoln’s Inn Fields, London, 
WC2A 3BH info@balppa.org 

British Beer & Pub Association, Ground Floor, Brewers’ 
Hall, Aldermanbury Square, London, EC2V 7HR 
cotact@beerandpub.com

National Casino Forum, Carlyle House, 235-237 
Vauxhall Bridge Road, London SW1V 1EJ 
info@nationalcasinoforum.co.uk 

Greyhound Board of Great Britain, 6 New Bridge Street, 
London, EC4V 6AB, tel: 020 7822 0900

British Holiday and Home Parks Assoc, Great Western 
Road, Gloucester, GL1 3ND, enquiries@bhhpa.org.uk 

British Institute of Innkeeping, Infor House, 1 Lakeside 
Road, Farnborough, GU14 6XP, tel: 01276 684449 

British Transport Police, Citadel Station, Carlisle, 
Cumbria, CA1 1QZ, tel: 01228 405000 (Officer in charge 
Inspector Adrian Yorston)

Business in Sport & Leisure, 17a Chartfield Avenue, 
Putney, London, SW15 6DX, 
brigid.simmonds@btconnect.com 

CADAS, 92 Stricklandgate, Kendal, LA9 4PU, 
info@cadas.co.uk

Community Safety Partnership 

British Beer & Pub Association, Ground Floor, Brewers’ 
Hall, Aldermanbury Square, London, EC2V 7HR 
contact@beerandpub.com

British Institute of Innkeeping, Infor House, 1 Lakeside 
Road, Farnborough, GU14 6XP 

British Transport Police, Citadel Station, Carlisle, 
Cumbria, CA1 1QZ first_contact@btp.pnn.police.uk

Citizens Advice Bureau, Town Hall, Oxford Street, 
Workington, CA14 2RS 

Cumbria Chamber of Commerce 
info@cumbriachamber.co.uk 

Gamcare, Head Office, 1st Floor, CAN Mezzanine Old 
Street, London, N1 6AH, info@gamcare.org.uk 

Gamestec Leisure Limited, Unit 1, Interchange 25 
Business Park, Bostocks Lane, Sandiacre, Nottingham, 
NG10 5QG, enquiries@gamestec.co.uk 

National Casino Forum, Vicarage House, 58-60 
Kensington Church Street, London, W8 4DB 
info@nationalcasinoforum.co.uk 

NHS Cumbria Trust, West Cumberland Hospital, 
Hensingham, Whitehaven, CA28 8JG 

communications@ncuh.nhs.uk

Prize Coin Equipment, 121 Central Avenue, Gretna, 
DG16 5AQ, derekpce@aol.com

P
age 125

mailto:info@balppa.org
mailto:info@nationalcasinoforum.co.uk
mailto:enquiries@bhhpa.org.uk
mailto:brigid.simmonds@btconnect.com
mailto:contact@beerandpub.com
mailto:first_contact@btp.pnn.police.uk
mailto:info@cumbriachamber.co.uk
mailto:info@gamcare.org.uk
mailto:enquiries@gamestec.co.uk
mailto:info@nationalcasinoforum.co.uk
mailto:communications@ncuh.nhs.uk
mailto:derekpce@aol.com


Carlisle District Pub Watch Scheme, North Cumbria Area 
Police HQ, Durranhill, Carlisle

Cumbria Volunteer Bureau, 6 Hobson Court, Gillian Way, 
Penrith, CA11 9GQ, info@cumbriaCVS.org.uk 

Casino Operators Association, 86 Jermyn Street, 
London, SW1Y 6JD, tel: 020 7468 1375 

Citizens Advice Bureau

Cumbria Chamber of Commerce, 25 Stramongate, 
Kendal, LA9 4BH info@cumbriachamber.co.uk 

Cumbria Constabulary, Chief Officer of Police, Cumbria 
Constabulary, Hall Brow, Workington, Admin-
WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk

Mark Clement, Community Safety Manager, Cumbria 
County Council, Service Headquarters, Cumbria Fire and 
Rescue Headquarters, Carleton Avenue, Penrith, CA10 
2FA, mark.clement@cumbria.gov.uk 

Cumbria Disability Network, Equality Cumbria, PO Box 
252, Carlisle CA23 6WZ

Cumbria County Council, Service Headquarters, 
Cumbria Fire and Rescue Headquarters, Carleton 
Avenue, Penrith, CA10 2FA, Cumbria Health & Safety 
Liaison Group, c/o Emma Brass, Eden District Council. 
Emma.brass@eden.gov.uk 

Pubwatch/West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership 
(lisa.elder@cumbria.pnn.police.uk) 

Racecourse Association Ltd, Winkfield Road, Ascot 
info@racecourseassociation.co.uk

P
age 126

mailto:info@cumbriacvs.org.uk
mailto:info@cumbriachamber.co.uk
mailto:Admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:mark.clement@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.brass@eden.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.elder@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:info@racecourseassociation.co.uk


Done Bros., Spectrum Arena, 56-58 Benson Road, 
Warrington, WA3 7PQ, 

Enterprise Inns, 3  Monkspath Hall Road, Solihull, West 
Midlands, B90 4SJ, tel: 0121 733 7700

European Entertainment, The Park, Oaksey, 
Malmesbury, Wiltshire, SN16 9SD tel: 01666 575200

Gala Coral Group, Newcastle House, Castle Boulevard, 
Nottingham, NG7 1FT, Tel; 0115 948 5000 

Gamcare, Head Office, 2nd Floor, 7-11 St. John’s Hill, 
London, SW11 1TR, info@gamcare.org.uk 

Gamestec Leisure Limited,Low Lane, Leeds, LS18 4ER, 
info@gamestec.co.uk 

Hammonds Solicitors, Rutland House, 148 Edmund 
Street, Birmingham

Hartleys (Ulverston) Ltd, Old Brewery, Ulverston, 
Cumbria, LA12 7HX

Health & Safety Executive, 2 Victoria Place, Carlisle, 
CA1 1ER, 

HM Revenue and Customs, PO Box 29997, Glasgow, 
G70 5AB 

Ladbrokes PLC, Rayners Lane, Middlesex 

Law Society – North West, Central Admin Unit, 5th Floor, 
Capital Tower, Greyfriars Road, Cardiff, CF10 3AG.  

P
age 127

mailto:info@gamcare.org.uk
mailto:info@gamestec.co.uk


Regional Manager Joanne McLead 
joanne.mcleoad@lawsociety.org.uk 

Leisure Link, Wetmore Road, Burton on Trent

NRU Betting & Gaming, Portcullis House, 21 India 
Street, Glasgow

NSPCC, 7 Chatsworth Square, Carlisle

NHS Cumbria Trust HQ, Lonsdale Unit, Penrith Hospital, 
Bridge Lane, Penrith

Polish Association, 24 Wentworth Drive, Carlisle

Poppleston Allen, Licensing Solicitors, The Lace Market, 
Nottingham

Prize Coin Equipment, Central Avenue, Gretna

Punch Taverns, Jubilee House, Second Ave, Burton on 
Trent DE14 2WF

Racecourse Association Ltd, Winkfield Road, Ascot

Scottish & Newcastle Pub (Enterprises) Ltd, Newcastle

Thwaites Inns, Star Brewery, Blackburn

Ukranian Association, 32 Briery Acres, Workington

William Hill Ltd, Wood Green, London

P
age 128

mailto:joanne.mcleoad@lawsociety.org.uk


Appendix 
2

Appendix 2: Responsible 
Authorities
Application forms should be sent to the Licensing 
Department

Notice of the application should be sent to the 
undermentioned responsible authorities, clearly 
marking the envelope ‘Gambling Act application’

Licensing Department
Allerdale House
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 01900 702720
Email: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk

Environmental Health Team 
Allerdale House
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 01900 702702
Email:  environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk

Planning & Development Manager
Allerdale House
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 01900 702590

 or

Appendix 2: Responsible 
Authorities
Application forms should be sent to the Licensing 
Department

Notice of the application should be sent to the 
undermentioned responsible authorities, clearly 
marking the envelope ‘Gambling Act application’

Licensing Department
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk

Environmental Health Team 
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email:  environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk

Planning & Development Manager
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road

P
age 129

mailto:licensing@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk


Lake District National Park Authority
Murley Moss
Oxenholme Road
Kendal  LA9 7RL

Cumbria Constabulary 
West Cumbria Area H.Q.
Hall Brow
Workington CA14 4EH
Tel: 0845 3300 247
Email: admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk

Cumbria Fire and Rescue
The Divisional Officer
Safer and Stronger Communities
Cumbria County Council
Workington Community Fire Station
Moorclose Road
Workington
CA14 5BF
Tel: 01900 706055
Email: Workington.technical@cumbriacc.gov.uk

Cumbria LSCB 
1st Floor Lower Gaol Yard
The Courts
Carlisle
Cumbria County Council 
 CA3 8NA

Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: planning@allerdale.gov.uk

 or

Lake District National Park Authority
Murley Moss
Oxenholme Road
Kendal  LA9 7RL
Tel: 01539 724555
Email: planning@lake-district.gov.uk

Cumbria Constabulary 
West Cumbria Area H.Q.
Hall Brow
Workington CA14 4EH
Tel: 0300 124 0113
Email: admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk

Cumbria Fire and Rescue
The Divisional Officer
Safer and Stronger Communities
Cumbria County Council
Workington Community Fire Station
Moorclose Road
Workington CA14 5BF
Tel: 01900 706055
Email: Workington.technical@cumbria.gov.uk

P
age 130

mailto:admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:planning@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:planning@lake-district.gov.uk
mailto:admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Workington.technical@cumbria.gov.uk


Tel: 01228 226877
Email: LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP
Email: info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

Health and Safety Executive
2 Victoria Place
Carlisle
CA1 1ER
Tel: 01228 539321
(where the HSE is the enforcing authority for health & 
safety matters in the premises)

Public Health Lead
Public Health
Cumbria County Council
The Courts
Carlisle
CA3 8NA
Tel: 01228 226626

Children’s Services  
Cumbria LSCB 
1st Floor Lower Gaol Yard
The Courts
Carlisle CA3 8NA
Tel: 01228 226898
Email: LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP
Email: info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

Health and Safety Executive
2 Victoria Place
Carlisle
CA1 1ER
Tel: 01228 634100 
Email: formsadmin.carlisle@hse.gsi.gov.uk
(where the HSE is the enforcing authority for health & 
safety matters in the premises)

Public Health Lead

P
age 131

mailto:LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
mailto:LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
mailto:formsadmin.carlisle@hse.gsi.gov.uk


HM Revenues and Customs
NRU Betting and Gaming
Portcullis House
21 India Street
Glasgow
G2 4PZ
Email: nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk

Other Useful Addresses

British Beer and Pub Association
Market Towers
1 Nine Elms Lane
London
SW8 5NQ
Tel: 0207 627 9191
Email:  web@beerandpub.com
Web:    www.beerandpub.com

British Institute of Innkeeping
Wessex House
80 Park Street
Camberley
Surrey GU15 3PT
Tel: 01276 684 449
Email: reception@bii.org
Web: www.bii.org

Public Health
Cumbria County Council
The Courts
Carlisle
CA3 8NA
Tel: 01228 226626

HM Revenues and Customs
NRU Betting and Gaming
Portcullis House
21 India Street
Glasgow
G2 4PZ
Email: nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk

Other Useful Addresses

British Beer and Pub Association
Ground Floor
Brewers’ Hall
Aldermanbury Square
London
EC2V 7HR
Tel: 0207 627 9191
Email:  contact@beerandpub.com
Web:    www.beerandpub.com

P
age 132

mailto:nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:web@beerandpub.com
http://www.beerandpub.com/
mailto:reception@bii.org
http://www.bii.org/
http://www.bii.org/
mailto:nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:contact@beerandpub.com
http://www.beerandpub.com/


Disability Rights Commission Helpline
Freepost MID01264
Stratford Upon Avon 
CV37 9BR
Tel: 08457 622 633
Web: www.drc-gb.org

Equity
Guild house
Upper Martins Lane
London
WC2H 9EG
Tel: 0207 379 6000
Email: info@equity.org.uk
Web: www.equity.org.uk

West Allerdale Magistrates Court
Hall Brow
Workington
Cumbria
Tel: 01900 62244

North Cumbria Magistrates Courts Service
Rickergate
Carlisle
CA3 8QH
Tel: 01228 51880

British Institute of Innkeeping
Infor House
1 Lakeside Road
Farnborough
GU14 6XP
Tel: 01276 684 449
Web: www.bii.org

Disability Rights Commission Helpline
Freepost MID02164
Stratford Upon Avon 
CV37 9BR
Tel: 08457 622 633
Web: www.drc-gb.org

Equity
Guild House
Upper St Martin’s Lane
London
WC2H 9EG
Tel: 0207 379 6000
Email: info@equity.org.uk
Web: www.equity.org.uk

West Allerdale Magistrates Court
Hall Brow
Ramsey Brow
Workington

P
age 133

http://www.drc-gb.org/
mailto:info@equity.org.uk
http://www.equity.org.uk/
http://www.equity.org.uk/
http://www.bii.org/
http://www.drc-gb.org/
mailto:info@equity.org.uk
http://www.equity.org.uk/


Gamcare
2nd Floor
7-11 St John’s Hill
London SW11 1TR
Tel: 020 7378 5200
Helpline: 0845 6000 133
Email: info@gamcare.org.uk
Web: gamcare.org.uk

Gamblers Anonymous
PO Box 5382
London W1A 6SA
Local Meetings:
7.30pm Monday
Church of Scotland Chapel Street Carlisle CA1 1JA 
www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk/question.htm

Money Advice Trust
Bridge House
181 Queen Victoria Street 
London
EC4V 4DZ
Web: www.moneyadvicetrust.org/home.html
 
Consumer Credit Counselling Service
Wade House
Merrion Centre
Leeds 
LS2 8NG

CA14 4AS
Tel: 01900 62244

North Cumbria Magistrates Courts Service
The Court House
Rickergate
Carlisle
CA3 8QH
Tel: 01228 51880
Email: cumbria.north.magistrates@justice.gov.uk

Gamcare
1st Floor
CAN Mezzanine Old Street
London
N1 6AH
Tel: 020 7801 7000
Helpline: 0808 8020 133
Email: info@gamcare.org.uk
Web: gamcare.org.uk

Gamblers Anonymous
Doncaster CVS
Intake Wellness Centre
Doncaster
DN2 6PL
www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk

Money Advice Trust

P
age 134

mailto:info@gamcare.org.uk
http://www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk/question.htm
http://www.moneyadvicetrust.org/home.html
mailto:info@gamcare.org.uk


Web: www.cccs.co.uk 21 Garlick Hill
London
EC4V 2AU
Tel: 020 7489 7796
Web: www.moneyadvicetrust.org/home.html
 
Step Change Debt Charity
Wade House
Merrion Centre
Leeds 
LS2 8NG

Tel: 0800 138 1111
Web: www.stepchange.org

Appendix 
3

Appendix 3 - Categories of 
Gaming Machines

Category of 
Machine

Maximum 
Stake

Maximum 
Prize

A Unlimited Unlimited

B1 £5 £10,000 or 
£20,000

B2 £100 £500

B3A £2 £500

Appendix 3 - Categories of 
Gaming Machines

Category of 
Machine

Maximum 
Stake
(from Jan 2014)

Maximum 
Prize
(from Jan 2014)

A Unlimited Unlimited

B1 £5 £10,000 or 
£20,000

B2 £100 £500

P
age 135

http://www.cccs.co.uk/
http://www.moneyadvicetrust.org/home.html


B3 £2 £500

B4 £2 £400

C £1 £100

D – Non 
Money Prize

30p £8 Tokens

D – Non 
Money Prize 
(crane grab 

machines only)

£1 £50

D - Money 
Prize 10p. £5

D – Combined 
Money and 
Non Money 

Prize

10p.

£8 (of which no 
more than £5 

may be a 
money prize)

D – Combined 
Money and 
Non Money 
Prize (coin 
pusher or 

penny falls 
machines only)

20p.

£20 (of which 
no more than 
£10 may be a 
money prize)

B3A £2 £500

B3 £2 £500

B4 £2 £400

C £1 £100

D – Non 
Money Prize

30p £8 Tokens

D – Non 
Money Prize 
(crane grab 
machines 

only)

£1 £50

D - Money 
Prize 10p. £5

D – Combined 
Money and 
Non Money 

Prize

10p.

£8 (of which 
no more than 
£5 may be a 
money prize)

D – Combined 
Money and 
Non Money 
Prize (coin 
pusher or 

penny falls 
machines 

only)

20p.

£20 (of which 
no more than 
£10 may be a 
money prize)

P
age 136



The above figures may be subject to change

Appendix 
5

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 138



Schedule of Responses to draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022                                                                                               Appendix 2

Correspondence 
received

Respondent Comments Action taken/comments

Email rec’d 17 
August 2018

Gamcare Whilst we do not have the resources available to 
allow us to personally respond to each Local 
Authority which contacts us regarding their 
refreshed Statement of Principles, we have 
compiled a list of issues or factors which we 
think it would be helpful to consider. The 
function of the Statement is to reflect locally 
specific gambling concerns and to reflect the 
Council’s wider strategic objectives. The active 
use of the Statement is one means by which you 
can make clear your expectations of gambling 
operators who have premises in your area. This 
allows operators to respond to locally specific 
requirements and adjust their own policies and 
procedures as required.

 A helpful first step is to develop a risk 
map of your local area so that you are 
aware of both potential and actual risks 
around gambling venues. A useful 
explanation of area-based risk-mapping 
has been developed with Westminster 
and Manchester City Councils, which 
gives some guidance on those who may 

Gambling Commission have licence 
conditions and codes of practice (LCCP) 
which formalise the need for operators to 
consider local risks to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provision of 
gambling facilities at their premises and 
have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those risks. To 
undertake the assessments they must 
have the local authority’s expectations laid 
out in the Statement. 

P
age 139



be most vulnerable or at-risk of gambling-
related harm. For more information 
please see 
www.geofutures.com/research-
2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-
space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/ 

 Consider that proposals for new gambling 
premises which are near hostels or other 
accommodation or centres catering for 
vulnerable people, including those with 
learning difficulties, and those with 
gambling / alcohol / drug abuse problems, 
as likely to adversely affect the licensing 
objectives set out by the Gambling 
Commission. This is also relevant 
regarding the proximity to schools, 
colleges and universities.

 A detailed local risk assessment at each 
gambling venue – pertinent to the 
environment immediately surrounding the 
premises as well as the wider local area – 
is a good way to gauge whether the 
operator and staff teams are fully aware 
of the challenges present in the local area 
and can help reassure the Local 
Licensing Authority that appropriate 
mitigations are in place.

 Does the operator have a specific training 
programme for staff to ensure that they 

Recommended – introduce broad 
principles within the policy. Replace 
existing section 9 and 10 with appendix 3 
encompassing risk assessment factors.

To consider as part of application process

To consider as part of application process 
or compliance for existing licences

To consider as part of application process 
or compliance for existing licences

P
age 140

http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/


are able to identify children and other 
vulnerable people, and take appropriate 
action to ensure they are not able to 
access the premises or are supported 
appropriately?

 Does the operator ensure that there is an 
adequate number of staff and managers 
are on the premises at key points 
throughout the day? This may be 
particularly relevant for premises situated 
nearby schools / colleges / universities, 
and/or pubs, bars and clubs.

 Consider whether the layout, lighting and 
fitting out of the premises have been 
designed so as not to attract children and 
other vulnerable persons who might be 
harmed or exploited by gambling. 

 Consider whether any promotional 
material associated with the premises 
could encourage the use of the premises 
by children or young people if they are 
not legally allowed to do so.

We would suggest that the Local Licensing 
Authority primarily consider applications from 
GamCare Certified operators. GamCare 
Certification is a voluntary process comprising 
an independent audit assessment of an 
operator’s player protection measures and social 

To consider as part of application process 
or compliance for existing licences

To consider as part of application process 
or compliance for existing licences

To consider as part of application process 
or compliance for existing licences

Each application considered on its own 
merits

P
age 141

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/training-and-certification/gamcare-certification/who-gamcare-certified


Email rec’d 17 
August 2018

Letter rec’d 20 
August 2018

Email rec’d 23 
August 2018

Email rec’d 4 
September 2018

HM Revenue & 
Customs

The Race course 
Association Ltd

Cumbria 
Constabulary

Gambling 
Commission 

responsibility standards, policy and practice. 
Standards are measured in accordance with the 
GamCare Player Protection Code of Practice. If 
you would like more information on how our 
audit can support Local Licensing Authorities, 
please contact mike.kenward@gamcare.org.uk 

Amendment to Postal address and Telephone 
number

We would advise you that we have no venues in 
your area, and therefore will not be responding 
to your document

Police would request that the council give 
specific additional weight to any information or 
evidence supplied by the Police with regards to 
Organised Crime Groups when determining any 
application.

There does not seem to be any specific 
directions or requirements in relation to Local 
Risk Assessments.

You may find it useful to include requirements, 
although not overly prescriptive so that 
Operators are aware of your expectations.

Make amendment as requested.

No action required

Consider recommendation

Recommended – introduce broad 
principles within the policy. Replace 
existing section 9 and 10 with appendix 3 
encompassing risk assessment factors

P
age 142

mailto:mike.kenward@gamcare.org.uk


Some examples of requirements set out by 
different Local Authorities can be seen in our 
January Bulletin which may assist you.
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-
bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-
2018.pdf

05.09.2018.

P
age 143

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 144



Appendix 3 

9. Local Risk assessments 

9.1 The Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) which were 
revised and published in April 2018 formalised the need for operators to consider 
local risks.

9.2 Social Responsibility (SR) code 10.1.1 requires licensees to assess the local risk 
to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of 
their premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate 
those risks.  In undertaking their risk assessments, they must take into account 
relevant matters identified in this policy statement. 

9.3 Licensees are required to undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a 
new premises licence.  Their risk assessment must also be updated: 

 When applying for a variation of a premises licence 
 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 

identified in this policy statement
 Where there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect 

their mitigation of local risks. 

9.4 The SR provision is supplemented by an Ordinary Code provision (OC 10.1.2) that 
requires licensees to share their risk assessment with the licensing authority when 
applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed 
premises, or otherwise at the request of the Licensing Authority.  Both provisions 
take effect from April 2016. 

9.5 Where concerns do exist, perhaps promoted by new or existing risks, the 
Licensing Authority will request that the licensee share a copy of its own risk 
assessment which will set out the measures the licensee has in place to address 
specific concerns.  This practice should reduce the occasions on which a 
premises review and the imposition of licence conditions are required. 

9.6 Where this policy statement sets out its approach to regulation with clear 
reference to local risks, the licensing authority will facilitate operators being able to 
better understand the local environment and therefore proactively mitigate risks to 
the licensing objectives.  In some circumstances, it might be appropriate to offer 
the licensee the opportunity to volunteer specific conditions that could be attached 
to the premises licence. 

9.7 Allerdale Borough Council has issued a document called ‘About Allerdale’ which 
can be found at

http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/documentstore/Documents/About%20Allerdale_2018_f
inal.docx  

This document pulls together information and intelligence about the Allerdale 
borough and its residents.  The report is structured under five sections covering 
people and place, economy, health, resident perceptions and locality summaries. 

Page 145

http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/documentstore/Documents/About%20Allerdale_2018_final.docx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/documentstore/Documents/About%20Allerdale_2018_final.docx


Appendix 3 

The latest available information and referenced data sources were used, and 
information comes from a wide range of sources including the 2011 Census, 
Office of National Statistics, Indices of Deprivation, Cumbria Intelligence 
Observatory and Allerdale resident surveys.  The Cumbria Intelligence 
Observatory has a wealth of more detailed information by geographical area and 
by theme.  The Observatory website contains useful summaries on a wide range 
of topics such as population, economy, health, housing, poverty and deprivation.  
This information should all be relevant in devising a local risk assessment. 

9.8 The local risk assessment must be kept on the individual premises and be made 
available for inspection 

The licensing authority would recommend that the following broad principles are 
considered by operators when making their risk assessment:

Matters relating to children and young persons, including:

Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons should 
be expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds, leisure/community 
centres and entertainment venues such as bowling allies, cinemas etc

Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, shops, and 
any other place where children are attracted

Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social behaviour, 
including such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking etc

Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling.

Age verification policies including ‘Think 21’ and ‘Think 25’.

Any underage testing results should be made available to licensing authorities.

Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including:

Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 
underage gambling

Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or 
benefit payments

Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and 
gaming trends

Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as 
hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council 
housing offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug 
dependant people may congregate etc.

Other issues that may be considered could include:

Matters of faith, including all religious or faith denominations including proximity to 
churches, mosques, temples or any other place of worship. (Religious premises 

Page 146



Appendix 3 

and places of worship are often focal points for a percentage of vulnerable 
members of the community, including the homeless community and youth 
population, rather than for moral or ethical reasons).

As local risk assessments must be revised when there are significant changes in 
local circumstances, the licensing authority would suggest these include:

Any substantial building development or conversion of existing premises in the 
local area which may increase the number of vulnerable persons in the area

Educational facilities increase in the local area. This may occur as a result of the 
construction of a new school/college or where a significant change is made to an 
existing establishment

Any vulnerable group is identified by the Licensing Authority or venues relating to 
those vulnerable groups are opened in proximity to gambling premises (eg 
additional homeless hostels or gambling or mental health care/support facilities 
are opened in the local area).

 9.9 Reference should be made to the broad principles in section 9 that the licensing 
authority would expect to be taken into consideration when local risk assessments 
are being compiled. The principles are not exhaustive and other factors not in this 
list must be taken into consideration

10. Local area profile 

10.1 The Licensing Authority can complete their own assessment of the local 
environment as a means of ‘mapping out’ the key characteristics of the local area, 
which will be reviewed and updated to reflect changes to the local landscape.  
Such an assessment is known as the local area profile.  There is no statutory duty 
on the Licensing Authority to complete an area profile, but there are significant 
benefits for both the Licensing Authority and Operators, in having a better 
awareness of the local area and risks.  Importantly, risk in this context includes 
potential and actual risk, thereby taking into account possible future emerging 
risks, rather than reflecting current risks only.

10.2 There is no mandatory requirement to have a local area profile.  Currently, 
Allerdale Borough Council does not have a local area profile, however work is 
being done to produce detailed profiles which will be added to the policy following 
completion and subsequent approval by Council.

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 148



At a meeting of the Licensing Committee held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Wednesday 3 October 2018 at 2.00 pm

Members

Councillor Angela Kendall (Chair) Councillor Christine Smith (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Janice Wood Councillor Martin Wood

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Mary Bainbridge, Councillor Len 
Davies and Councillor Stephen Stoddart

Staff Present

G Collinson, A Gilbert, J Morgan and G Roach

193. Minutes 

The minutes of the following meetings were signed as a correct record:

Licensing Committee held on 4 July 2018;

Licensing Panels held on 29 June and 13 July 2018; and 

Licensing Regulatory Panels held on 16 July and 14 August 2018.

194. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

195. Questions 

None received.

196. Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy 

The Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer submitted a report which sought 
members’ approval of a review of the Statement of Gambling Policy 2019 in line 
with Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005.

A consultation had been carried out between 15 August 2018 and 28 
September 2018, and members noted the responses received in Appendix 2 of 
the report.

A further response had been received from Gosschalks Solicitors which was 
tabled at the meeting, submitted within the consultation period but after 
publication of the report. The recommendations contained in that response were 
as follows;

Page 149



 Paragraph 19.23 of the Gambling Commissions Licence Conditions and 
Code of Practice (LCCP) required (social responsibility code provision 9) 
that gaming machines were only made available in combination with the 
named non-remote activity of the operating licence. So, unless a betting 
premises operator offered substantive facilities for non-remote betting it 
should not make gaming machines available for use on the premises in 
question. To contain the unavoidable risk to the licensing objectives 
associated with gaming machines, premises which offered machines 
must be appropriately supervised;

 To remove the penultimate sentence of paragraph 11.15 which said that 
‘should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where 
gambling premises should not be located, the statement will be updated’. 
Gosschalks assert that a policy of that type was likely to  be unlawful and 
that it would be contrary to the overriding principle contained in s153 of 
the Gambling Act 2005 that the Licensing Authority must “aim to permit” 
the use of premises for gambling;

 Paragraph 11.22: All Gambling Act 2005 premises licences are subject to 
mandatory and default conditions that are usually sufficient to ensure 
operation that it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. 
Additional conditions would only be considered where there was clear 
evidence of a risk to the licensing objectives in the circumstances of a 
particular case.

Councillor M Grainger moved the recommendations including the additional 
recommendations from Gosschalks Solicitors; this was seconded by Councillor 
P Kendall. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Recommended

That Council be requested to agree - 

1. To approve the policy incorporating amendments contained in Appendix 
1, to approve the recommendations in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3, and 
the additional recommendations received from Gosschalks Solicitors; 
and

2. That officers compile Local Area Profiles for approval by the Licensing 
Committee for inclusion in the Policy on completion.

The meeting closed at 2.55 pm

Page 150



1

ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

DRAFT STATEMENT OF
GAMBLING LICENSING POLICY

2019 - 2022

Allerdale Borough Council

Licensing Department

Allerdale House

New Bridge Road

Workington

Page 151



2

Cumbria

CA14 3YJ

Contents

Preface 4

Part A 5

1. The Licensing Objectives 5

2. Introduction 6

3. Declaration 7

4. Responsible Authorities 7

5. Interested Parties 7

6. Exchange of Information 8

7. Enforcement 9

8 Licensing Authority Functions 10

9. Local Risk assessments 12

10. Local area profile 12

Part B 14

Premises Licences

11. General Principles 14

12. Adult Gaming Centres 21

13. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres (FEC) 22

14. Casinos 23

15. Bingo Premises 25

16. Betting Premises 26

17. Tracks 28

18. Travelling Fairs 30

Page 152



3

19. Provisional Statements 31

20. Reviews 32

21 Rights of appeal and judicial review – Premises Licences 33

Part C 36

Permits/Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 36

22. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits (Schedule 10
Paragraph 7) 36

23. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits - (Schedule 13) 
Paragraph 4(1)) 37

24. Prize Gaming Permits - (Principles on Permits - Schedule 14 paragraph 8 (3)) 38

25. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 39

26. Temporary Use Notices (TUN) 40

27 Occasional Use Notices (OUN) 43

28 Small Society Lotteries 44

Appendix 1 – List of Consultees 45

Appendix 2: Responsible Authorities 46

Appendix 3: Other Useful Addresses 49

Appendix 4 - Categories of Gaming Machines 51

Appendix 5 - Delegation of Functions 52

Appendix 6 - Map of the District 54  

This Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy will be presented to Council on 5 December 
2018. 

All references to the “Guidance” refers to the Gambling Commission's Guidance to Local 
Authorities 5th Edition published in September 2015 and updated in September 2016.

Page 153



4

Preface

The Gambling Act 2005 (‘the act) contains the regulatory system to govern the provision of all 
gambling in Great Britain, other than the National Lottery and spread Betting.  It received Royal 
Assessment on 7th April 2005. 

The Gambling Commission (the Commission) is the unified regulator for gambling in Great Britain. 

The Commission does not regulate spread betting, which remains the responsibility of the Financial 
Services Authority.  On 1st October 2013 the Commission took over the responsibilities of the 
National Lottery Commission to regulate the National Lottery etc. Act 1993.

The Commission has responsibility for granting operating and personal licences for commercial 
gambling operators and personnel working in the industry.  It also regulates certain lottery 
managers and promoters. The Act sets out different types of operating licence that cover the full 
range of commercial gambling activities conducted in Great Britain.  It also makes provision for the 
Commission to have powers of entry and inspection to regulate gambling, with safeguards for 
those subject to the powers. 

Licensing Authorities have responsibility for licensing gambling premises within their area, as well 
as undertaking functions in relation to lower stake gaming machines in club and miner’s welfare 
institutes.  The Act also provides a system of temporary and occasional use notices.  These enable 
authorisations of premises where there is no gambling premises licence in place and to be used for 
certain types of gambling for limited periods.  

Allerdale Borough Council, Barrow Borough Council, Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough 
Council, Eden District Council and South Lakeland District Council continue to work together to 
share best practice in an effort to ensure, so far as practicable, consistency of approach across 
Cumbria.  This statement of policy sets out the principles that Allerdale Borough Council propose to 
apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005, in particular for managing the 
expectations in relation to operators with premises in the locality.  Under the Gambling Act 2005, 
each local authority is required to prepare and publish their statement of policy every three years 
which must be consulted on.  A list of consultees is shown at Appendix 1.

Page 154



5

Part A
1. The Licensing Objectives

1.1 In exercising most of their functions under the Act, licensing authorities must have regard to 
the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the Act.  The licensing objectives are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling

1.2 It should be noted that the Commission has stated: “The requirement in relation to children 
is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited by gambling”.

1.3 This licensing authority shall aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it 
thinks it:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to the above) and

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy (subject to the above)

Authorised Activities

1.4 ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery:

 ‘gaming’ means playing a game of chance for a prize;

 ‘betting’ means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, or 
any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether 
anything is true or not true;

 A ‘lottery’ is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an arrangement, 
during the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a process which relies 
wholly on chance.

1.5 Private gaming in private dwellings and on domestic occasions is exempt from licensing or 
registration providing that no charge is made for participating; only equal chance gaming 
takes place; and it does not occur in a place to which the public have access.  Domestic 
betting between inhabitants of the same premises or between employees of the same 
employer is also exempt.

1.6 Non-commercial gaming and betting (where no parts of the proceeds are for private gain) 
may be subject to certain exemptions.  Further advice should be sought from the Council’s 
Licensing Team where appropriate.

Page 155



6

2. Introduction

2.1 Welcome to Allerdale Borough Council’s Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy.  Licensing 
authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the principles 
which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  This statement must be 
published at least every three years.  The statement must also be reviewed from “time to 
time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-published.

2.2 Allerdale is located in West Cumbria bordering the Solway Firth and Irish Sea as well as 
Carlisle and three district councils.  The south east quarter of the Borough is covered by the 
Lake District National Park.  The Borough has a population of approximately 97,000 living in 
approximately 46,600 properties. Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature.  In the north of 
the Borough settlements are small and dispersed while the south contains the main urban 
centres.  Approximately two thirds of the population live within the seven large settlements 
of Workington, Maryport, Cockermouth, Wigton, Aspatria, Keswick and Silloth.

Allerdale has three distinct components: the urban centres on the west coast; the dispersed 
hill farms, forests, fells and lakes of the Lake District National Park; and the rural and fertile 
Solway plains including the Coastal Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty stretching to the 
north towards Carlisle.

2.3 A map of the Council’s area is included at Appendix 5.  

2.4 Allerdale Borough Council consulted widely upon this statement before finalising and 
publishing.  A list of those persons this authority consulted is provided at Appendix 1.

2.5 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by Licensing Authorities:

 The Chief Officer of Police;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 
carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005.

2.6 Our consultation took place between 15 August 2018 and 28 September 2018 and we 
followed the HM Government Code of Practice on Consultation as updated March 2018.

2.7 The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Council of those comments is 
available by request to the department named below.

2.8 The policy was approved by Council on date to be confirmed and subsequently published as 
required on date to be confirmed. Copies are available in the Council Offices. 

2.9 Should you have any queries regarding this policy statement please send them via e-mail or 
letter to the following contact:

Name: Licensing Department  

Page 156



7

Address: Allerdale House, Workington. Cumbria CA14 3YJ

E-mail: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk Tel: 03031231702

2.10 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any person to make 
an application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, 
as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of 
the Gambling Act 2005. 

3. Declaration

3.1 In producing the final statement, this licensing authority declares that it has had regard to the 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance to the Licensing Authorities 
issued by the Gambling Commission, and any responses from those consulted on the 
statement.

4. Responsible Authorities

4.1 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body which 
is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm.  The 
principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing 
authority’s area; and

 The need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather than 
any particular vested interest group.  

4.2 In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local 
authorities, this authority has consulted with both the Cumbria Safeguarding Children Board 
and Cumbria County Council Children’s Services.  This Authority considers that Cumbria 
County Council Children’s Services is best able to fulfil the role of advising the Authority 
about the protection of children from harm for the purposes of Section 157(b) of the Act.

4.3 The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are 
available via the Council’s website at: www.allerdale.gov.uk  and are listed at Appendix 2.

5. Interested Parties

5.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a review 
of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application for 
or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues 
the licence or to which the application is made, the person:

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities,

Page 157



8

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

5.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.  

5.3 This authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making and each case will be decided 
upon its merits.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities at Paragraphs 8.9 to 8.17.  

5.4 It will also consider the Gambling Commission's Guidance that "has business interests" 
should be given the widest possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith 
groups and medical practices.

5.5 The Gambling Commission has recommended that the licensing authority states that 
interested parties may include trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ and 
tenants’ associations.  This authority will not however generally view these bodies as 
interested parties unless they represent a member who can be classed as an interested 
person under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 i.e. lives sufficiently close to the premises 
to be likely to be affected by the activities being applied for.

5.6 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and 
MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will be 
required as long as the Councillor/MP represents the ward likely to be affected.  Likewise, 
Parish Councils likely to be affected will be considered to be interested parties.  Other than 
these however, this authority will generally require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. 
an advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests 
that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, 
requesting the representation is likely to be sufficient.

5.7 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the Councillors are not a Member of the Licensing Committee dealing 
with the licence application.  If there are any doubts then please contact the Council’s 
Licensing Department.

6. Exchange of Information

6.1 Licensing Authorities are required to include in their statements the principles to be applied 
by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect 
to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions 
under section 350 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and the 
other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

6.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the 
provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information.  The licensing authority 
will also have regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, 

Page 158



9

as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers 
provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

6.3 Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with other bodies 
then they will be made available.  This authority will normally share the information it holds 
about licensed premises with the following persons or bodies: 

 A constable or police force 
 an enforcement officer 
 another Licensing Authority 
 HMRC 
 The Gambling Appeal Tribunal 
 The Secretary of State 
 Scottish Ministers 

The Licensing Authority will also exchange information as per Part 13 of the 5th edition 
Guidance issued to Local Authorities. 

6.4 Data Protection: Allerdale Borough Council takes your privacy seriously and your data will 
be used to provide you with the services you request. It will be processed in accordance with 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018. We 
may share your data with partner organisations where necessary to provide you with the 
services requested, or where we are legally required to do so. Failure to provide the 
necessary information may mean we are unable to provide you with the service you require. 
We will not use your data for marketing purposes unless we have gained your consent to do 
so. You have a number of rights in relation to your data. If you want to exercise any of these 
rights then you can do so by contacting the Information Governance and Data Protection 
Officer, Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 3YJ (tel: 0303 123 1702 /email: 
foi@allerdale.gov.uk) or by using the Individuals' Rights form on our website.  For further 
information please see the Privacy Notice and individuals' Rights section at 
www.allerdale.uk. If you are dissatisfied with the way we have processed your data you may 
contact the Information Commissioner's Office at  www.ico.org.uk

7. Enforcement

7.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the 
principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act 
with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers in the Act to institute criminal 
proceedings in respect of the offences specified.

7.2 This licensing authority’s principles are that:

The statutory principles of good regulation and the Regulators’ Code is adhered to and it will 
be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and will endeavour 
to be:

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly;

Page 159

mailto:foi@allerdale.gov.uk
http://www.allerdale.uk/
http://www.ico.org.uk/


10

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny;

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  remedies should be 
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; and

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects.

7.3 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this licensing 
authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.

7.4 This licensing authority is working towards a risk-based inspection programme, based on;

 The licensing objectives
 Relevant codes of practice
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy

7.5 This may include test purchasing activities to measure the compliance of licensed operators 
with aspects of the Gambling Act.  When undertaking test purchasing activities, this 
licensing authority will undertake to liaise with the Gambling Commission and the operator to 
determine what other, if any, test purchasing schemes may already be in place.  Irrespective 
of the actions of an operator on their overall estate, test purchasing may be deemed to be 
an appropriate course of action.

7.6 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other 
permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body 
for the operating and personal licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines are not dealt with by the licensing 
authority but should be notified to the Gambling Commission.

7.7 This licensing authority also keeps itself informed of developments as regards the work of 
the Better Regulation Delivery Office in its consideration of the Regulatory functions of local 
authorities.

8. Licensing Authority Functions

Local Authorities

8.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take place 
by issuing Premises Licences

 Issue Provisional Statements

 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake certain 
gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits

Page 160



11

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centres

 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 
the use of two or fewer gaming machines

 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 
alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where 
there are more than two machines

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds

 Issue Prize Gaming Permits

 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices

 Receive Occasional Use Notices

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued 
(see section above on ‘information exchange)

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions

 Exercise its powers of compliance and enforcement under the Act, in partnership with 
the Gambling Commission and other relevant responsible authorities.

It should be noted that licensing authorities are not involved in licensing remote gambling at 
all, which is regulated by the Gambling Commission via operating licences.

The Gambling Commission

8.2 The Gambling Commission regulates gambling in the public interest.  It does so by keeping 
crime out of gambling; by ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 
by protecting children and vulnerable people.  The Commission provides independent 
advice to the Government about the matter in which gambling is carried out, the effects of 
gambling and the regulations of gambling generally.

8.3 The Commission has issued guidance under Section 25 of the Act about the manner in 
which licensing authorities exercise their licensing functions under the Act and, in particular, 
the principles to be applied.

8.4 The Commission has also issued Codes of Practice under Section 24 about the way in 
which facilities for gambling is provided, which may also include provisions about the 
advertising of gambling facilities.

8.5 The Gambling Commission can be contacted at:

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham

Page 161



12

B2 4BP
Website: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk
Email: info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk

9. Local Risk assessments 

9.1 The Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) which were revised 
and published in April 2018 formalised the need for operators to consider local risks.

9.2 Social Responsibility (SR) code 10.1.1 requires licensees to assess the local risk to the 
licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, 
and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks.  In undertaking 
their risk assessments, they must take into account relevant matters identified in this policy 
statement. 

9.3 Licensees are required to undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence.  Their risk assessment must also be updated: 

 When applying for a variation of a premises licence 
 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 

identified in this policy statement
 Where there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 

mitigation of local risks. 

9.4 The SR provision is supplemented by an Ordinary Code provision (OC 10.1.2) that requires 
licensees to share their risk assessment with the licensing authority when applying for a 
premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed premises, or otherwise at the 
request of the Licensing Authority.  Both provisions take effect from April 2016. 

9.5 Where concerns do exist, perhaps promoted by new or existing risks, the Licensing 
Authority will request that the licensee share a copy of its own risk assessment which will set 
out the measures the licensee has in place to address specific concerns.  This practice 
should reduce the occasions on which a premises review and the imposition of licence 
conditions are required. 

9.6 Where this policy statement sets out its approach to regulation with clear reference to local 
risks, the licensing authority will facilitate operators being able to better understand the local 
environment and therefore proactively mitigate risks to the licensing objectives.  In some 
circumstances, it might be appropriate to offer the licensee the opportunity to volunteer 
specific conditions that could be attached to the premises licence. 

10. Local area profile 

10.1 The Licensing Authority can complete their own assessment of the local environment as a 
means of ‘mapping out’ the key characteristics of the local area, which will be reviewed and 
updated to reflect changes to the local landscape.  Such an assessment is known as the 
local area profile.  There is no statutory duty on the Licensing Authority to complete an area 
profile, but there are significant benefits for both the Licensing Authority and Operators, in 

Page 162

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
mailto:info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk


13

having a better awareness of the local area and risks.  Importantly, risk in this context 
includes potential and actual risk, thereby taking into account possible future emerging risks, 
rather than reflecting current risks only.

10.2 There is no mandatory requirement to have a local area profile and the licensing authority 
will, where appropriate, engage with responsible authorities to ensure any new or variation 
applications are assessed taking the local area profile and any risks into account.

Page 163



14

Part B

Premises Licences
11. General Principles

11.1 Premises licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Act and regulations, as well 
as specific mandatory and default conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by 
the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority is able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate

11.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it should 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and

 In accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy.

11.3 This licensing authority will not regard moral objections to gambling as a valid reason to 
reject applications for premises licences (except as regards any 'no casino resolution' - see 
section on Casinos below) and also acknowledges that unmet demand is not a criterion for a 
licensing authority to consider.  Further, there is a duty not to take other irrelevant matters 
into consideration e.g. the likelihood of an applicant obtaining planning permission.

11.4 This licensing authority also notes the Gambling Commission guidance on ensuring that 
betting is the primary activity of a premises that holds only a betting premises licence.  
Gaming machines may be available for use in licensed betting premises only at times when 
there are also sufficient facilities for betting available. Operators will need to demonstrate 
that betting will continue to be the primary activity of the premise when seeking variations to 
licenses.

In making this determination, this licensing authority will have regard to the six indicators of 
betting as a primary gambling activity.

 the offer of established core products (including live event pictures and bet range)
 the provision of information on products and events
 the promotion of gambling opportunities and products
 the actual use made of betting facilities
 the size of premises
 the delivery of betting facilities

11.5 Definition of “premises” – In the Act, premises is defined as including “any place”.   
Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises license applying to any place.  But 
a single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for 
different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably 
regarded as being different premises.  This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple 

Page 164



15

unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete 
premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, licensing 
authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single 
building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between 
premises are observed.

11.6 The Gambling Commission states in the fifth edition of its Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
that: “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject of an 
application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But, that does not mean that 32 High 
Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for the basement and ground 
floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether different parts of a building can properly be 
regarded as being separate premises will depend on the circumstances.  The location of the 
premises will clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely 
to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing authority.  However, the 
Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily 
separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as 
different premises.”

11.7 The Act sets out that the type and number of high stake gaming machines allowable in 
premises is restricted according to the type of premises licence or permit granted.  For 
example, a converted casino licence allows for 20 gaming machines in categories B, C or D.  
With exception of AGCs and FECs, premises are not permitted to be used exclusively for 
making gaming machines available, but rather to provide the gaming facilities corresponding 
to the premises licence type.  The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), sets 
out in full the requirements on operators.  

11.8 With exception of bingo clubs, tracks on race-days, and licensed family entertainment 
centres, children will not be permitted to enter licensed gambling premises.  Therefore 
businesses will need to consider carefully how they wish to configure their buildings if they 
are seeking to develop multi-purpose sites.  

11.9 This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that: “licensing authorities should take particular care in 
considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete 
part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be 
aware of the following:

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by gambling.  
In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also 
preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling.  Therefore premises should 
be configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access 
to or closely observe gaming where they are prohibited from participating.

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so the separation of different premises is 
not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.  In this context it should 
normally be possible to access the premises without going through another licensed 
premises or premises with a permit.

Page 165



16

 Customers should be able to participate in the activities named on the premises 
licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should be aware of, 
which may include:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates

 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone else?

 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway?

 Can the premises only be accessed from other gambling premises?

This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision, depending 
on all the circumstances of the case.

11.10 The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type are 
reproduced below:

Casinos

 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined at 
7.21 of the Guidance).

 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly by 
children and/or young persons.

 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises which 
hold a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming Centre

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other licensed 
gambling premises.

Betting Shops
 Access must be from a “street” (as per para 7.21 Guidance to Licensing Authorities) 

or from another premises with a betting premises licence. 
 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale of 

merchandise or services.  In effect there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop 
from a shop of any kind unless that shop is itself a licensed betting premises, for 
example, you could not have a betting shop at the back of a cafe – the whole area 
would have to be licensed.                                                                                                                                               

Tracks

 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:
- a casino; or
- an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises

Page 166



17

 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:
- a casino;
- an adult gaming centre; or
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:

- a casino;
- an adult gaming centre; or
- a betting premises, other than a track

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities contains further 
guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take into account in its decision-making.

11.11 In determining applications, the Licensing Authority has the duty to take into consideration 
all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any irrelevant matters, in effect those 
not related to gambling and licensing objectives.  One example of an irrelevant matter would 
be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulation 
approval for their proposal.  Bearing in mind that once a premises licence comes into effect 
it authorises the premises to be used for gambling, a licence can only be issued once the 
Licensing Authority is satisfied that the premises is ready to be used for gambling in the 
reasonably near future.   

11.12 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional 
statement should be made instead. See section 19 of this policy for further guidance.  

11.13 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will determine applications on 
their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:-

First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling

Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation that the 
premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling takes place.

11.14 Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a 
licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a licence.

11.15 Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives 
are relevant to its decision-making.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children 
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where 
gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be updated.  It should be noted 
that any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will 

Page 167



18

be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns 
can be overcome.

11.16 Duplication with other regulatory regimes - This licensing authority will seek to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems where possible, including planning.  This 
authority will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though, listen to, 
and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this authority will not 
take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the necessary planning or 
building consents.  Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into account, as these 
matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations and 
must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.

11.17 Licensing Objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this licensing authority has considered 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and some comments are made 
below.

11.18 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime - This licensing authority is aware that 
the Gambling Commission will be taking a leading role in preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime.  The Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that 
licensing authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises in 
terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, if an area should have known high levels of 
organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable 
to be located there and whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door 
supervisors.  This licensing authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and 
nuisance and will consider factors such as whether police assistance was required and how 
threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so as to make that distinction.

11.19 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - This licensing authority 
has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it generally does not expect licensing 
authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open 
way as this will be addressed via operating and personal licences issued by the Gambling 
Commission.  There is however, more of a role with regard to tracks which is explained in 
more detail in the 'tracks' section below at Paragraph 17.

11.20 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling - With limited expectations, the intention of the Gambling Act is that children and 
young persons should not be permitted to gamble and should be prevented from entering 
those gambling premises which are adult-only environments.  The objective refers to 
protecting children from being ‘harmed or exploited by gambling’.  That means preventing 
them from taking part in gambling and for there to be restrictions on adverting so that 
gaming products are not aimed at children or adverting in such a way that makes them 
particularly attractive to children, excepting Category D gaming machines.  The licensing 

Page 168



19

authority will therefore consider, whether specific measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may include 
supervision of entrances/ machines, segregation of areas etc.

This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of Practice as 
regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises.

11.21 The Act does not seek to prohibit particular groups of adults from gambling in the same way 
that it prohibits children.  The Commission does not seek to define ‘vulnerable persons’, but 
it does for regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more 
than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who may not be able 
to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to mental health needs, 
learning disability or substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs.   This licensing authority 
will consider, in relation to a particular premises, whether any special considerations apply in 
relation to the protection of vulnerable persons, on a case by case basis.

11.22 Conditions

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility;
 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
 reasonable in all other respects.

11.23 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there 
will be a number of measures this licensing authority will consider utilising should there be a 
perceived need, such as the use of door supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only 
areas etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence 
types below.  This licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her 
own suggestions as to the way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

11.24 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include the 
supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by 
children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in 
order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance.

11.25 This authority will also ensure that where category D (for information about the different 
categories of machine, please see appendix 3) or above machines are on offer in premises 
to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access 
other than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;

Page 169



20

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by 
the staff or the licence holder; and

 At the entrance to and inside any areas where there are Category A, B or C machines, 
in such areas there must be  prominently displayed notices indicating that access to the 
area is prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 
licences are applicable

11.26 This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance this licensing authority will consider the impact upon the 
objective to protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and 
that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.

11.27 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises 
licences which are:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 
operating licence condition;

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation;

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Gambling 
Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs 
and this provision prevents it being reinstated; and

 Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

11.28 Door Supervisors – The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder or 
be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and young persons) 
then it may require that the entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, 
and is entitled to impose a premises licence condition to this effect.

11.29 Section 178 of the Gambling Act 2005 sets out a definition of ‘door supervisor’, and provides 
that where a person employed in such a role is required to hold a licence issued by the 
Security Industry Authority (SIA), that requirement will have force as though it were a 
condition on the premises licence. 

11.30 It should be noted that the above paragraphs relate to door supervisors only in relation to 
premises licences granted under the Gambling Act 2005.  Where a premises licence has 
also been granted under the Licensing Act 2003 in relation to the same premises, there may 
also be conditions on that licence which relate to door supervisors.  The premises licence 
holder should ensure compliance with those conditions.

11.31 The requirement for SIA licence door supervisors is relaxed when applied to door 
supervisors at casino or bingo premises.   Where ‘contract’ staff are employed as door 
supervisors at casino or bingo premises, such staff will need to be licensed by SIA.  

Page 170



21

However ‘in- house’ employees working as door supervisors at casino and bingo premises 
are exempt from these requirements.  

12. Adult Gaming Centres

12.1 Persons operating an Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) must hold a gaming machines general 
operating licence (Adult Gaming Centre) from the Commission and must seek a premises 
licence form the licensing authority.  They will be able to make category B, C and D gaming 
machines available to their customers.   

This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.

12.2 This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the 
licensing objectives however appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues 
such as:

 Proof of age schemes

 CCTV – this should be of sufficient quality that it will be of use in evidence

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas

 Physical separation of areas

 Location of entry

 Notices/signage

 Specific opening hours

 Self-exclusion schemes – these are schemes whereby individuals who acknowledge 
they have a gambling problem ask to be barred from certain premises.

 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

12.3 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures 
which applicants can consider implementing.

12.4 The following mandatory conditions will be attached to adult gaming centre premises 
licences: 

 A notice must be displayed at all entrances to AGCs stating that no person under the 
age of 18 years will be admitted to the premises. 

 There can be no direct access between an AGC and any other premises licensed 
under the Act or premises with a Family Entertainment Centre, club gaming, club 
machine or licensed premises gaming machine permit. There is no definition of ‘direct 
Access’ in the Act or regulations.  However, it could be said that there should be an 
area separating the premises concerned (for example, a street or café), which the 

Page 171



22

public go to for purposes other than gambling, for there to be shown to be no direct 
access. 

 Any ATM made available for use on the premise shall be located in place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling at any gaming 
machine in order to do so. 

 The consumption of alcohol in AGCs is prohibited at any time during which facilities 
for gambling are being provided on the premises.  A notice stating this should be 
displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to the premises. 

13. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres (FEC) 

13.1 The Act creates two classes of Family Entertainment Centres (FEC).  This section of the 
policy concerns licenced FECs.  Persons operating a licensed FEC must hold a gaming 
machine general operating licence (Family Entertainment Centre) from the Commission and 
must seek a premises licence from the Licensing Authority.  They will be able to make 
category C and D gaming machines available to their customers.  Unlicensed FECs provide 
category D machines only and are regulated through FEC gaming machine permits (see 
Section B of this policy). 

13.2 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
young persons.  Children and young persons will be permitted to enter an FEC and may 
play on the category D machines.  They are not permitted to play on a category C machines, 
and it is a requirement that there must be clear segregation between the two types of 
machines, so that children do not have access to category C machines.

13.3 This licensing authority will refer to the Gambling Commission’s website to see any 
conditions that apply to operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the 
category C machines should be delineated.  It will normally impose conditions on granting 
licences which accord with the above.  This licensing authority will also make itself aware of 
and impose any mandatory or default conditions on these premises licences.

13.4 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the 
licensing objectives however appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues 
such as:

 Proof of age schemes

 CCTV – this should be of sufficient quality that it will be of use in evidence

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas

 Physical separation of areas

 Location of entry

 Notices/signage

 Specific opening hours

 Self-exclusion schemes– these are schemes whereby individuals who acknowledge 
they have a gambling problem ask to be barred from certain premises

Page 172



23

 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on the 
premises

13.5 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures 
which applicants can consider implementing.

13.6 Mandatory conditions attached to FEC premises licences: 

 The summary of the terms and conditions of the premises licence issued by the Licensing 
Authority under section 164(1) (c) of the Act must be displayed in a prominent place within 
the premises. 

 The layout of the premises must be maintained in accordance with the plan. 
 The premises must not be used for sale of tickets in a private lottery or customer lottery, or 

the National Lottery. 
 No customer shall enter the premises directly from a casino, an adult gaming centre or 

betting premises (other than a track).  There is no definition of ‘direct Access’ in the Act or 
regulations.  However, it could be said that there should be an area separating the premises 
concerned (for example, a street or café), which the public got for purposes other than 
gambling, for there to be no direct access. 

 Any ATM made available for use on the premises must be located in a place that requires 
any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling at any gaming machine in order to do 
so. 

 Over-18 areas within FECs that admit under-18s must be separated by a barrier with 
prominently displayed notices at the entrance stating that under -18s are not allowed in that 
area and with adequate supervision in place to ensure that children and young persons are 
not able to access these areas or the category C machines.  Supervision may be done 
either by placing the terminals within the line of sight of an official of the operator or via 
monitored CCTV. 

 The consumption of alcohol in licensed FECs is prohibited at any time during which facilities 
for gambling are being provided.  A notice stating this should be displayed in a prominent 
position on the premises.  
  

14. Casinos

14.1 Section 7(1) of the Act states that ‘a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given an 
opportunity to participate in one or more casino games’.  Casinos games are defined by the 
Act to mean a game of chance which is not equal chance gaming.  Equal chance gaming is 
gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank, and where the chances 
are equally favourable t all participants. 

14.2 Protection of children and young persons – No-one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter 
a casino and operators are required to display notices to this effect at all entrances to a 
casino.  Children and young persons are not allowed to be employed at premises with a 
casino premises licence.   

Page 173



24

14.3 No Casinos resolution - This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution 
under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so.  
Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will update 
this policy statement with details of that resolution.  Any such decision will be made by the 
Full Council.

14.4 Casinos and competitive bidding - This licensing authority is aware that where a licensing 
authority area is enabled to grant a premises licence for a new style casino (i.e. the 
Secretary of State has made such regulations under Section 175 of the Gambling Act 2005) 
there are likely to be a number of operators who will want to run the casino.  In such 
situations the local authority will run a ‘competition’ under Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 
2005.  This licensing authority will run such a competition in line with the Gambling (Inviting 
Competing Applications for Large and Small Casino Premises Licences) Regulations 2008, 
as well as following the procedure set out in Part 17 of the Guidance.

14.5 Licence considerations/conditions – This licensing authority will attach conditions to casino 
premises licences according to the principles set out in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance at paragraph 9, bearing in mind the mandatory conditions listed in paragraph 17 
of the Guidance, and the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice published by the 
Gambling Commission. The mandatory conditions attached to all casino premises are as 
follows: 

 Access to the premises is regulated to add additional safeguards for both the public and 
industry.  Mandatory conditions that must be attached to all casino premises licences 
require that the principal entrance to the casino should be from a street.  A street is 
defined as including any bridge, road, lane, footway, subway, square, court, alley or 
passage (including passages through enclosed premises such as shopping centres), 
whether it is a thoroughfare or not. 

 A mandatory condition requires that no customer must be able to enter the casino from 
any other premise holding a casino, bingo, AGC, FEC or betting premises licence, or 
from premise where a FEC, club gaming and club machine, or licensed premises 
gaming machine permit, has effect. 

 There should be no access to a casino from premises wholly or mainly used by children 
and young persons. 

 No other gambling equipment may be situated within two meters of any ordinary gaming 
table.  For the purpose of these conditions an ordinary gaming table means one which is 
not wholly or partially automated. 

 A maximum of 40 separate player positions may be made available for use in relation to 
wholly automated gaming tables at any time. 

 All casinos must display the rules of each type of casino game that can be played on the 
premises in a prominent place within both the table gaming area and other gambling 
areas to which customers have unrestricted access.  Licensees may do this either by 
displaying clear and legible signs or by making available to customers leaflets or other 
written material setting out the rules. 

 ATMs must be positioned so that customers must cease to gamble at tables or gaming 
machines in order to use them. 

 The default opening hours of all casinos are noon to 6am. 

Page 174



25

There are mandatory conditions relating to small casinos, large casinos, and converted 
casinos premises licence which are detailed in part 17 of the guidance. 

14.6 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines 
an operator wants to offer.

15. Bingo Premises

15.1 This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance states: 18.5 
Licensing Authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any bingo 
premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This will be a relevant consideration 
where the operator of an existing bingo premises applies to vary their licence to exclude an 
area of the existing premises from its ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or 
multiple licences, for that or those excluded premises

15.2 Under the Act, children and young persons (anyone under the age of 18) cannot be 
employed in providing nay facilities for gambling or bingo premises, and children (under 16) 
cannot be employed, in any capacity at a time when facilities for playing bingo are being 
offered.  However, young persons, aged 16 and 17, may be employed in bingo premises 
(while bingo is being played), providing the activities on which they are employed is not 
connected with the gaming or gaming machines. 

15.3 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are not permitted 
to participate in bingo and if category B or C machines are made available for use these 
must be separated from areas where children and young people are allowed.

15.4 Section 172(7) provides that the holder of a bingo premises licence may make available for 
use a number of category B machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming 
machines which are available for use on the premises.  Premises in existence before 13th 
July 2011 are entitled to make available eight category B gaming machines, 20% of the total 
number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater.  The holder of bingo premises 
licence granted on or after 13th July 2011 but before 1st April 2014 is entitled to make 
available a maximum of eight category B gaming machines or 20% of the total number of 
gaming machines, whichever is the greater; from 1st April 2014 these premises will be 
entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only.  Regulations state that 
category B machines at bingo premises should be restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 
machines, but not B3A lottery machines. 

15.4 The gaming machines must remain within the licensed area covered by the premises 
licence.  In the unusual circumstances that an existing bingo premises covered by one 
premises licence applies to vary the licence and acquire additional bingo premises licences 
(so that the area that was the subject of a single licence will become divided between a 
number of separate licenced premises) is not permissible for all the gaming machines to 

Page 175



26

which each of the licence brings an entitlement to be grouped together within one of the 
licensed premises. 

Bingo in clubs and alcohol-licensed premises

15.5 Bingo is a class of equal chance gaming permitted on alcohol-licensed premises, and in 
clubs and miners’ welfare institutes, under the allowances for exempt gaming in Part 12 of 
the Act.  There are regulations setting controls on this form of gaming, to ensure that it 
remains low stakes and prize activity. 

15.6 Where the level of bingo played in these premises reaches a certain threshold (i.e. bingo 
played during any seven day period exceeds £2,000 either in money in taken or prizes 
awarded once in a year), there is a legal duty on the Licensee or club to inform the 
Commission as soon as is reasonably practicable.  Stakes or prizes above that limit will 
require bingo operators’ licence and corresponding personal and premises licence.  

15.7 The following mandatory conditions must be attached to a bingo premises licence: 

 A notice stating that no person under the age of 18 years is permitted to play bingo on the 
premises shall be displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to the premises. 

 No customer shall be able to enter bingo premises directly from casino, an adult gaming 
centre or betting premises (other than a track). 

 Over 18 areas within bingo halls that admit under-18s must be separated by a barrier with 
prominently displayed notices stating that under-18s are not allowed in that area and with 
adequate supervision in place to ensure that children and young people are not able to 
access these areas or the category B or C machines.  Supervision may be done either by 
placing the terminals within the line of sight of an official of the operator or via monitored 
CCTV. 

 Any admission charges, the charges for playing bingo games and the rules of bingo must be 
displayed in a prominent position on the premises.  Rules can be displayed on a sign, by 
making available leaflets or other written material containing the rules, or running an audio-
visual guide to the rules prior to any bingo game being commenced. 

 Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that requires 
any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling in order to do so. 

Default conditions to attach to bingo premises licence: 

 Bingo facilities in bingo premises may not be offered between the hours of midnight and 
09:00hours.  However, there are no restrictions on access to gaming machines in bingo 
premises. 

16. Betting Premises

16.1 Anyone wishing to operate a betting office will require a betting premises licence from the 
Council.  Children and young persons will not be able to enter premises with a betting 
premises licence, although exemptions apply to tracks.  Children and young persons are not 
allowed to be employed at premises with a betting premises licence.

Page 176



27

16.2 Betting premises will be able to provide up to four gaming machines of category B, C or D.  
Regulations state that category B machines at betting premises are restricted to sub-
category B2, B3 and B4 machines.

16.3 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines 
an operator wants to offer.

16.4 The following mandatory conditions will be attached to a betting premises licence: 

 A notice shall be displayed at all entrances to the betting premises stating that no 
person under the age of 18 will be admitted.  The notice should be clearly visible to 
people entering the premises. 

  There must be no access to betting premises from other premises that undertake a 
commercial activity (except from other premises with a betting premises licence 
including tracks).  Except where it is from other licensed betting premises, the entrance 
to a betting shop should be from a street (defined as including any bridge, road, lane, 
footway, subway, square, court, alley or passage – including passages through 
enclosed premises such as shopping centres – whether a thoroughfare or not). 

 Any ATM machine made available for use on the premises shall be located in place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to leave any gaming machine or betting 
machine in order to do so. 

 No apparatus for making information or any other material available in the form of 
sounds or visual images may be used on the licensed premises, except where used to 
communicate: 
- Information about or coverage of sporting events, including information relating to 

betting on such events (and incidental information including advertisements); or 
- Information relating to betting (including results) on any event in connection with 

which bets may have been affected on the premises. 

Betting operator-owned TV channels are permitted.

 No music, dancing or other entertainment is permitted on betting premises.  This 
includes any form of entertainment such as apparatus producing sound or visual images 
which do not fall within the above condition or machines which do not come within 
categories of machine explicitly allowed in betting premises under section 172(8) of the 
Act. 

 The consumption of alcohol on the premises is prohibited. 
 The only publications that may be sold or made available on the premises are racing 

periodicals or specialist betting publications. 
 A notice setting out the terms on which a bet may be placed must be displayed in a 

prominent position on the premises. 

Default conditions attached to betting premises licence: 

Page 177



28

 Gambling facilities may not be offered in betting premises between the hours of 22:00 
hours on one day and 07:00 hours on the next day, on any day. 

17. Tracks

17.1 Only one premises licence can be issued for any particular premises at any time unless the 
premises are a ‘track’.  A track is a site or venues where sporting events do or could take 
place, and accordingly could accommodate the provision of betting facilities.  Examples of 
track include: 

 A horse racecourse (racecourses) 
 A greyhound track 
 A point-to-point horserace meeting 
 Football, cricket and rugby grounds 
 An athletics stadium 
 A golf course 
 Venues hosting darts, bowls, or snooker tournaments 
 A premises staging boxing matches 
 A section of river hosting a fishing competition 
 A motor racing event 

17.2 Track operators are not required to hold an ‘operator’s licence’ granted by the Gambling 
Commission.  Therefore, premises licences for tracks, issued by the Council are likely to 
contain requirements for premises licence holders about their responsibilities in relation to 
the proper conduct of betting.  Indeed, track operators will have an important role to play, for 
example in ensuring that betting areas are properly administered and supervised.

17.3 Although there will, primarily be a betting premises licence for the track there may be a 
number of subsidiary licences authorising other gambling activities to take place.  Unlike 
betting offices, a betting premises licence in respect of a track does not give an automatic 
entitlement to use gaming machines.

17.4 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing authority will especially consider the 
impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances 
to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas 
where they are not permitted to enter. 

17.5 This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate suitable 
measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming facilities.  It is 
noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities 
for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that 
they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D 
machines) are provided.

Page 178



29

17.6 This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the 
licensing objectives; however appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues 
such as:

 Proof of age schemes

 CCTV– this should be of sufficient quality that it will be of use in evidence

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas

 Physical separation of areas

 Location of entry

 Notices/signage

 Specific opening hours

 Self-exclusion schemes– these are schemes whereby individuals who acknowledge 
they have a gambling problem ask to be barred from certain premises.

 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare
17.7 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures 

which applicants can consider implementing.
17.8 Gaming machines - Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going 

to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D machines) 
should be located in areas from which children are excluded.

17.9 Betting machines - Licensing authorities have a power under the Gambling Act 2005 to 
restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are 
made available, by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence.

Similar considerations apply in relation to tracks, where the potential space for such 
machines may be considerable, bringing with it significant problems in relation to the 
proliferation of such machines, the ability of track staff to supervise them if they are scattered 
around the track and the ability of the track operator to comply with the law and prevent 
children betting on the machines.

This licensing authority will, as per Part 6 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, take into 
account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by 
children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable 
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator 
proposes to offer.  

17.10 Condition on rules being displayed - A condition will normally be attached to track premises 
licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules relating to tracks which are 
contained in the Act are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other 
measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public.  For example, the 
rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office.

Page 179



30

17.11 Applications and plans – The Act (s51) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises 
with their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the necessary 
information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for gambling.  
The plan will also be used for the licensing authority to plan future premises inspection 
activity (See Guidance, part 20).

17.12 Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale and 
should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations (see 
Guidance, part 20).

17.13 Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined by 
virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks.  In such circumstances, 
where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary structures 
to restrict access to premises (See Guidance, part 20)

17.14 In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in 
question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or races.  
In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through occasional use notices where 
the boundary premises do not need to be defined (See Guidance, part 20).

17.15 This authority appreciates it is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of betting 
areas on tracks.  The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not required 
to be shown on the track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is permitted anywhere 
on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact locations 
for some types of track.  Applicants should provide sufficient information that this authority 
can satisfy itself that the [plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place.  For 
racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known 
as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan (See Guidance, part 20).

18. Travelling Fairs

18.1 This licensing authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D machines 
and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at 
travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more 
than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

18.2 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair:

For the purposes of this Act –
(a) “fair” means a fair consisting wholly or principally of the provision of amusements, and
(b) a fair held on a day in a calendar year is a “travelling fair” if provided-

(i) wholly or principally by persons who travel from place to place for the purpose of 
providing fairs, and

(ii) At a place no part of which has been used for the provision of a fair on more than 
27 days in that calendar year.

18.3 It is noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair, applies on a 
calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 

Page 180



31

regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land.  This 
licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which 
crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

19. Provisional Statements

19.1 Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statement before entering into 
a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development is worth taking 
forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence.  There is no need for the applicant 
to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.

19.2 S204 of the Act provides for a person to make application to the licensing authority for a 
provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she:

 Expects to be constructed;
 Expects to be altered; or
 Expects to acquire a right to occupy.

19.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as that 
for a premises licence application.  The applicant is obliged to give notice of the application 
in the same way as applying for a premises licence.  Responsible authorities and interested 
parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal.

19.4 In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or have 
applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the case of a 
track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect of which their 
provisional application is made.

19.5 The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  The licensing authority will be constrained in 
the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence application, and in terms 
of representations about premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional 
statement, no further representations from  responsible authorities or interested parties can 
be taken into account unless they:

 concern matters which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
licence stage; or

 Reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances.

19.6 In addition the licensing authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters:

 Which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement stage;
 Which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances; or
 Where the premise has not been constructed in accordance with the plan submitted 

with the application.  This must be a substantial change to the plan and this licensing 
authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before 
making a decision.

Page 181



32

20. Reviews

20.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 
responsible authorities; however, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried-out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is 
relevant to the matters listed below:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 In accordance with this authority’s statement of licensing policy.

20.2 The request for a review will also be subject to the consideration by the licensing authority as 
to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly not cause this 
authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is substantially the same 
as previous representations or requests for review.

The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is appropriate.

20.3 Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing authority, 
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during a 28 
day period.  This period begins 7 days after the application was received by the licensing 
authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt.

20.4 The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day period 
for making representations has passed.

20.5 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority should take 
any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified, the options open to the licensing 
authority are:

 Add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing authority;
 Exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening hours) or 

remove or amend such an exclusion;
 Suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and
 Revoke the premises licence.

20.6 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the licensing authority 
must have regard to the principles set out in s153 of the Act, as well as any relevant 
representations.

20.7 In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of the premises licence on the 
grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises.  This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner 
without intending to use them.

20.8 Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as possible, 
notify its decision to:

Page 182



33

 The licence holder;
 The applicant for review (if any);
 The Gambling Commission;
 Any person who made representations;
 The Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable;
 Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenues and Customs.

21 Rights of appeal and judicial review – Premises Licences 

21.1 This section deals only with appeals relating to premises licensing and other decisions by 
the Licensing Authority.   The avenues of appeal against decisions the Licensing Authority 
are set out in sections 206 and 209 of the Act. 

21.2 If an application under Part 8 of the Act is rejected, only the applicant may appeal.  If an 
application under Part 8 of the Act is granted, the applicant and a person who made 
representations may appeal.  It does not automatically follow that the person who made the 
representations will be appellant.  It could be the licensee who is appealing, because he or 
she considers conditions attached to the licence too onerous.  Similar arrangements will 
apply in appeals against a decision not to take action following a review, and in relation to 
the grant of temporary use notices.  The Licensing Authority will choose who it has as its 
witness. 

21.3 If the Licensing Authority takes action or determines to take no action (which may include 
revocation or suspension of the licence, or the removal or addition of licence conditions) 
after the review of a licence, any of the following may appeal: 

 The licence holder 
 A person who made representations in relation to the review 
 Where relevant, the person who applied for the review 
 The Commission. 

21.4 Where the Licensing Authority makes a decision in relation to the transfer of a premises 
licence, which may involve amending licence conditions, the licence holder and the 
applicant for transfer have a right of appeal. 

21.5 Notice of an appeal must be given within 21 days of notice of the decision being received by 
the appellant.  During that period, and until any appeal that has been brought has been 
finally determined, a determination or the other action by the Licensing Authority under Part 
8 of the Action will not have effect unless the authority so directs (see section 208 of the 
Act). 

21.6 In many cases, it is a requirement of the Act that Licensing Authority gives clear and 
comprehensive reasons for rejection of an application.  To clear and transparent the 
Licensing Authority will give reasons for all its decisions (see section 165 of the act, which is 
also applied in relation to other applications under Part 8 of the Act).  A failure to give 
reasons may compel a person to appeal, and may suggest that the Licensing Authority did 
not make its decision with regard to all the information that it should have regard to, and in 
line with its obligation under section 153 (regardless of the decision that was reached). 

Page 183



34

21.7 Any appeal against the Licensing Authority is made to the Magistrates court.  The 
Magistrates court is located at The Magistrates Court, Hall Brow, Workington, Cumbria, 
01900 62244 

21.8 An appeal has to be commenced by giving of a notice of appeal by the appellant to the local 
magistrate’s court within a period of 21 days, beginning with the day on which the appellant 
was notified by the Licensing Authority of the decision being appealed. 

21.9 It should be noted that unless he is the appellant, the licence holder or a person who has 
made application for: 
 A licence 
 The transfer or reinstatement of a licence 
 A provisional statement 
Is a respondent in any appeal, in addition to the Licensing Authority. 

21.10 On determining an appeal, the court may: 
 Dismiss the appeal 
 Substitute the decision appealed against with any other decision that could have been 

made by the Licensing Authority 
 Remit the case to the Licensing Authority to dispose of het appeal in accordance with 

the direction of the court. 

Provisional statements 

21.11 A provisional statement can be refused on exactly the same grounds as a premises licence.  
The applicant may appeal against the rejection of an application of a provisional statement 
under section 206(1); and a person who made representations or the applicant may appeal 
against the grant of an application. 

Permits 

21.12 The process of appeals in respect of permits is different to that for premises licences and is 
set out in the following Schedules of the Act: 
 Schedule 10 – Family entertainment centre gaming machine permits.
 Schedule 11 (Parts 4 and 5) – Small society lotteries.
 Schedule 12 – Club gaming permits and club machine permits.
 Schedule 13 – Licensed premises gaming machine.
 Schedule 14 – Prize gaming permits.

Temporary use notices 

21.13 Appeals in relation to temporary use notices are detailed with in section 226 of the Act.  This 
section grants the right to appeal to the magistrates’ court to both the applicant and any 
person entitled to receive a copy of the notice (that is the Commission, local chief of police 
and HM Revenue and Customs).  Appeals must be made within 21 days of receiving the 

Page 184



35

notice of the Licensing Authority’s decision.  If the appeal is against the decision of the 
authority not to issue a counter-notice, then the person giving notice must be joined with the 
Licensing Authority as a respondent in the case. 

 
21.14 The magistrates’ court may take the following action: dismiss the appeal, direct the authority 

to take specified action, remit it back to the authority to decide in accordance with a decision 
of the court, and make an order for costs.  It should be noted that if the decision is remitted 
to the authority, the same rights of appeal will apply as for the original decision. 

21.15 There is no stay of proceedings in relation to temporary use notices (as there are in relation 
to applications under Part 8 of the Act).  However, the time limits are such that the 
Commission would expect proceedings on appeal to be heard before the temporary use 
notice would otherwise take effect. 

Judicial review 

21.16 Any party to a decision may apply for judicial review if they believe that the decision taken 
by the Licensing Authority is: 
 Illegal – that is beyond the powers available to the Licensing Authority 
 Subject to procedural impropriety or unfairness – which is failure in the process of 

reaching the decision, such as not observing the ‘rules of natural justice’ 
 Irrational – where a decision is so unreasonable that no sensible person could have 

reached it (in effect ‘perverse’ or ‘Wednesbury’ unreasonable). 

21.17 For an application to succeed, the application must show that: 
 The applicant has sufficient standing to make that claim 
 The actions of the reviewed Licensing Authority give grounds for review

But the remedy is a discretionary one and the Court may decline judicial review if, for 
example, it considers that the applicant has an alternative remedy which is more appropriate 
to pursue, such as right of appeal, or has a private law claim against the defendant. 

21.18 The applicant can ask the Court to grant a number of orders.  A mandatory order compels 
the reviewed body to do something; a prohibitory order compels it to refrain from doing 
something; a ‘declaration’ sets out the court’s view on the legality of particular course of 
action, the applicant can seek an injunction which is, in practice, similar to a mandatory or 
prohibitory order.   

Page 185



36

Part C
Permits/Temporary & Occasional Use Notice

22. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits (Statement of 
Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

22.1 Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) are commonly located at seaside resorts, in airports 
and motorway service stations, and cater for families, including unaccompanied children and 
young persons.  Unlicensed FECs are able to offer only category D machines in reliance on 
gaming machine permit.  Any number if category D machines can be made available with 
such permit subject to other considerations, such as fire regulations and health and safety.  
Permits cannot be issued in respect of vessels or vehicles.

22.2 If the operator of a family entertainment centre wants to make category C machines 
available in addition to category D machines, the operator will need to apply for a gaming 
machine general operating licence (Family Entertainment Centre) from the Commission and 
a premises licence from the Licensing Authority.  

22.3 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  It should be noted that the 
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use (s238 of the Act).

22.4 The Act states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a statement of principles that they 
propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit and in 
preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard 
to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the 
Commission under section 25.  The Gambling Commission’s Guidance also states “In their 
three year licensing policy statement, Licensing Authorities may include a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply when exercising their functions in considering 
applications for permits ...., Licensing Authorities will want to give weight to child protection 
issues” (para, 24.6).

22.5 Guidance also states: “... An application for a permit may be granted only if the Licensing 
Authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the chief 
officer of police has been consulted on the application. Licensing Authorities might wish to 
consider asking applications to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible 
in unlicensed FECs;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the 
Act; and

 That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

22.6 It should be noted that a Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

Page 186



37

22.7 This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The efficiency of 
such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, they may 
include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school children 
on the premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very 
young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on/around 
the premises.  

22.8 This Licensing Authority will also expect, as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that 
applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the 
gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant 
convictions (Schedule. 7 of the Act) and that staff are trained to have a full understanding of 
the maximum stakes and prizes.

23. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits - (Schedule 13 
paragraph 4(1))

23.1 Automatic entitlement: up to 2 machines - There is provision in the Act for premises licensed 
to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, 
of categories C and/or D.  The operator of the premises merely needs to notify the Licensing 
Authority and pay the prescribed fee.  The Licensing Authority can remove the automatic 
authorisation in respect of any particular premises if:

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing 
objectives;

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the 
Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority, that 
a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with);

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or

 An offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

23.2 Permit: 3 or more machines - If the operator of alcohol licensed premises wishes to have 
more than 2 machines, then an application must be made for a permit and the Licensing 
Authority must consider that application based upon the licensing objectives, any guidance 
and code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 24 & 25 of 
the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think relevant.”   

23.3 This Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the 
authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the authority that 
there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the 
sight of staff that will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  
Notices and signage may also be a help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, 

Page 187



38

applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare.

23.4 This Licensing Authority recognises that some operators of alcohol licensed premises may 
apply for a premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application 
would most likely need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises 
licence.

23.5 The Licensing Authority may decide to grant the application with a smaller number of 
machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other 
than these) cannot be attached.

23.6 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine.

24. Prize Gaming Permits - (Principles on Permits - Schedule 14 paragraph 8 (3))

24.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” which 
“may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority proposes to consider in 
determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.23.2 This Licensing Authority has 
prepared a Statement of Principles which is that the applicant should set out the types of 
gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that the applicant should demonstrate:

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations;
 that the gaming offered is within the law;
 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

24.3 Prize gaming may be provided in bingo premises as a consequence of their bingo operating 
licence.  Any type of prize gaming may be provided in adult gaming centres and licensed 
family entertainment centres.  Unlicensed family entertainment centres may offer equal 
chance prize gaming under a gaming machine permit.  Prize gaming without a permit may 
be provided by travelling fairs, providing that none of the gambling facilities at the fair 
amount to more than an ancillary amusement.  Children and young people may participate 
in equal chance gaming only.23.4 In making its decision on an application for this permit the 
Licensing Authority does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have 
regard to any Gambling Commission guidance (Schedule. 14 para. 8(3) of the Act).

24.5 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit 
holder must comply, but that the Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions.  The 
conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with;

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which the 
gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on 
the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in 
the premises on the day that it is played;

Page 188



39

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and

 Participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.

25. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

25.1 Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a 
Club Gaming Permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B3A, B4, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of 
chance.

Members Clubs and Miner’s Welfare Institutes – and also Commercial Clubs – may apply for 
a Club Machine Permit.  A Club Machine Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (up to 3 machines of categories B, C or D). N.B. Commercial Clubs may not site 
category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in their club.

This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s guidance at Part 25 states:

“The licensing authority has to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the Act to 
obtain a Club Gaming Permit.  In doing so it will take account of a number of matters 
outlined in sections 25.46-25.48 of the Gambling Commission’s guidance.  These include 
the constitution of the club, the frequency of gaming, and ensuring that there are more than 
25 members. A members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established to make 
commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s 
clubs, branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations".

The club must be conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for the purposes other than gaming, unless 
the gaming is permitted by separate regulations.  The Secretary of State has made 
regulations and these cover bridge and whist clubs.

25.2 The Guidance also states that licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the 
grounds that:

 the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for 
which it has applied;

 the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons;
 an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant 

while providing gaming facilities;
 a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
 An objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the police.

25.3 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule. 12 paragraph 10).  As the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities states: "Under the fast-track 
procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, 
and the grounds upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced." and "The 
grounds on which an application under the process may be refused are:

Page 189



40

a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under 
schedule 12;

b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or

c) That a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last 
ten years has been cancelled”.

25.4 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a code 
of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

26. Temporary Use Notices (TUN)
26.1 The Gambling Act 2005 enables the holder of an operating licence to give a Temporary Use 

Notice in respect of premises. 

The TUN authorises the premises to lawfully be used for short period to provide facilities for 
gambling without the appropriate premises licence.  The gambling must be in accordance 
with the terms of the TUN. 

TUNs can only be made by the holder of an operating licence authorising them to provide 
the gaming activity proposed under the TUN. 

26.2 The holder of the operating licence must give notice to the Licensing Authority in whose 
area the premises are situated.  The Secretary of State has prescribed the form of the notice 
which must specify information including: 
 The type of gaming to be carried on 
 The premises where it will take place 
 The dates and times the gaming will take place 
 Any periods during the previous 12 months that a TUN has had effect for the same 

premises. 
 The date on which the notice is given 
 The nature of the event itself. 

26.3 The same set of premises may not be the subject of a TUN for more than 21 days in any 12-
month period, but may be the subject of several notices provided that the total does not 
exceed 21 days. 

26.4 If the premises have been the subject of one or more TUN for more than a total of 21 days 
in the past 12 months, the Licensing Authority will issue a counter- notice that has the effect 
of stopping the TUN coming into effect.  Failure to comply with the counter-notice will be an 
offence.  The Licensing Authority may issue a counter-notice which limits the number of 
days that the TUN comes into effect, bringing it within the 21-day limit.  Such counter-
notices require consultation with the applicant to ensure that the restrictions they impose do 
not result in an unworkable event. 

26.5 As notices may be given by different operators in respect of the same premises, the 
Licensing Authority will always check whether a counter-notice is appropriate. 

Page 190



41

26.6 A notice may not be given in respect of a vehicle.  A notice may be given in respect of a 
vessel, but only if it is a passenger vessel or a vessel that is situated at a fixed place.  A 
vessel at a fixed place would include a structure on water that is not intended to be able to 
move (such as an oil rig, or an artificially constructed island in the middle of a lake).  It 
should be noted that a notice can only be given in respect of a vessel that is moored 
permanently at place (i.e. it could move but it does not) if it is a passenger vessel. 

26.7 A TUN must be lodged with the Licensing Authority not less than three months and one day 
before the day on which the gambling event will begin.  The application, fee and counter-
notices are specified by the Secretary of State.  The application must be copied to: 
 The Commission 
 The Police 
 HM Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 
 If applicable, any other Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are situated

26.8 The person who is giving the TUN must ensure that the notice and the copies are with the 
recipients within seven days of the date of the notice.  Where the premises are situated in 
the area covered by more than one authority, the person giving notice must send other 
notice to one authority and copy to the other(s).  

26.9 Where the Licensing Authority receives a notice, it must send a written acknowledgement as 
soon as reasonably practicable.  A written acknowledgement may include one sent by 
electronic mail. 

26.10 The Licensing Authority and other bodies to which the notice is copied should consider 
whether they wish to give notice of objection.  In considering whether to do so, they must 
have regard to the licensing objectives and if they consider that the gambling should not 
take place, or only with modifications, they must give a notice of objection to the person who 
gave the TUN.  Such a notice must be copied to the Licensing Authority (unless it is given 
by the Licensing Authority).  The notice of objection and the copy to the Licensing Authority 
must be given within 14 days of the date of the TUN.  An objection and the copy to the 
Licensing Authority must be given within 14 days of the date of the TUN.  An objection may 
be withdrawn by giving written notice to those to whom the notice of objection was sent and 
copied. 

26.11  The Licensing Authority has noted the timescales set out in the Act.  The need to give a 
notice of objection within 14 days of the date of the TUN means that there must be 
procedures to ensure that such notices are considered without delay so that, where 
appropriate, the opportunity to lodge an objection is not missed. 

26.12 If objections are received, the Licensing Authority must hold a hearing to listen to 
representations from the person who gave the TUN, all the objectors and any person who 
was entitled to receive a copy of the notice.  If all the participants agree that a hearing is 
unnecessary, it may be dispensed with. 

Page 191



42

26.13 Those who raise objections may offer modifications to the notice that will alleviate their 
concerns.  Remedies may include a reduction in the number of days when gambling occurs 
or a restriction on the type of gambling is permitted.  If the modifications are accepted by the 
applicant, a new TUN must be prepared and the original notice withdrawn.  The three-month 
time limit and fee will not apply to the new notice.  The person who made the original 
objection and proposed the modification may not object to the new notice, but others whom 
it is copied may object. If there are no new objections, there will be no need for a hearing. 

26.14 If the Licensing Authority, after a hearing has taken place or has been dispensed with, 
considers that the TUN should not have effect, it must issue a counter-notice which may: 
 Prevent the TUN from taking effect 
 Limit the activities that are permitted 
 Limit the time period of gambling 
 Allow the activity to take place subject to a specified condition 

26.15 If the Licensing Authority gives a counter-notice, it must give reasons for doing so and must 
copy the counter-notice to all those who receive copies of the TUN. 

26.16 If the Licensing Authority decides not to issue a counter-notice, the TUN will take effect.  
The must give notice of its decision to the person who gave the TUN and others to whom it 
was copied. 

26.17 An appeal against the Licensing Authority’s decision may be made by the applicant, or any 
person entitled to receive a copy of the TUN, to the Magistrate’s Court within 21 days of 
receiving notice of the Licensing Authority’s decision.  There is a further right of appeal to 
the High Court on a point of law. 

26.18 If no objections are made within 14 days of the date of the notice, the Licensing Authority 
must endorse the notice as valid and return it to the person who gave it.  If the endorsed 
copy of the notice is list, stolen or damaged, the person who gave the notice may request a 
new endorsed copy from the Licensing Authority, subject to a payment of a fee. 

26.19   Section 228 sets a time limit of six weeks for the completion of all proceedings on a TUN.  
This includes considering whether to give a notice objection; hold a hearing, if it is 
necessary; and giving a counter-notice or notice dismissing the objections. 

26.20 The person who gives a TUN may notify the authority that it is withdrawn at any time up to 
and during the time it has effect.  In those circumstances the notice will have no effect, and 
any unlapsed period of time will not count towards the 21-day maximum for a TUN having 
effect on the premises. 

26.21 While the gambling is taking place, a copy of the TUN must be displayed prominently on the 
premises.  It is an offence not to produce the notice endorsed by the authority when request 
to do so by a constable, an officer of HM Revenue and Customs, an enforcement officer, or 
an authorised local authority officer.  

Page 192



43

27. Occasional Use Notices (OUN)

27.1 Section 38 of the Act provides that where there is betting on a track on eight days or less in 
a calendar year, betting may be permitted by an OUN without the need for a full premises 
licence.  

27.2 While tracks are normally thought of as permanent racecourses, it should be noted that the 
meaning of ‘track’ in the Act covers not just horse racecourses or dog tracks, but also any 
other premises on any part of which a race or other sporting event takes place, or is 
intended to take place (section 353(1)). 

27.3 This means that land which as a number of uses, one of which fulfils the definition of track, 
can qualify for the OUN provisions (for example agricultural land upon which a point-to –
point meeting takes place).  Land used temporarily as a track can qualify, provided races or 
sporting events take place or will take place there.  The track need not be a permanent 
fixture. 

27.4 The intention behind OUN is to permit licensed betting operators (with appropriate 
permission from the Commission) to use tracks for short periods for conducting betting, 
where the event upon which the betting is to take place is of a temporary, infrequent nature.  
The OUN dispenses with the need for a betting premises licence for the track in these 
circumstances. 

27.5 OUN may not be relied upon for more than eight days in a calendar year.  Note that the 
requirement relates to a calendar year (starting 1January) and not to any period of 12 
months.  The Secretary of State has the power to increase or decrease the number of OUN 
that are permitted, but there are currently no plans to use this power. 

27.6 This Licensing Authority keeps a record of the number of notices served in relation to each 
track. 

27.7 A notice must be served by a person who is responsible for the administration of events on 
the track or by an occupier of the track.  The notice be served on the Licensing Authority 
and copied to the Chief Officer of Police for the area in which the track is located.  The 
notice must specify the day on which it has effect.  Notices may be given in relation to 
consecutive days, so long as the overall limit of eight days is not exceeded in the calendar 
year. 

27.8 Provided that the notice will not result in betting facilities being available for more than eight 
days in a calendar year, there is no provision for counter-notices or objections to be 
submitted. 

27.9 The Act does not require the applicant or the Licensing Authority to notify the Commission 
that an OUN has been given.  However the Commission does require Licensing Authorities 
to submit returns showing how OUN may were received during each quarter. 

Page 193



44

27.10 It should be noted that betting operators cannot provide gaming machines at tracks by virtue 
of an OUN.  Gaming machines may be made available by betting operators and this is 
reliant on a betting premises licence, which refers to a specific licensed area, but does not 
enable the operator to site gaming machines outside of that area. 

28. Small Society Lotteries

28.1 Part four and five of Schedule 11 to the Act set out the requirements on both societies and 
licensing authorities with respect to the registration of small society lotteries. 

28.2 This licensing authority will adopt the recommendation of the Commission that lottery tickets 
must not be sold to a person in any street. For these purposes ‘street’ includes any bridge, road, 
lane, footway, subway, square, court, alley or passage (including passages through enclosed 
premises such as shopping malls) whether a thoroughfare or not. Tickets, however, may be sold 
in a street from a static structure such as a kiosk or display stand. Tickets may also be sold door 
to door. 

28.3. This licensing authority will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement responsibilities 
for small society lotteries. This authority considers that the following list, although not exclusive, 
could affect the risk status of the operator: 

 submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three months after the 
date on which the lottery draw was held); 

 submission of incomplete or incorrect returns; 

 breaches of the limits for small society lotteries. 

Page 194



45

Appendix 1 – List of Consultees

All Licence Holders 

All Responsible Authorities (as Appendix 2)

All Town/Parish Councils

Association of British Bookmakers, Ground Floor, Warwick House, 25 Buckingham Palace Road, 
London, SW1W 0PP mail@abb.uk.com 

BACTA, 29-30 Ely Place, London, EC1N 6TD info@bacta.org.uk 

Bingo Association, Lexham House, 75 High Street North, Dunstable, LU6 1JF  info@bingo-
association.co.uk 

British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers & Attractions Ltd, 57-61 Newington Causeway, London, 
SE1 6BD info@balppa.org 

British Beer & Pub Association, Ground Floor, Brewers’ Hall, Aldermanbury Square, London, EC2V 
7HR contact@beerandpub.com

British Institute of Innkeeping, Infor House, 1 Lakeside Road, Farnborough, GU14 6XP 

British Transport Police, Citadel Station, Carlisle, Cumbria, CA1 1QZ 
first_contact@btp.pnn.police.uk

Citizens Advice Bureau, Town Hall, Oxford Street, Workington, CA14 2RS 

Cumbria Chamber of Commerce info@cumbriachamber.co.uk 

Gamcare, Head Office, 1st Floor, CAN Mezzanine Old Street, London, N1 6AH, 
info@gamcare.org.uk 

Gamestec Leisure Limited, Unit 1, Interchange 25 Business Park, Bostocks Lane, Sandiacre, 
Nottingham, NG10 5QG, enquiries@gamestec.co.uk 

National Casino Forum, Vicarage House, 58-60 Kensington Church Street, London, W8 4DB 
info@nationalcasinoforum.co.uk 

NHS Cumbria Trust, West Cumberland Hospital, Hensingham, Whitehaven, CA28 8JG 

communications@ncuh.nhs.uk

Prize Coin Equipment, 121 Central Avenue, Gretna, DG16 5AQ, derekpce@aol.com

Pubwatch/West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (lisa.elder@cumbria.pnn.police.uk) 

Racecourse Association Ltd, Winkfield Road, Ascot info@racecourseassociation.co.uk

Page 195

mailto:mail@abb.uk.com
mailto:info@bacta.org.uk
mailto:info@bingo-association.co.uk
mailto:info@bingo-association.co.uk
mailto:info@balppa.org
mailto:contact@beerandpub.com
mailto:first_contact@btp.pnn.police.uk
mailto:info@cumbriachamber.co.uk
mailto:info@gamcare.org.uk
mailto:enquiries@gamestec.co.uk
mailto:info@nationalcasinoforum.co.uk
mailto:communications@ncuh.nhs.uk
mailto:derekpce@aol.com
mailto:lisa.elder@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:info@racecourseassociation.co.uk


46

Appendix 2: Responsible Authorities
Application forms should be sent to the Licensing Department

Notice of the application should be sent to the undermentioned responsible authorities, 
clearly marking the envelope ‘Gambling Act application’

Licensing Department
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk

Environmental Health Team 
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email:  environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk

Planning & Development Manager
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road
Workington CA14 3YJ
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: planning@allerdale.gov.uk

 or

Lake District National Park Authority
Murley Moss
Oxenholme Road
Kendal  LA9 7RL
Tel: 01539 724555
Email: planning@lake-district.gov.uk

Cumbria Constabulary 
West Cumbria Area H.Q.
Hall Brow
Workington CA14 4EH
Tel: 0300 124 0113
Email: admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk

Page 196

mailto:licensing@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:planning@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:planning@lake-district.gov.uk
mailto:admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk


47

Cumbria Fire and Rescue
The Divisional Officer
Safer and Stronger Communities
Cumbria County Council
Workington Community Fire Station
Moorclose Road
Workington CA14 5BF
Tel: 01900 706055
Email: Workington.technical@cumbria.gov.uk

Children’s Services  
Cumbria LSCB 
1st Floor Lower Gaol Yard
The Courts
Carlisle CA3 8NA
Tel: 01228 226898
Email: LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP
Email: info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

Health and Safety Executive
2 Victoria Place
Carlisle
CA1 1ER
Tel: 01228 634100 
Email: formsadmin.carlisle@hse.gsi.gov.uk
(where the HSE is the enforcing authority for health & safety matters in the premises)

Public Health Lead
Public Health
Cumbria County Council
The Courts
Carlisle
CA3 8NA
Tel: 01228 226626

Page 197

mailto:Workington.technical@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
mailto:formsadmin.carlisle@hse.gsi.gov.uk


48

HM Revenues and Customs
NRU Betting and Gaming
Portcullis House
21 India Street
Glasgow
G2 4PZ
Email: nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk

Page 198

mailto:nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk


49

Appendix 3: Other Useful Addresses

British Beer and Pub Association
Ground Floor
Brewers’ Hall
Aldermanbury Square
London
EC2V 7HR
Tel: 0207 627 9191
Email:  contact@beerandpub.com
Web:    www.beerandpub.com

British Institute of Innkeeping
Infor House
1 Lakeside Road
Farnborough
GU14 6XP
Tel: 01276 684 449
Web: www.bii.org

Disability Rights Commission Helpline
Freepost MID02164
Stratford Upon Avon 
CV37 9BR
Tel: 08457 622 633
Web: www.drc-gb.org

Equity
Guild House
Upper St Martin’s Lane
London
WC2H 9EG
Tel: 0207 379 6000
Email: info@equity.org.uk
Web: www.equity.org.uk

West Allerdale Magistrates Court
Hall Brow
Ramsey Brow
Workington
CA14 4AS
Tel: 01900 62244

North Cumbria Magistrates Courts Service

Page 199

mailto:contact@beerandpub.com
http://www.beerandpub.com/
http://www.bii.org/
http://www.bii.org/
http://www.drc-gb.org/
mailto:info@equity.org.uk
http://www.equity.org.uk/
http://www.equity.org.uk/


50

The Court House
Rickergate
Carlisle
CA3 8QH
Tel: 01228 51880
Email: cumbria.north.magistrates@justice.gov.uk

Gamcare
1st Floor
CAN Mezzanine Old Street
London
N1 6AH
Tel: 020 7801 7000
Helpline: 0808 8020 133
Email: info@gamcare.org.uk
Web: gamcare.org.uk

Gamblers Anonymous
Doncaster CVS
Intake Wellness Centre
Doncaster
DN2 6PL
www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk

Money Advice Trust
21 Garlick Hill
London
EC4V 2AU
Tel: 020 7489 7796
Web: www.moneyadvicetrust.org/home.html
 
Step Change Debt Charity
Wade House
Merrion Centre
Leeds 
LS2 8NG
Tel: 0800 138 1111
Web: www.stepchange.org 

Page 200

mailto:info@gamcare.org.uk
http://www.moneyadvicetrust.org/home.html
http://www.stepchange.org/


51

Appendix 4 - Categories of Gaming Machines

Category of Machine
Maximum Stake

(from Jan 2014)

Maximum Prize

(from Jan 2014)

A Unlimited Unlimited

B1 £5 £10,000 or £20,000

B2 £100 £500

B3A £2 £500

B3 £2 £500

B4 £2 £400

C £1 £100

D – Non Money Prize 30p £8 Tokens

D – Non Money Prize (crane 
grab machines only) £1 £50

D - Money Prize 10p. £5

D – Combined Money and 
Non Money Prize 10p. £8 (of which no more than £5 

may be a money prize)

D – Combined Money and 
Non Money Prize (coin 
pusher or penny falls 

machines only)

20p. £20 (of which no more than 
£10 may be a money prize)

The above figures may be subject to change

Page 201



52

Appendix 5 - Delegation of Functions

Matter to be dealt with Council
Licensing Committee or 
Sub-committee of 
Licensing Committee

Officers

Final approval of three year 
licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Fee setting
(when appropriate) X

Application for premises 
licences

X
Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

X
Where no representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a 
licence

X
Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

X
Where no representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

X
Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission or Responsible 
Authority

X
Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission or Responsible 
Authority

Application for a provisional 
statement

X
Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

X
Where no representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X

Application for club gaming/club 
machine permits

X
Where objections have been 
made and not withdrawn

X
Where no objections 
made/objections have been 
withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming/club 
machine permits X

Applications for other permits X (for more than 4 machines) X (up to 4 machines)

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits

X

Consideration of temporary use 
notice X

Decision to give a counter notice X

Page 202



53

to a temporary use notice

X - Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

Page 203



54

Appendix 6 - Map of the Borough

Page 204



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Community Governance Review - Workington Town Council

The Reason for the Decision: To consider the recommendations of the 
Workington Community Governance 
Review Working Group following a 
Review of the Workington parish area              

Summary of options considered: To approve a draft Reorganisation Order 
amending the parish ward boundaries 
and the electoral arrangements of the 
parish. 

Recommendations: That Council approves the 
Reorganisation Order for Workington 
Town Council, to take effect at the 
normal parish council elections in May 
2019, and which will have the effect of:

1. Amending the ward boundaries of 
the parish as detailed on the 
maps contained within the Order

2. Amending the electoral 
arrangements of the parish to 
reduce the council size from 30 to 
25

Financial /  Resource Implications None

Legal / Governance Implications Implications for electoral administration 
of the parish 

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected: All six Allerdale Borough Council 
Workington wards

Is this a Key Decision: Yes

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Joan Ellis

Page 205

Agenda Item 15



Lead Officer Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial N
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 LGBCE Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
 LGBCE Final recommendations for new local government electoral 

arrangements for Allerdale Borough Council 
 Workington CGR Working Group reports and minutes

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Section 100 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (The Act) sets out the process by which Principal Authorities such as 
Allerdale Borough Council can carry out a Community Governance Review 
(CGR) of parish arrangements within its area. 

1.2 Allerdale Borough Council at its meeting on 15 November 2017 agreed to a 
request by Workington Town Council to carry out a Community Governance 
Review of the parish. Council established a Working Group comprising all 15 
Allerdale Borough Councillors who represented the Workington wards, and 
agreed the Terms of Reference that stated that the review would look at the 
parish ward boundaries and electoral arrangements in respect of council size. 

1.3 In May 2018 Councillor Stoddart submitted to Council a petition calling for a 
review into the setting up of a separate parish council for the Moorclose ward 
area. Council agreed at its meeting on 25 July 2018 to amend the terms of 
reference for the Workington parish review to enable the Working Group to 
include the Moorclose option during the second stage of the consultation 
process. 

Page 206



2.0 Statutory Consultation Process

2.1 The Workington CGR Working Group met monthly from February to October 
2018 and members of Workington Town Council were invited to attend all 
meetings. 

2.2 The Working Group ran a two-stage consultation process on the Review; the 
first stage took the form of an online and paper questionnaire and asked local 
residents, statutory consultees and other stakeholders for their reviews on the 
current arrangements for the town council. 

2.3 Based on the responses received at Stage 1, the Working Group proposed 
changes to the ward boundaries and to the council size. These proposals 
were consulted on at Stage 2 via an online and paper questionnaire, which 
also asked whether a separate parish council should be established for the 
Moorclose ward. 

2.4 As part of the Stage 2 consultation process three consultation events were 
held across Workington on Saturday mornings during October 2018.  
Members of the Working Group and officers attended the events to answer 
questions and encourage residents to complete the Stage 2 questionnaire. 

3.0 Outcome of the Consultation Process and Statutory Process

3.1 Workington Town Council currently comprises 30 members across 11 parish 
wards. The proposals will reduce the number of wards to 8 and the number of 
councillors to 25. Maps of the proposed new wards are included with the Draft 
Reorganisation Order at Appendix A. The allocation of councillors to wards 
and the ratio of electors to councillors is shown at Appendix B. 

3.2 There is no set formula for determining the optimum number of councillors 
representing the electorate in their area, however the Electoral Commission 
makes it clear that in order to ensure everyone’s vote is equal, elector to 
councillor ratios should be “as equal as they can be” across the electoral area.  

3.3 In respect of the Moorclose petition, more than 70% of the respondents to the 
Stage 2 consultation process said that they did not support the establishment 
of a separate parish council for Moorclose. The Working Group therefore 
resolved to note the petition and have not put forward any specific 
recommendation to Council. 

 
3.4 The review of Allerdale Borough Council by the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England (LGBCE) will take effect at the ordinary elections in 
May 2019; some of the changes to the Allerdale wards would have had the 
effect of losing co-terminosity with the Workington parish wards. The 
proposed new parish boundaries will resolve this issue. 

3.5 Any Reorganisation Order agreed by Council must be implemented at the 
next ordinary parish council elections in May 2019.  

Page 207



3.6 The Local Government Boundary Commissioners have advised that any 
parishes that were subject to revised electoral arrangements during the recent 
LGBCE review of Allerdale are protected for 5 years. The Allerdale review 
proposed a reallocation of councillors within the Workington Town Council 
wards.  Therefore any proposals arising from this Community Governance 
Review will need the formal consent of the Commissioners. The draft 
Reorganisation Order has been sent to the Commissioners and their 
response is awaited. 

4.0 Polling Districts and Polling Scheme

4.1 A review of the authority’s polling districts and polling scheme is currently 
being undertaken and this will be presented to Council in January 2019. The 
outcome of these proposals will be taken into consideration during the review. 

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1 There are no significant costs arising from the implementation of the 
amendments to the parish wards and electoral arrangements. 

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 The procedure for conducting a Community Governance Review is set out in 
legislation and all statutory requirements have been complied with. 

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That Council approves the Reorganisation Order for Workington Town 
Council, to take effect at the normal parish council elections in May 2019, and 
which will have the effect of:

1. Amending the ward boundaries of the parish as detailed on the maps 
contained within the Order

2. Amending the electoral arrangements of the parish to reduce the 
council size from 30 to 25

Appendices:

Appendix A Draft Reorganisation Order – Workington Town Council 
Appendix B Distribution of Councillors to wards and electors

Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

Page 208



 LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN 
HEALTH ACT 2007 

The Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 
Governance – Workington Town Council) Order 2018 

Made - - - - [day] [month] [year] 

Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2) 

Allerdale Borough Council (“the council”), in accordance with section 82 and 85 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (1) (“the 2007 Act”), has undertaken a community governance 
review and made recommendations dated 1 November 2018.

The council has decided to give effect to those recommendations and, in accordance with section 93 of the 
2007 Act, has consulted with the local government electors and other interested persons and has had regard 
to the need to secure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community and 
is effective and convenient.

The council, in accordance with section 100 of the 2007 Act, has had regard to guidance issued under that 
section.
 
The council makes the following Order in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 86, 98(3) and 
240(10) of the 2007 Act.

Citation and commencement(a) 
1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 

Governance – Workington Town Council) Order 2018

 (2) Article 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 shall come into force on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019.

Interpretation 
2. In this Order— 

“borough” means the borough (2) of Allerdale;

“existing” means existing on the date this Order is made;

 “ordinary day of election of councillors” has the meaning given by section 37 of the Representation of 
the People Act 1983 (3); and 

“registration officer” means an officer appointed for the purpose of, and in accordance with, section 8 
(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983. 

(1) 2007 c.28
(2) The non-metropolitan district of Cumbria has the status of a borough
(3) 1983 c.2, section 37 has been amended by section 18(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1985 (c.50), section 17 of the Greater 
London Authority Act l999 (c.29) and section 60 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (c.28)
(4) Section 8 has been amended by the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c.19) and the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 
(c.39)

Page 209



Effect of Order 
3. This Order has effect subject to any agreement under section 99 (agreements about incidental matters) 

of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 relevant to any provision of this 
Order.

Alteration of the areas of parish wards 
3.1.— (1) The area coloured red and designated by the letter “A” on the Workington Town Council 

Order 2018 Part A map shall cease to be part of the parish ward of St. Michael’s shall become part of the 
Northside ward of the parish of Workington.

(2) The area coloured red and designated by the letter “B” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part B map shall cease to be part of the parish ward of Stainburn and shall become part of the St. John’s 
ward of the parish of Workington.

(3)  The area coloured red and designated by the letter “C” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part C map shall cease to be the parish ward of St. Joseph’s and shall become part of the St. John’s ward 
of the parish of Workington.

(4)  The area coloured red and designated by the letter “D” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part D map shall cease to be the parish ward of Ellerbeck and shall become part of the St. John’s ward of 
the parish of Workington.

(5) The area coloured red and designated by the letter “E” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part E map shall cease to be part of the parish ward of Moorclose and shall become part of the St. John’s 
ward of the parish of Workington.

(6)  The area coloured red and designated by the letter “F” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part F map shall cease to be the parish ward of Iredale and shall become part of the Moss Bay ward of the 
parish of Workington.

(7) The area coloured red and designated by the letter “G” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part G map shall cease to be part of the parish ward of Moorclose and shall become part of the Moss Bay 
ward of the parish of Workington.

(8) The area coloured red and designated by the letter “H” on the Workington Town Council Order 2018 
Part H map shall cease to be part of the parish ward of Harrington and shall become part of the parish of 
the Salterbeck ward of the parish of Workington.

Change of ward name
3.2.—(1) In accordance with article3.1 the ward parish of Moss Bay in the parish of Workington shall be 
named the ward parish of Westfield.

Wards of the parish of Workington and numbers of parish councillors 
3.3.—(1) The existing wards of the parish of Workington shall be formed in accordance with article 3.1 

of this Order. 
(2) The parish shall be divided into eight (8) wards which shall be named as set out in column (1) of 

Schedule 2. 
(3) Each ward shall comprise the area of the wards specified in respect of the ward in column (2) of that 

Schedule.
(4) The number of councillors to be elected for each ward shall be the number specified in respect of the 

ward in column (3) of that Schedule.

Page 210



Electoral register 
4. The registration officer for the borough shall make such rearrangement of, or adaptation of, the 

register of local government electors as may be necessary for the purposes of, and in consequence of, this 
Order. 

Transitional provision 
5. Until the councillors elected to the council of the new parish wards of Workington at the elections to 

be held on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019 come into office, the new parish wards shall 
be represented by those persons who immediately before 1st April 2019 are the elected councillors for the 
parish of Workington. 

Order date 
6. 1st April 2019 is the order date for the purposes of the Local Government (Parishes and Parish 

Councils) (England) Regulations 2008(5). 

Sealed with the seal of the council on the [day e.g. 31st] day of [month] [year] 

[Signature]
[day e.g. 31st] [month] [year] [Title of signatory]

(5) S.I. 2008/625.

Page 211



SCHEDULE 1 article 3.2

WARDS OF THE PARISH OF WORKINGTON 
NAMES AND AREAS OF 
WARDS AND NUMBERS 
OF COUNCILLORS 
Column (1) 

Column (2) Column (3) 

Name of Ward Area of Ward Number of Councillors 
Northside The ward of Northside 1

Stainburn The ward of Stainburn 2

St.John’s The ward of St. John’s 6

St. Michael’s The ward of St. Michael’s 4

Westfield The ward of Westfield 3

Moorclose The ward of Moorclose 3

Salterbeck The ward of Salterbeck 3

Harrington The ward of Harrington 3

Page 212



EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order) 

This Order gives effect to recommendations made by Allerdale Borough Council for the alternation of the 
area of the parish wards of the parish of Workington within the borough of Allerdale. 

The parish of Workington will be altered with effect from 1 April 2019. The electoral arrangements 
apply in respect of parish elections to be held on and after the ordinary day of election of councillors in 
2019. 

Article 3 and the map establish the names and areas of the new wards of the parish of Workington and 
the numbers of councillors for each ward. 

Article 4 obliges the Electoral Registration Officer to make any necessary amendments to the electoral 
register to reflect the new electoral arrangements. 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 214



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part A map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 11:51 AM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 216



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part B map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 11:53 AM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 218



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part C map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 11:55 AM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

P
age 219



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 220



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part D map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 11:57 AM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

P
age 221



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 222



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part E map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 11:59 AM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

P
age 223



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 224



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part F map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 12:02 PM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

P
age 225



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 226



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part G map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 12:04 PM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

P
age 227



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 228



Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part H map
Scale: 1:15000
Printed on: 27/11/2018 at 12:06 PM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

200 m
1000 f t

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 230



APPENDIX B

WORKINGTON TOWN COUNCIL 

PROPOSED NEW WARDS COUNCILLOR ALLOCATION

Ward Proposed Number 
Cllrs

Electorate Ratio

Harrington 3 2,277 759

Moorclose 3 2,387 796

Northside 1    747 747

Salterbeck 3 2,207 736

St John’s 6 4,502 750

St Michael’s 4 2,894 723

Stainburn 2 1,533 766

Westfield 3 2,254 751

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 232



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Community Governance Reviews  -  Parish Councils

The Reason for the Decision: To consider the recommendations of the 
Parish Community Governance Review 
Working Group following reviews of four 
parish areas.         

Summary of options considered: To approve the draft Reorganisation 
Orders for Broughton Parish Council, 
Embleton Parish Council and Keswick 
Town Council and to note the proposal 
for Winscales Parish Council.

Recommendations: 1. That Council approves the 
Reorganisation Order for Broughton 
Parish Council, to take effect at the 
ordinary parish council elections in 
May 2019 and which will have the 
effect of amending the council size 
from 13 to 10. 

2.That Council approves the 
Reorganisation Order for Embleton 
Parish Council, to take effect at the 
ordinary parish council elections in 
May 2019 and which will have the 
effect of unwarding the parish area. 

3. That Council approves the 
Reorganisation Order for Keswick 
Town Council, to take effect at the 
ordinary parish council elections in 
May 2019 and which will have the 
effect of amending the parish 
boundary as detailed in the map 
attached to the Order. 

4. That no changes be made in respect 
of Winscales Parish Council. 

Financial /  Resource Implications None 

Legal / Governance Implications Implications for electoral administration 
of the parish 

Page 233

Agenda Item 16



Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected: Broughton St Bridget’s, Crummock, 
Keswick and Harrington

Is this a Key Decision: Yes

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) Y Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 LGBCE Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
 LGBCE Final recommendations for new local government electoral 

arrangements for Allerdale Borough Council 
 Parish CGR Working Group reports and minutes

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Section 100 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (The Act) sets out the process by which Principal Authorities such as 
Allerdale Borough Council can carry out a Community Governance Review 
(CGR) of parish arrangements within its area. 

1.2 In early 2018, following discussions with the Cumbria Association of Local 
Councils, all parish councils in the Allerdale area were contacted and asked if 
they wished to have a community governance review ahead of the ordinary 

Page 234



council elections in May 2019. Four parish councils responded to request a 
CGR:

 Broughton Parish Council asked for a review of council size 
 Embleton Parish Council asked that the parish be unwarded.
 Keswick Town Council requested a review of council boundaries
 Winscales Parish Council asked for a general review following the 

resignation of all but one of their seven members 

1.3 Allerdale Borough Council at its meeting on 7 March 2018 agreed to carry out 
the four requested Community Governance Reviews and approved the Terms 
of Reference for each. A Working Group was established comprising the 
Allerdale Borough Councillors who represented the four relevant wards. 

1.4 Where CGRs are commenced by council resolution (as opposed to petition) 
there is no time limit on the length of the review, but any changes agreed by 
Council must be implemented at the next ordinary parish council elections in 
May 2019.  

1.5 The Parish CGR Working Group met monthly from April 2018 and the main 
focus of its work was in connection with planning and delivering the statutory 
consultation processes across the affected areas. The Working Group formed 
its recommendations from the outcome of those events and consultation with 
the relevant parish councils.  

2.0 Broughton

2.1 Broughton Parish Council had requested a review as they felt the current 
number of councillors (13) was not sustainable and they were unable to attract 
interest in candidates putting themselves forward for election or co-option. 

2.2 The Working Group ran a single stage consultation process for Broughton via 
an online and paper questionnaire. Local residents, statutory consultees and 
other stakeholders were asked for their views on the proposed reduction in 
council size. 

2.3 From the outcome of the consultation the Working group concluded that there 
was strong support for the proposal and recommended that the council size 
be reduced from 13 to 10. 

2.4 The Draft Reorganisation Order for Broughton is attached at Appendix A. 

3.0 Embleton

3.1 Currently the Embleton parish area is divided into three wards; Embleton, 
Setmurthy and Wythop. This arrangement presents some administrative 
challenges and the size of the overall electorate is relatively small. Embleton 
parish ward has 253 registered electors whereas Setmurthy has only 87 and 
Wythop 34.

 

Page 235



3.2 The Working Group ran a single stage consultation process for Embleton via 
an online and paper questionnaire, consulting with local residents, statutory 
consultees and stakeholders.

3.3 The overwhelming majority of consultees supported the proposal that the 
parish should be unwarded so that electors could be equally represented by 
all parish councillors. 

3.4 The Draft Reorganisation Order for Embleton is attached at Appendix B.
 
4.0 Keswick

4.1 Keswick Town Council had requested a review of the parish boundary, 
focussing on land north of the current boundary with the line of the A66 
northern bypass. The proposal was to incorporate part of Underskiddaw 
Parish and part of St John’s, Castlerigg and Wythburn Parish into the Keswick 
parish area.

4.2 The Working Group carried out a single stage consultation process with 
electors, statutory consultees and stakeholders via an online and paper 
questionnaire and also wrote directly to those properties affected by the 
proposal. 

4.3 The majority of the responses to the consultation supported the proposal, with 
those directly affected stating that they identified more with Keswick than with 
the parish area they were currently in. 

4.4 The Draft Reorganisation Order for Keswick is attached at Appendix C and 
includes a plan of the areas affected by the proposal.  

5.0 Winscales

5.1 Winscales parish council had requested a review following the resignation of 
five of its six remaining councillors; there was already a vacant seat that had 
not been co-opted to. The clerk had also recently resigned and a new interim 
clerk was appointed in May 2018. 

5.2 In requesting the review, the parish council suggested that the parish could be 
dissolved and subsumed into the Workington town council area. 

5.3 The quorum for a parish council is three voting members. Because of the 
number of resignations received in March 2018 the council was no longer 
quorate, therefore in accordance with section 91 of the Local Government Act 
1972 Allerdale Borough Council nominated six of its members to act as 
temporary members of the parish council. 

5.4 Councillors Harrington, Osborn, Fryer, Hansen, Heaslip and Holliday took up 
their seats as temporary members in July 2018. Councillor Harrington has 
since been formally co-opted as a permanent member onto the parish council 
along with another permanent co-optee. 

Page 236



5.5 The parish council now has three permanent members and has been actively 
promoting the work of the council and seeking additional co-opted members. 

5.6 The Working Group carried out a two stage consultation process, via a 
questionnaire and by writing directly to all households in the parish, on the 
future of Winscales parish council. The results of the stage 1 process showed 
a consensus within the parish and from statutory consultees that the preferred 
option was to maintain Winscales as a separate parish council.    

5.7 Stage 2 of the consultation process asked consultees if they agreed with the 
proposal to retain Winscales Parish Council and if so, whether the size of the 
council should be reduced from 7 members. The majority of responses agreed 
that the parish council be retained and with the same number of councillors, 
because of the risk of inquorate meetings if there were fewer members. 

5.8 The proposal of the Working Group is therefore that no changes should be 
made to Winscales Parish Council at this stage. 

6.0 Finance/Resource Implications

6.1 There are no significant costs arising from the implementation of the 
amendments to the three parish councils subject to Reorganisation Orders. 

7.0 Legal Implications and Risks

7.1 The procedure for conducting a Community Governance Review is set out in 
legislation and all statutory requirements have been complied with. 

8.0 Recommendations

1. That Council approves the Reorganisation Order for Broughton Parish 
Council, to take effect at the normal parish council elections in May 
2019 and which will have the effect of amending the council size from 
13 to 10. 

2. That Council approves the Reorganisation Order for Embleton Parish 
Council, to take effect at the normal parish council elections in May 
2019 and which will have the effect of unwarding the parish area. 

3. That Council approves the Reorganisation Order for Keswick Town 
Council, to take effect at the normal parish council elections in May 
2019 and which will have the effect of amending the parish boundary 
as detailed in the map attached to the Order. 

4. That no changes be made in respect of Winscales Parish Council.

Appendices:

Appendix A Draft Reorganisation Order - Broughton

Page 237



Appendix B Draft Reorganisation Order – Embleton
Appendix C Draft Reorganisation Order – Keswick 
 

Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

Page 238



 LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN 
HEALTH ACT 2007 

The Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 
Governance – Broughton Parish Council) Order 2018 

Made - - - - [day] [month] [year] 

Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2) 

Allerdale Borough Council (“the council”), in accordance with section 82 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (1) (“the 2007 Act”), has undertaken a community governance 
review and made recommendations dated 24 October 2018.

The council has decided to give effect to those recommendations and, in accordance with section 93 of the 
2007 Act, has consulted with the local government electors and other interested persons and has had regard 
to the need to secure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community and 
is effective and convenient.

The council, in accordance with section 100 of the 2007 Act, has had regard to guidance issued under that 
section.
 
The council makes the following Order in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 86, 98(3) and 
240(10) of the 2007 Act.

Citation and commencement(a) 
1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 

Governance – Broughton Parish Council) Order 2018

 (2) Article 3.1 shall come into force on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019.

Interpretation 
2. In this Order— 

“borough” means the borough (2) of Allerdale;

“existing” means existing on the date this Order is made;

 “ordinary day of election of councillors” has the meaning given by section 37 of the Representation of 
the People Act 1983 (3); and 

“registration officer” means an officer appointed for the purpose of, and in accordance with, section 8 
(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983. 

(1) 2007 c.28
(2) The non-metropolitan district of Cumbria has the status of a borough
(3) 1983 c.2, section 37 has been amended by section 18(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1985 (c.50), section 17 of the Greater 
London Authority Act l999 (c.29) and section 60 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (c.28)
(4) Section 8 has been amended by the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c.19) and the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 
(c.39)

Page 239



Effect of Order 
3. This Order has effect subject to any agreement under section 99 (agreements about incidental matters) 

of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 relevant to any provision of this 
Order.

Number of parish councillors for the parish of Broughton
3.1. The number of councillors to be elected for the parish of Broughton shall be ten (10).

Electoral register 
4. The registration officer for the borough shall make such rearrangement of, or adaptation of, the 

register of local government electors as may be necessary for the purposes of, and in consequence of, this 
Order. 

Transitional provision 
5. Until the councillors elected to the council of the new parish of Broughton at the elections to be held 

on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019 come into office, the new parish shall be represented 
by those persons who immediately before 1st April 2019 are the elected councillors for the parish of 
Broughton. 

Order date 
6. 1st April 2019 is the order date for the purposes of the Local Government (Parishes and Parish 

Councils) (England) Regulations 2008(5). 

Sealed with the seal of the council on the [day e.g. 31st] day of [month] [year] 

[Signature]
[day e.g. 31st] [month] [year] [Title of signatory]

(5) S.I. 2008/625.

Page 240



EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Order) 

This Order gives effect to recommendations made by Allerdale Borough Council for the parish of 
Broughton within the borough of Allerdale. 

The parish of Broughton will be altered with effect from 1 April 2019. The electoral arrangements apply 
in respect of parish elections to be held on and after the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019. 

Article 3.1 specifies the numbers of parish councillors for the parish of Broughton. 

Article 4 obliges the Electoral Registration Officer to make any necessary amendments to the electoral 
register to reflect the new electoral arrangements. 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 242



 LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN 
HEALTH ACT 2007 

The Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 
Governance – Embleton Parish Council) Order 2018 

Made - - - - [day] [month] [year] 
Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2) 

Allerdale Borough Council (“the council”), in accordance with section 82 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007(1) (“the 2007 Act”), has undertaken a community governance 
review and made recommendations dated 24 October 2018. 

The council has decided to give effect to those recommendations and, in accordance with section 93 of the 
2007 Act, has consulted with the local government electors and other interested persons and has had regard 
to the need to secure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community and 
is effective and convenient.

The council, in accordance with section 100 of the 2007 Act, has had regard to guidance issued under that 
section.

The council makes the following Order in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 86, 98(3) and 
240(10) of the 2007 Act.

Citation and commencement
1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 

Governance – Embleton Parish Council) Order 2018. 
(2) Subject to paragraphs (3) below, this Order comes into force on 1st April 2019. 
(3) For the purposes of: 

(a) this article, and 
(b) proceedings preliminary or relating to the election of parish councillors for the parish of 
Embleton, to be held on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019,

this Order shall come into force on the day after that on which it is made.

Interpretation 
2. In this Order— 

“borough” means the borough(2) of Allerdale; 

“existing” means existing on the date this Order is made; 

“map” means the map marked “Map referred to in the Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of 
Community Governance – Embleton Parish Council) Order 2018” and deposited in accordance with 
section 96(4) of the 2007 Act: and any reference to a numbered sheet is a reference to the sheet of the 
map which bears that number;

(1) 2007 c.28
(2)The non-metropolitan district of Cumbria has the status of a borough

Page 243



 “ordinary day of election of councillors” has the meaning given by section 37 of the Representation of 
the People Act 1983(3); and 

“registration officer” means an officer appointed for the purpose of, and in accordance with, section 8(
4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983. 

Effect of Order 
3. This Order has effect subject to any agreement under section 99 (agreements about incidental matters) 

of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 relevant to any provision of this 
Order.

Wards of the parish of Embleton and numbers of parish councillors 

3.1.—(1) The Embleton, Setmurthy and Wythop wards of the parish of Embleton shall be abolished. 
(2) The parish shall consist of the area of the borough specified on the map;
(3) The number of councillors to be elected for the ward shall be 12; 

Electoral register 
4. The registration officer for the borough shall make such rearrangement of, or adaptation of, the 

register of local government electors as may be necessary for the purposes of, and in consequence of, this 
Order. 

Transitional provision 
5. Until the councillors elected to the council of the new un-warded parish of Embleton at the elections 

to be held on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019 come into office, the new parish shall be 
represented by those persons who immediately before 1st April 2019 are the elected councillors for the 
wards of Embleton, Setmurthy and Wythop. 

Order date 
6. 1st April 2019 is the order date for the purposes of the Local Government (Parishes and Parish 

Councils) (England) Regulations 2008(5). 

Sealed with the seal of the council on the [day e.g. 31st] day of [month] [year] 

[Signature]
[day e.g. 31st] [month] [year] [Title of signatory]

(3) 1983 c.2, section 37 has been amended by section 18(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1985 (c.50), section 17 of the Greater 
London Authority Act l999 (c.29) and section 60 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (c.28)
(4) Section 8 has been amended by the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c.19) and the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 
(c.39)
(5) S.I. 2008/625.

Page 244



EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Order) 

This Order gives effect to recommendations made by Allerdale borough Council for the abolition of the 
wards of Embleton, Setmurthy and Wythop within the borough of Allerdale 

The wards of Embleton, Setmurthy and Wythop will be abolished with effect from 1 April 2019. The 
electoral arrangements apply in respect of parish elections to be held on and after the ordinary day of 
election of councillors in 2019. 

Article 3.1(3) specifies the numbers of parish councillors for the parish of Embleton. 

Article 4 obliges the Electoral Registration Officer to make any necessary amendments to the electoral 
register to reflect the new electoral arrangements. 

The map defined in article 2 shows the extent of the parish of Embleton. It is available, at all reasonable 
times, at the offices of Allerdale Borough Council.

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 246



 LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN 
HEALTH ACT 2007 

The Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 
Governance – Keswick Town Council) Order 2018 

Made - - - - [day] [month] [year] 

Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2) 

Allerdale Borough Council (“the council”), in accordance with section 82 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (1) (“the 2007 Act”), has undertaken a community governance 
review and made recommendations dated 24 October 2018.

The council has decided to give effect to those recommendations and, in accordance with section 93 of the 
2007 Act, has consulted with the local government electors and other interested persons and has had regard 
to the need to secure that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community and 
is effective and convenient.

The council, in accordance with section 100 of the 2007 Act, has had regard to guidance issued under that 
section.
 
The council makes the following Order in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 86, 98(3) and 
240(10) of the 2007 Act.

Citation and commencement(a) 
1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the Allerdale Borough Council (Reorganisation of Community 

Governance –Keswick Town Council) Order 2018

 (2) Article 3.1 shall come into force on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019.

Interpretation 
2. In this Order— 

“borough” means the borough (2) of Allerdale;

“existing” means existing on the date this Order is made;

 “ordinary day of election of councillors” has the meaning given by section 37 of the Representation of 
the People Act 1983 (3); and 

“registration officer” means an officer appointed for the purpose of, and in accordance with, section 8 
(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983. 

(1) 2007 c.28
(2) The non-metropolitan district of Cumbria has the status of a borough
(3) 1983 c.2, section 37 has been amended by section 18(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1985 (c.50), section 17 of the Greater 
London Authority Act l999 (c.29) and section 60 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (c.28)
(4) Section 8 has been amended by the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c.19) and the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 
(c.39)

Page 247



Effect of Order 
3. This Order has effect subject to any agreement under section 99 (agreements about incidental matters) 

of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 relevant to any provision of this 
Order.

Alteration of the areas of parish wards 

3.1.—(1) The area coloured and designated by the letter “A” on the map shall cease to be part of the 
unwarded parish of Underskiddaw and shall become part of the parish of Keswick and West ward of that 
parish.

3.2.—(1) The area coloured and designated by the letter “B” on the map shall cease to be part of the 
unwarded parish of St, John’s Castlerigg and Whythburn and shall become part of the parish of Keswick 
and East ward of that parish.

Electoral register 
4. The registration officer for the borough shall make such rearrangement of, or adaptation of, the 

register of local government electors as may be necessary for the purposes of, and in consequence of, this 
Order. 

Transitional provision 
5. Until the councillors elected to the council of the new parish wards of Keswick at the elections to be 

held on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019 come into office, the new parish wards shall be 
represented by those persons who immediately before 1st April 2019 are the elected councillors for the 
parish of Keswick. 

Order date 
6. 1st April 2019 is the order date for the purposes of the Local Government (Parishes and Parish 

Councils) (England) Regulations 2008(5). 

Sealed with the seal of the council on the [day e.g. 31st] day of [month] [year] 

[Signature]
[day e.g. 31st] [month] [year] [Title of signatory]

(5) S.I. 2008/625.

Page 248



EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order) 

This Order gives effect to recommendations made by Allerdale Borough Council for the alternation of the 
area of the parish of Keswick within the borough of Allerdale. 

The parish of Keswick will be altered with effect from 1 April 2019. The electoral arrangements apply in 
respect of parish elections to be held on and after the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019. 

Article 3 and the map establish the names and areas of the wards of the new parish of Keswick. 

Article 4 obliges the Electoral Registration Officer to make any necessary amendments to the electoral 
register to reflect the new electoral arrangements. 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 250



Reorganisation of Community Governance – Keswick Town Council - Map
Scale: 1:6000
Printed on: 26/11/2018 at 18:15 PM by christopher.fleming © Astun Technology Ltd

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey LA100018832

100 m
200 f t

P
age 251



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 252



   Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Changes to Officer Scheme of Delegations

The Reason for the Decision The report outlines proposals in relation to 
updating the Council’s Constitution to reflect the 
current senior staffing structure.

Summary of options considered The Constitution needs to be amended to reflect 
the current arrangements.

Recommendations That Council approves the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations as set out in Appendix A of the 
report.

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no financial implications arising directly 
from this report.

Legal Implications In accordance with the Councils Constitution the 
Monitoring Officer has a duty to report to Council 
in relation to any changes to the Constitution

Community Safety Implications There are no Community Safety implications 
arising directly from this report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no Health and Safety and Risk 
Management implications arising directly from this 
report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The Equality Duty has been considered.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

High performing services that meet community 
needs and deliver value for money

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer Sharon Sewell, Head of Governance and 
Monitoring Officer
01900 702887 sharon.sewell@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 253

Agenda Item 17



Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1.0 Introduction

1.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, changes to the Constitution will 
only be approved by the Council after consideration of a proposal by the 
Monitoring Officer or on recommendation of the Executive.

1.2 This report outlines proposals in relation to updating the Council’s Constitution to 
reflect the current senior staffing structure.

2.0 Amendments to the Heads of Service Structure

2.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the Chief Executive has delegated 
powers to determine all staff matters in accordance with the Officer Employment 
Rules and relevant Council policies.  This includes determining matters relating to 
structure (additions, reductions and other changes to the establishment), 
appointment, dismissal or discipline of staff, except in relation to those posts 
which are Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers under the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989.

2.2 The Chief Executive has amended some of the Heads of Service roles and 
responsibilities and the Officer Scheme of Delegations has been amended 
accordingly.

3.0 Legal Implications and Risks

3.1 The Officer Scheme of Delegations must be updated to reflect the Council’s 
current structure to ensure decision-making is in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

4.0 Recommendations

4.1 That Council approves the Officer Scheme of Delegations as set out in Appendix 
A of the report.

Sharon Sewell
Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer

Page 254



Appendix A

Appendix 3 to Section 10 of Constitution

Officer Scheme of Delegations

The purpose of this Section of the Constitution is to bring together delegations to Officers 
and roles and responsibilities of Officers.

DELEGATION OF COUNCIL FUNCTIONS AND EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS TO OFFICERS

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1      Scope

1.1.1 This scheme sets out the extent to which the functions of the Council or 
the Executive are delegated to officers and should be interpreted widely 
rather than narrowly.  It is divided into the following sub sections:

(a) Introduction

(b) General Delegation to all Heads of Service

(c) Specific Delegation to all Heads of Service

(d) Specific Delegation to Officers with Statutory Responsibilities

1.1.2 In this scheme ‘officer’ means the holder of any post named in this 
scheme as having delegated powers and duties.

1.1.3 In this scheme ‘Heads of Service’ means the Chief Executive, Corporate 
Director, Heads of Service and Programme Director.

1.2      Exercise of Delegated Powers

1.2.1 Functions in this section may be exercised by the nominated officer(s) 
and includes anything which facilitates, or is conducive or incidental to, 
the discharge of these functions, tasks or responsibilities.

1.2.2 Where an officer has been given delegated authority by this section they 
may authorise any member of their staff to act on their behalf.

1.2.3 An officer may refer a delegated matter to the Executive or the Council 
Meeting or to one of its Committees for decision rather than take the 
decision themselves.

1.2.4 When exercising delegated powers officers must always have regard to 
the following implications of the decision.  When necessary, advice 
should be taken:-

(a) financial

(b) legal

(c) human rights

(d) human resources

Page 255



Appendix A

(e) environmental

(f) corporate social responsibility

(g) crime and disorder

(h) risks

(i) policy and performance

1.2.5 Before taking a decision under delegated powers, an officer will notify 
the relevant Executive member and Ward member(s) of any action 
which is likely to be contentious or politically sensitive.

1.2.6 Officers will keep members of the Executive informed of the work of their 
service area.

1.2.7 When exercising delegated powers officers will consult with staff in 
another service area if the decision is likely to impact on the work of that 
service area.

1.2.8 When exercising delegated powers an officer will always have regard to 
the requirements of the Constitution.

1.2.9 The Corporate Management Team may authorise one officer to exercise 
the delegated powers of another officer in the absence of the latter, or if 
the latter is unable to act.

1.3      Overall Limitations

1.3.1 This scheme does not delegate to an officer any matter which:

(a) has been reserved to the Council Meeting

(b) has been reserved to any committee

(c) has been reserved to the Executive

(d) may not by law be delegated to an officer

1.3.2 In exercising delegated powers officers shall:

(a) not go beyond the provision in the revenue or capital budgets for 
their service or agree individual items of expenditure or virement 
beyond that permitted by Financial Regulations

(b) have regard to any report by the Head of Paid Service or the 
Monitoring Officer under sections 4 and 5 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 or of the Chief Finance Officer under section 
114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

(c) maintain a full record of the exercise of those powers, including all 
relevant details, in accordance with any corporate guidance given 
by the Monitoring Officer.

Page 256



Appendix A

(d) have regard to any report from the Council’s internal and external 
auditors in relation to a fundamental weakness in management and 
financial controls.

2. GENERAL DELEGATION TO ALL HEADS OF SERVICE

2.1         To take action as may in their opinion be necessary or appropriate in  
     connection with:                 

2.1.1 all operational management matters for those functions and service 
areas for which they have responsibility under this Constitution;

2.1.2 persons and/or property for which they and their service has 
responsibility;

2.1.3 the implementation of decisions properly authorised by the Council or a 
committee, the Executive or an individual member of the Executive or by 
an Officer acting under delegated powers;

2.1.4 the performance of any action for which they are specified as 
responsible in any policy, procedure or other document approved or 
adopted by the Council Meeting or a committee, the Executive or an 
individual member of the Executive or by an Officer acting under 
delegated powers.

2.2     To serve a requisition for information about an interest in land using powers 
relevant to the operation of the service area.

2.3     To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to their service area in 
accordance with the Council’s policies and procedures.

2.4     To co-ordinate and monitor work through approved plans and policies, ensuring 
compliance with targets and performance to the relevant committee.

2.5     To determine the level of charges for Council services in order to maximise income 
and in accordance with agreed charging policies.

2.6     To ensure compliance with and discharge of all relevant legislation, Acts of 
Parliament, orders, Regulations and directives and the Council’s policies and 
procedures (including all enforcement matters).

2.7     To provide and submit a bid for resources in accordance with the approved budget 
process.

2.8     To support Councillors in their monitoring and community governance roles.

2.9     To recommend to the Monitoring Officer and / or the Deputy Monitoring Officer, the 
prosecution or instigation of any legal proceedings on behalf of the Council.

2.10     To issue licences and registrations relating to any of the approved functions.

2.11     To support the Executive in the development of the Council’s Policy Framework.

2.12     To proactively implement the Council’s equal opportunity policies and practices in 
employment and service delivery.

Page 257



Appendix A

2.13     To ensure appropriate arrangements for regular consultation with Allerdale 
Borough Council citizens in order to develop understandings of service needs and 
priorities as the basis for planning provision and building democratic participation.

2.14     To submit statutory plans and statutory responses to consultation documents to 
the relevant body where the deadline for submission occurs prior to the date of the 
relevant meeting.  This should be undertaken in consultation with the relevant 
Portfolio Holder.

2.15     In the absence of the Chief Executive and in accordance with an agreed rota, to 
undertake on his/her behalf such actions as are required to enable the Council to 
fulfil its functions

3. SPECIFIC DELEGATIONS TO HEADS OF SERVICE

3.1    Chief Executive

3.1.1 To exercise the functions of the Head of Paid Service and in this role:-

(a) to exercise overall responsibility for corporate management and 
operational issues (including overall management responsibility for 
all staff);

(b) to give professional advice to all parties in the Council decision 
making process;

(c) to ensure that the Council has a system of record keeping for all 
Key Decisions; and

(d) to ensure that the Council achieves and delivers its objectives; and

(e) to represent the Authority on partnerships and external bodies (as 
required by statute or by the Authority).

3.1.2 To co-ordinate, direct and monitor the Council’s initiatives to achieve 
value for money in the delivery of its functions.

3.1.3 To be responsible for performance review issues.

3.1.4 To lead the Corporate and Senior Management Teams.

3.1.5 To undertake responsibility for the Strategy, Policy and Performance 
team

3.1.6 After consultation with the Leader of the Council, to authorise action and 
incur expenditure, where urgent action is needed to enable the Council 
to fulfil its functions subject to reporting thereon to the Council Meeting.

3.1.7 To consider and report on any report of the Local Government 
Ombudsman and to decide on and implement the action to be taken.

3.1.8 To undertake all activities in connection with the Council’s Human 
Resources or civic/ceremonial function.

3.1.9 (a)  To determine all staff matters in accordance with the Officer 
Employment Rules and relevant Council policies.  This includes 

Page 258



Appendix A

determining matters relating to structure (additions, reductions and 
other changes to the establishment), appointment, dismissal or 
discipline of staff, except in relation to those posts which are Chief 
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers under the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.

(b)   Where the decision of the Head of Paid Service taken under (a) 
above requires consideration of the financial/budgetary implications 
and a decision in that respect only, then the matter will be referred to 
the Executive, provided that the remit of the Executive shall be 
limited to decisions on financial matters only.

(c)  The Head of Paid Service may delegate the discharge of this   
function to another Officer.

3.1.10 To establish and maintain working relationships with employees and 
Trade Unions.

3.1.11 The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may 
hold the post of Chief Finance Officer.

3.2       Corporate Director

3.2.1 To discharge the functions of the Chief Executive in the Chief 
Executive’s absence.

3.2.2 To act as Returning Officer in local elections.

3.2.3 To undertake the duties of Electoral Registration Officer.

3.3      Head of Community Services

3.3.1 To exercise the Council’s powers and functions in relation to street 
scene, parks and open spaces, grounds maintenance, contract 
services, waste management, recycling, sports development, locality 
management, cemeteries and bereavement services, museums arts 
and culture, gypsies and travellers and parking.

3.4     Head of Place Development

3.4.1 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to planning, 
building control, markets, economic growth, town centre management, 
tourism development, corporate estate management and Housing.

3.4.2 To discharge the Council’s development control and related functions 
except any matter reserved to the Development Panel including :

(a) Any application or matter (except an application for prior approval) 
which is referred to the Development Panel by any Member of the 
Council within 21 days of the issue of the weekly list of planning 
applications.

(b) All applications where the proposed decision of the Head of Service 
would, in his or her opinion, be contrary to the policies of the 
Council as expressed in the Development Plan and/or any emerging 

Page 259



Appendix A

plan approved by the Council for the purposes of development 
control decision making.

(c) Any application submitted on any matter directly affecting or 
involving a Member or Officer of the Council where the Head of 
Service has been informed of the involvement

(d) Matters which the Head of Service considers to raise issues of 
major importance or of wider interest or of an innovative or 
controversial nature and which Members will therefore wish to 
discuss.

3.4.3 Regarding Building Control, to be the Council’s designated proper officer 
and discharge Building Control functions.

3.5    Head of Financial Services

3.5.1 To exercise corporate Council functions in relation to financial services, 
payroll and business continuity.  

3.5.2 To sign Certificates to be issued under Section 2 and Section 3 of the 
Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997

3.5.3 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to asset 
management services, public conveniences and coast protection and 
drainage and street naming and numbering.

3.6 Head of Governance and Regulatory Services

3.6.1 To exercise corporate Council functions in relation to legal services, 
democratic services, audit services and electoral services.

3.6.2 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to Licensing and 
Land Charges, and to authorise enforcement action in relation to 
regulatory functions exercised.

3.6.3 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to Assurance, 
Risk and Audit and Corporate Fraud.

3.6.4 To exercise corporate Council functions in relation to human resources 
and organisational development.

3.6.5 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to environmental 
health, street trading, environmental protection and housing enforcement 

3.7     Head of Customer Operations and Transformation

3.7.1 To exercise corporate Council functions in relation to transformation, 
customer operations and IT services. 

3.7.2 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to housing 
options, corporate health and safety, emergency planning and pest 
control.

Page 260



Appendix A

3.8      Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance

3.8.1 To exercise corporate Council functions in relation to strategy and policy, 
including housing strategy, economic and business growth strategy, 
corporate improvement, performance, scrutiny, communications and 
marketing, community consultation and engagement.

3.8.2 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to information 
governance, Freedom of Information and data protection.

 3.8.3 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to planning 
policy including the statutory development plan.

3.9     Head of Programmes and Projects

 3.9.1 To exercise corporate Council functions in relation to the successful 
delivery and achievement of the desired outcomes and realisation of the 
expected benefits from the Council’s programmes and projects.

3.10   Programme Director

3.10.1 To lead on the delivery of the Council’s Maryport Delivery Plan ensuring 
that delivery is aligned to the strategic direction of the organisation and 
develop a housing company.

4. SPECIFIC DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS WITH STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES

4.1     Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance
4.1.1 To act as the Council’s Monitoring Officer under Section 5 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989.

4.1.2 Functions of the Monitoring Officer:

(a) Maintaining the Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer will maintain an 
up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely 
available for consultation by members, officers and public.

(b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making.  After 
consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, 
the Monitoring Officer will report to Council or to the Executive in 
relation to an Executive function if he or she considers that any 
proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if 
any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such 
a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision 
being implemented until the report has been considered.

(c) Supporting the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer will 
contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee 
and take such action as is delegated to him/her under the Council’s 
Standards Arrangements.

(d) Proper officer for access to information.  The Monitoring Officer will 
ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those 

Page 261



Appendix A

decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are 
made publicly available as soon as possible.

(e) Advising whether Executive decisions are within the Budget and 
Policy Framework.  The Monitoring Officer will advise whether 
decisions of the Executive are in accordance with the Budget and 
Policy Framework.

(f) Providing advice.   The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy Framework 
issues to all councillors.

(g) Restrictions on posts.  The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief 
Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

4.1.3 All proper officer functions not allocated to other officers. Solicitor to the 
Council.

4.1.4 Authority to affix the Common Seal of the Council.

4.1.5 To execute any appropriate legal documents and to issue licences and 
to take all necessary action relating thereto arising out of the exercise of 
any function or the performance of any powers delegated to the Council.

4.1.6 To take action for the recovery of compensation for damage to any 
property belonging to the Council.

4.1.7 To institute proceedings for any offence (except where specifically 
delegated to a Committee or other officer) and to authorise officers to 
appear in proceedings under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4.1.8 To institute, defend, participate or settle any legal proceedings in any 
case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the 
Council, or in any case where the Monitoring Officer considers that such 
action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests including the 
instruction of Counsel and the giving of undertakings on behalf of the 
Council, where the interests of the Council (whether on its own behalf or 
on behalf of any authority for which the Council is an agent) are 
involved.

     4.2    Section 151 Officer and Head of Financial Services

4.2.1             Functions of the Section 151 Officer

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making.  
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, the Section 151 Officer will report to the Council or to the 
Executive in relation to an Executive function and the Council’s 
external auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or 
course of action, will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is 
about to enter an item of account unlawfully, or the Council has 
insufficient resources to meet its spending.

Page 262



Appendix A

(b) Administration of financial affairs.  The Section 151 Officer will have 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the 
Council.  Internal audit is delegated under the Accounts and 
Regulations 1996.

(c) Contributing to corporate management.  The Section 151 Officer will 
contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular 
through the provision of professional financial advice for the 
strategic planning and policy making process to ensure efficient and 
effective use of resources.

(d) Providing advice.  The Section 151 Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of the powers and authority to take decisions, 
maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and 
Policy Framework issues to all councillors and will support and 
advise councillors and officers in their respective roles.  Advice will 
also be provided on treasury and cash flow management, pensions, 
trust funds, safe custody of assets, including risk management and 
insurance.

(e) Give financial information.  The Section 151 Officer will provide 
financial information to the media, members of the public and the 
community.  Also financial management information to officers and 
councillors.

(f) Accounts.  The Section 151 Officer will prepare statutory and other 
accounts, associated grant claims and supporting records.

4.2.2 Delegated powers conferred on the Section 151 Officer under the 
Council’s Financial Regulations.

 4.2.3 To be the officer with responsibility for the proper administration of the    
Council’s financial affairs under Section 151 of the Local Government   
Act 1972.                   

4.2.4 To facilitate and manage the co-ordination of medium term financial   
planning, annual budget planning, budget monitoring and the 
preparation of statutory and other accounts, associated grant claims 
and supporting records. 

4.2.5 To operate all the statutory requirements relating to payroll matters.

 4.2.6 To undertake all treasury management activity in accordance with the 
annual treasury management policy statement and other management 
policies as determined by the Council.

4.2.7 To deal with the Council’s insurances in consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer in respect of any legal matter arising therefrom and in 
consultation with the relevant officer in respect of specific claims.

4.2.8 To write off debts due to the Council.

4.2.9      The Section 151 Officer cannot be the Monitoring Officer.

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 264



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 5 December 2018

Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Reason for the Decision The Committee updates each Council 
meeting on its recent work.

Summary of options considered Not applicable.

Recommendation That the report be noted. 

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no direct implications.

Legal / Governance Implications There are no direct implications. 

Community Safety Implications There are no direct implications. 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no direct implications.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Not required for this report.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The work of the Committee underpins 
all Council Plan priorities. 

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Not applicable

Lead Scrutiny Member Councillor Janet Farebrother and 
Councillor Alan Pitcher, Co-Chairs

Lead Officer Ian Hinde
Policy Officer (Scrutiny and 
Partnerships)
01900 702544
ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Page 265

Agenda Item 18



Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1.0    Introduction 

1.1 This report updates Council on the work of the Committee since the previous 
update.

2.0 Progress on scrutiny of work and skills training provision 

2.1 The Committee met informally with the Head of Learning and Skills from 
Cumbria LEP in early November.

2.2 The meeting focused on the funding streams and processes involved in 
commissioning the provision available to people in Allerdale who are seeking 
work.

2.3 The Committee will be pursuing this work over the coming months.

3.0 Conclusion of the Councillor Training Task and Finish Group 

3.1 The Committee set up this group to consider the provision of support for new 
Councillors, including those joining the Council via by-elections, and support 
for all Councillors regarding community leadership and similar expectations.

3.2 The Group has made a number of recommendations which will be considered 
by the Committee at its meeting on 6 December, with the agreed 
recommendations to be forwarded to the Member Development Working 
Group for progression and implementation.

3.3 The work of the group and recommendations consider the initial introduction 
to the Council and training of Councillors; training related to the Council's 
budget and finances; working with and engaging with the community, and 
providing community leadership; among other topics.

4.0 Forthcoming work and task and finish groups

4.1 The Committee will be undertaking the following work in the coming weeks:
◦ An informal session with the Director of Public Health to consider the draft 

Cumbria Public Health Strategy; all Councillors are welcome to attend and 
have been invited.

Page 266



◦ The Budget Standing Group will consider the processes involved in 
constructing the budget for 2019-2020.

4.2 From time to time the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appoints task and 
finish groups or standing groups to carry out its work. 

These groups are open to all non-Executive members and the Committee 
would welcome regular involvement from Members across the Council.

5.0 Recommendations

5.1 That the report be noted.

Councillor Janet Farebrother and Councillor Alan Pitcher
Co-Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 268


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	9 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service
	10 Portfolio Holder Reports
	11 Executive Minutes
	Minutes , 17/10/2018 Executive

	12 Reference from Executive 21 November 2018 - Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2018/19
	Revised Budget 2018-19 5 Dec Council Final
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	13 Reference from Audit Committee 26 November 2018 - Treasury Management Operations - Mid-year review 2018/19
	Treasury Management Mid-year report 2018-2019 - Final

	14 Reference from Licensing Committee 3 October 2018 - Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy
	Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy
	Appendix 1 for Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy
	Appendix 2 for Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy
	Appendix 3 for Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy
	Licensing Committee Minutes 3 October 2018
	Appendix 4 for Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy

	15 Community Governance Review - Workington
	Appendix A for Community Governance Review - Workington
	Map A for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part A map

	Map B for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part B map

	Map C for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part C map

	Map D for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part D map

	Map E for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part E map

	Map F for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part F map

	Map G for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part G map

	Map H for Appendix A Community Governance Review - Workington
	Workington Town Council Order 2018 Part H map

	Appendix B for Community Governance Review - Workington

	16 Community Governance Reviews - Parishes
	Appendix A for Community Governance Reviews - Parishes
	Appendix B for Community Governance Reviews - Parishes
	Appendix C for Community Governance Reviews - Parishes
	Map for Appendix C - Keswick
	Reorganisation of Community Governance – Keswick Town Council - Map


	17 Changes to Officer Scheme of Delegations
	ReviewSchemeofDelegation2018

	18 Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

